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EXPLANATORY NOTE
    
This Amendment No. 1 to Current Report on Form 8-K/A has been filed solely to correct typographical errors related to the dates of the Reports of

Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm included in Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data of Exhibit 99.1 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 2, 2018.

Item 8.01 Other Events.

As previously announced, effective the first quarter of 2018, Sabre Corporation (“we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company”) has disaggregated the Airline
and Hospitality Solutions reportable segment, such that our business has three reportable segments comprised of: (i) Travel Network, (ii) Airline Solutions
and (iii) Hospitality Solutions. In conjunction with this change, we have modified the methodology we have historically used to allocate shared corporate
technology costs. Each segment now reflects a portion of our shared corporate costs that historically were not allocated to a business unit, based on relative
consumption of shared technology infrastructure costs and defined revenue metrics. These changes have no impact on our consolidated results of operations,
but result in a decrease of segment profitability only, which aligns with information that our Chief Operating Decision Maker began utilizing in 2018 to
evaluate segment performance and allocate resources.

Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Form 8-K”) contains the following items from our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2017 (the “Form 10-K”) that have been recast for the disaggregation of our segments and the modification of our allocation of shared
corporate costs described above:

• Part II, Item 6. Selected Financial Data;

• Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations; and

• Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

In addition, Exhibit 99.1 to this Form 8-K includes Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts from Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement
Schedules, of the Form 10-K, which is unchanged from the Form 10-K.

This Form 8-K is being filed only for the purposes described above, and all other information in the Form 10-K remains unchanged. In order to
preserve the nature and character of the disclosures set forth in the Form 10-K, the items included in Exhibit 99.1 of this Form 8-K have been updated solely
for matters relating specifically to the disaggregation of our segments and the modification of our allocation of shared corporate costs as described above. No
attempt has been made in this Form 8-K to reflect events or occurrences after the date of the filing of the Form 10-K on February 16, 2018, and it should not
be read to modify or update other disclosures as presented in the Form 10-K. As a result, this Form 8-K should be read in conjunction with the Form 10-K
and the Company’s filings made with the Securities and Exchange Commission subsequent to the filing of the Form 10-K. References in the attached exhibits
to the Form 10-K or parts thereof refer to the Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017, filed on February 16, 2018, except to the extent portions of
such Form 10-K have been revised in this Form 8-K, in which case they refer to the applicable revised portion in this Form 8-K.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(d)     Exhibits



Exhibit Number Description

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.
99.1 Updates to Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017:

   Part II, Item 6. Selected Financial Data

   Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

   Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

   Part IV, Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 

 Sabre Corporation
   

Dated: May 3, 2018
 By: /s/ Richard A. Simonson
 Name: Richard A. Simonson
 Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-224616) and related Prospectus of Sabre Corporation,

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-196056) pertaining to the Sovereign Holdings, Inc. Management Equity Incentive Plan,
Sovereign Holdings, Inc. 2012 Management Equity Incentive Plan, and the Sabre Corporation 2014 Omnibus Incentive Compensation
Plan, and

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-211661) pertaining to the Sabre Corporation 2016 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan;

of our report dated February 16, 2018, except for Note 1, Note 5, and Note 16 as to which the date is May 1, 2018, with respect to the
consolidated financial statements and schedule of Sabre Corporation, and our report dated February 16, 2018, with respect to the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting of Sabre Corporation, included in this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
May 1, 2018



Exhibit 99.1

PART II

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has been updated to recast for the disaggregation of our segments and the modification of our allocation of shared
corporate costs described on this Form 8-K and should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations,” and our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto contained in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of
this Form 8-K.

The consolidated statements of operations data and consolidated statements of cash flows data for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are derived from our audited consolidated financial statements contained in
Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data,” of this Form 8-K. The consolidated statements of operations data and consolidated statements of
cash flows data for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 are derived
from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 8-K. The consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 is derived from
unaudited consolidated financial statements not included in this Form 8-K. The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same
basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments,
necessary for a fair presentation of this data. Our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected in the future. All amounts
presented below are in thousands, except per share amounts.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:          

Revenue $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896  $ 2,631,417  $ 2,523,546
Operating income 493,440  459,572  459,769  421,345  380,930
Income from continuing operations 249,576  241,390  234,555  110,873  52,066
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (1,932)  5,549  314,408  (38,918)  (149,697)
Net income (loss) attributable to Sabre Corporation 242,531  242,562  545,482  69,223  (100,494)
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 242,531  242,562  545,482  57,842  (137,198)
Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:          

Basic $ 0.87  $ 0.87  $ 2.00  $ 0.24  $ (0.77)
Diluted $ 0.87  $ 0.86  $ 1.95  $ 0.23  $ (0.74)

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:          
Basic 276,893  277,546  273,139  238,633  178,125
Diluted 278,320  282,752  280,067  246,747  184,978

          
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data:          
Cash provided by operating activities $ 678,033  $ 699,400  $ 529,207  $ 387,659  $ 228,232
Cash used in investing activities (317,525)  (445,808)  (729,041)  (258,791)  (239,999)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (356,780)  (190,025)  93,144  (71,945)  262,172
Additions to property and equipment 316,436  327,647  286,697  227,227  209,523
Cash payments for interest 149,572  151,495  154,307  197,782  255,620

          
Other Financial Data:          
Adjusted Gross Profit $ 1,500,186  $ 1,460,675  $ 1,316,820  $ 1,146,792  $ 1,060,302
Adjusted Operating Income 706,149  720,361  653,105  601,219  584,548
Adjusted Net Income 390,118  370,937  308,072  232,477  182,187
Adjusted EBITDA 1,078,571  1,046,646  941,587  840,028  778,754
Adjusted Capital Expenditures 377,202  411,052  350,079  265,038  268,337
Free Cash Flow 361,597  371,753  242,510  160,432  18,709

          
Key Metrics:          
Travel Network          

Direct Billable Bookings - Air 462,381  445,050  384,309  321,962  314,275
Direct Billable Bookings - Lodging, Ground and Sea 62,443  60,421  58,414  54,122  53,503
Total Direct Billable Bookings 524,824  505,471  442,723  376,084  367,778

Airline Solutions Passengers Boarded 772,149  789,260  584,876  510,713  478,088
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 As of December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 361,381  $ 364,114  $ 321,132  $ 155,679  $ 308,236
Total assets(1) 5,649,364  5,724,570  5,393,627  4,643,073  4,755,708

Long-term debt(1) 3,398,731  3,276,281  3,169,344  3,040,009  3,643,548
Working capital deficit(1) (11,455)  (312,977)  (222,400)  (201,052)  (268,272)
Redeemable preferred stock —  —  —  —  634,843
Noncontrolling interest 5,198  2,579  1,438  621  508
Total stockholders’ equity 698,500  625,615  484,140  84,383  (952,536)

________________________________
(1) In the fourth quarter of 2015, we adopted new accounting standards that changed the presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and debt issuance costs. We applied

the new guidance on a retrospective basis to the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2014. The balance sheet data as of December 31, 2013 was not adjusted.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders to Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Operating Income (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders $ 242,531  $ 242,562  $ 545,482  $ 57,842  $ (137,198)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations, net of tax 1,932  (5,549)  (314,408)  38,918  149,697
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests(1) 5,113  4,377  3,481  2,732  2,863
Preferred stock dividends —  —  —  11,381  36,704

Income from continuing operations 249,576  241,390  234,555  110,873  52,066
Adjustments:          

Impairment and related charges(2) 81,112  —  —  —  —

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) 95,860  143,425  108,121  99,383  132,685

Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,012  3,683  38,783  33,538  12,181
Other, net(5) (36,530)  (27,617)  (91,377)  63,860  305

Restructuring and other costs(6) 23,975  18,286  9,256  10,470  27,921
Acquisition-related costs(7) —  779  14,437  —  —
Litigation (reimbursements) costs(8) (35,507)  46,995  16,709  14,144  18,514
Stock-based compensation 44,689  48,524  29,971  20,094  3,387

Management fees(9) —  —  —  23,701  8,761
Tax impact of net income (loss) adjustments(10), (11) (34,069)  (104,528)  (52,383)  (143,586)  (73,633)

Adjusted Net Income from continuing operations $ 390,118  $ 370,937  $ 308,072  $ 232,477  $ 182,187

Adjusted Net Income from continuing operations per share $ 1.40  $ 1.31  $ 1.10  $ 0.94  $ 0.98

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 278,320  282,752  280,067  246,747  184,978

Adjusted Net Income from continuing operations 390,118 370,937 308,072 232,477 182,187
Adjustments:          

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment(3b) 264,880  233,303  213,520  157,592  123,414
Amortization of capitalized implementation costs(3c) 40,131  37,258  31,441  35,859  34,143
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 67,411  55,724  43,521  45,358  36,649

Interest expense, net 153,925  158,251  173,298  218,877  274,689
Remaining provision for income taxes 162,106  191,173  171,735  149,865  127,672

Adjusted EBITDA 1,078,571  1,046,646  941,587  840,028  778,754

Less:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 400,871  413,986  351,480  289,630  287,038

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 67,411  55,724  43,521  45,358  36,649

Acquisition related amortization(3a) (95,860)  (143,425)  (106,519)  (96,179)  (129,481)

Adjusted Operating Income $ 706,149 $ 720,361 $ 653,105 $ 601,219 $ 584,548
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The following tables set forth the reconciliation of operating income (loss) in our statement of operations to Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted EBITDA and
Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) by business segment (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31, 2017

 Travel 
Network  Airline 

Solutions  Hospitality 
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Operating income (loss) $ 744,045  137,932  $ 9,670  $ (398,207)  $ 493,440

Add back:          
Selling, general and administrative 162,997  78,638  47,121  221,319  510,075

Impairment and related charges(2) —  —  —  81,112  81,112

Cost of revenue adjustments:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 96,796  149,685  31,686  39,645  317,812

Restructuring and other costs (6) —  —  —  12,604  12,604

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 67,411  —  —  —  67,411

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  17,732  17,732

Adjusted Gross Profit 1,071,249  366,255 88,477 (25,795) 1,500,186

Selling, general and administrative (162,997)  (78,638)  (47,121)  (221,319)  (510,075)

Joint venture equity income 2,580  —  —  —  2,580

Selling, general and administrative adjustments:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 12,783  8,820  1,428  60,028  83,059

Restructuring and other costs (6) —  —  —  11,371  11,371

Litigation reimbursements(8) —  —  —  (35,507)  (35,507)

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  26,957  26,957

Adjusted EBITDA 923,615  296,437 42,784 (184,265) 1,078,571

Less:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 109,579  158,505  33,114  99,673  400,871

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 67,411  —  —  —  67,411

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) —  —  —  (95,860)  (95,860)

Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 746,625  $ 137,932 $ 9,670 $ (188,078) $ 706,149

 Year Ended December 31, 2016

 Travel 
Network  Airline 

Solutions  Hospitality 
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Operating income (loss) $ 735,354  136,177  $ 16,807  $ (428,766)  $ 459,572

Add back:          
Selling, general and administrative 165,520  74,048  33,867  352,718  626,153

Cost of revenue adjustments:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 82,963  144,697  21,823  37,870  287,353

Restructuring and other costs (6) —  —  —  12,660  12,660

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 55,724  —  —  —  55,724

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  19,213  19,213

Adjusted Gross Profit 1,039,561  354,922  72,497  (6,305)  1,460,675

Selling, general and administrative (165,520)  (74,048)  (33,867)  (352,718)  (626,153)

Joint venture equity income 2,780  —  —  —  2,780

Selling, general and administrative adjustments:          
 Depreciation and amortization(3) 9,809  5,488  1,334  110,002  126,633

Restructuring and other costs(6) —  —  —  5,626  5,626

Acquisition-related costs(7) —  —  —  779  779

Litigation costs(8) —  —  —  46,995  46,995

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  29,311  29,311

Adjusted EBITDA 886,630  286,362  39,964  (166,310)  1,046,646

Less:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 92,772  150,185  23,157  147,872  413,986

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 55,724  —  —  —  55,724

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) —  —  —  (143,425)  (143,425)

Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 738,134  $ 136,177 $ 16,807 $ (170,757) $ 720,361
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 Year Ended December 31, 2015

 Travel 
Network  Airline 

Solutions  Hospitality 
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Operating income (loss) $ 679,045  134,660  $ 6,236  $ (360,172)  $ 459,769

Add back:          
Selling, general and administrative 156,775  68,730  30,387  301,185  557,077

Cost of revenue adjustments:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 71,003  134,811  16,313  22,408  244,535

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 43,521  —  —  —  43,521

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  11,918  11,918

Adjusted Gross Profit 950,344  338,201 52,936 (24,661) 1,316,820

Selling, general and administrative (156,775)  (68,730)  (30,387)  (301,185)  (557,077)

Joint venture equity income 14,842  —  —  —  14,842

Joint venture intangible amortization(3a) 1,602  —  —  —  1,602

Selling, general and administrative adjustments:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 8,900  5,939  903  91,203  106,945

Restructuring and other costs(6) —  —  —  9,256  9,256

Acquisition-related costs(7) —  —  —  14,437  14,437

Litigation costs(8) —  —  —  16,709  16,709

Stock-based compensation —  —  —  18,053  18,053

Adjusted EBITDA 818,913  275,410 23,452 (176,188) 941,587

Less:          
Depreciation and amortization(3) 79,903  140,750  17,216  113,611  351,480

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 43,521  —  —  —  43,521

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) 1,602  —  —  (108,121)  (106,519)

Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 693,887  $ 134,660 $ 6,236 $ (181,678) $ 653,105

 Year Ended December 31, 2014(a)

 Travel 
Network  

Airline and 
Hospitality 
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Operating income (loss) $ 657,326  $ 176,730  $ (412,711)  $ 421,345

Add back:        
Selling, general and administrative 102,059  56,195  309,340  467,594

Cost of revenue adjustments:        
Depreciation and amortization(3) 58,533  104,926  34,950  198,409

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 45,358  —  —  45,358

Restructuring and other costs(6) —  —  6,042  6,042

Stock-based compensation —  —  8,044  8,044

Adjusted Gross Profit 863,276  337,851  (54,335)  1,146,792

Selling, general and administrative (102,059)  (56,195)  (309,340)  (467,594)

Joint venture equity income 12,082  —  —  12,082

Joint venture intangible amortization(3a) 3,204  —  —  3,204

Selling, general and administrative adjustments:        
Depreciation and amortization(3) 2,174  992  88,055  91,221

Restructuring and other costs (6) —  —  4,428  4,428

Litigation costs(8) —  —  14,144  14,144

Stock-based compensation —  —  12,050  12,050

Management fees(9) —  —  23,701  23,701

Adjusted EBITDA 778,677  282,648  (221,297)  840,028

Less:        
Depreciation and amortization(3) 60,707  105,918  123,005  289,630

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 45,358  —  —  45,358

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) 3,204  —  (99,383)  (96,179)

Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 669,408 $ 176,730 $ (244,919) $ 601,219
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 Year Ended December 31, 2013(a)

 Travel 
Network  

Airline and 
Hospitality 
Solutions  Corporate  Total

Operating income (loss) $ 667,498  $ 135,755  $ (422,323)  $ 380,930

Add back:        
Selling, general and administrative 106,392  51,538  279,523  437,453

Cost of revenue adjustments:        
 Depreciation and amortization(3) 50,254  75,093  67,076  192,423

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 36,649  —  —  36,649

Restructuring and other costs(6) —  —  11,491  11,491

Stock-based compensation —  —  1,356  1,356

Adjusted Gross Profit 860,793  262,386  (62,877)  1,060,302

Selling, general and administrative (106,392)  (51,538)  (279,523)  (437,453)

Joint venture equity income 12,350  —  —  12,350

Joint venture intangible amortization(3a) 3,204  —  —  3,204

Selling, general and administrative adjustments:        
Depreciation and amortization(3) 2,253  2,227  90,135  94,615

Restructuring and other costs (6) —  —  16,430  16,430

Litigation costs(8) —  —  18,514  18,514

Stock-based compensation —  —  2,031  2,031

Management fees(9) —  —  8,761  8,761

Adjusted EBITDA 772,208  213,075  (206,529)  778,754

Less:        
Depreciation and amortization(3) 52,507  77,320  157,211  287,038

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(4) 36,649  —  —  36,649

Acquisition-related amortization(3a) 3,204  —  (132,685)  (129,481)

Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) $ 679,848 $ 135,755 $ (231,055) $ 584,548

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, recasted amounts for the reportable segments and the allocation changes effective January 1,
2018 are not presented as management does not believe the presentation of these impacts is material to the understanding of current operations.

The components of Adjusted Capital Expenditures are presented below (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Additions to property and equipment $ 316,436  $ 327,647  $ 286,697  $ 227,227  $ 209,523
Capitalized implementation costs 60,766  83,405  63,382  37,811  58,814
Adjusted capital expenditures $ 377,202  $ 411,052  $ 350,079  $ 265,038  $ 268,337

The following tables present information from our statements of cash flows and sets forth the reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to cash provided by
operating activities, the most directly comparable GAAP measure (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Cash provided by operating activities $ 678,033  $ 699,400  $ 529,207  $ 387,659  $ 228,232
Cash used in investing activities (317,525)  (445,808)  (729,041)  (258,791)  (239,999)
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities (356,780)  (190,025)  93,144  (71,945)  262,172

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015  2014  2013

Cash provided by operating activities $ 678,033  $ 699,400  $ 529,207  $ 387,659  $ 228,232
Additions to property and equipment (316,436)  (327,647)  (286,697)  (227,227)  (209,523)
Free Cash Flow $ 361,597  $ 371,753  $ 242,510  $ 160,432  $ 18,709
________________________________

(1) Net income attributable to non-controlling interests represents an adjustment to include earnings allocated to non-controlling interest held in (i) Sabre
Travel Network Middle East of 40% for all periods presented, (ii) Sabre Seyahat Dagitim Sistemleri A.S. of 40% beginning in April 2014, (iii) Abacus
International Lanka Pte Ltd of 40% beginning in July 2015, and (iv) Sabre Bulgaria of 40% beginning in November 2017.
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(2) Impairment and related charges represents an $81 million charge in 2017 associated with net capitalized contract costs related to an Airline Solutions'
customer based on our analysis of the recoverability of such amounts. See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Overview—Factors Affecting our Results” for additional information.

(3) Depreciation and amortization expenses:
a. Acquisition-related amortization represents amortization of intangible assets from the take-private transaction in 2007 as well as intangibles

associated with acquisitions since that date. Also includes amortization of the excess basis in our underlying equity interest in SAPPL's net
assets prior to our acquisition of SAPPL on July 1, 2015.

b. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment includes software developed for internal use.
c. Amortization of capitalized implementation costs represents amortization of upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS

and hosted revenue model.
(4) Our Travel Network business at times provides upfront incentive consideration to travel agency subscribers at the inception or modification of a

service contract, which are capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over an average expected life of the service contract, generally over three to
five years. This consideration is made with the objective of increasing the number of clients or to ensure or improve customer loyalty. These service
contract terms are established such that the supplier and other fees generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentive
consideration provided upfront. These service contracts with travel agency subscribers require that the customer commit to achieving certain
economic objectives and generally have terms requiring repayment of the upfront incentive consideration if those objectives are not met.

(5) In 2017, Other, net includes a benefit of $60 million due to a reduction to our liability under the Tax Receivable Agreement ("TRA") primarily due to a
provisional adjustment resulting from the enactment of TCJA which reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate (see Note 7. Income Taxes, to our
consolidated financial statements), offset by a loss of $15 million related to debt modification costs associated with a debt refinancing. In 2016, we
recognized a gain of $15 million from the sale of our available-for-sale marketable securities, and $6 million gain associated with the receipt of an
earn-out payment related to the sale of a business in 2013. In 2015, we recognized a gain of $78 million associated with the remeasurement of our
previously-held 35% investment in SAPPL to its fair value and a gain of $12 million related to the settlement of pre-existing agreements between us
and SAPPL. In 2014, Other, net primarily includes a charge of $66 million as a result of an increase to our TRA liability. The increase in our TRA
liability is due to a reduction in a valuation allowance maintained against our deferred tax assets. This charge is fully offset by an income tax benefit
recognized in the fourth quarter of 2014 from the reduction in the valuation allowance which is included in tax impacts of net income adjustments. In
addition, all periods presented include foreign exchange gains and losses related to the remeasurement of foreign currency denominated balances
included in our consolidated balance sheets into the relevant functional currency. See Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources—Tax Receivable Agreement” for additional information regarding the TRA.

(6) Restructuring and other costs represents charges associated with business restructuring and associated changes implemented which resulted in
severance benefits related to employee terminations, integration and facility opening or closing costs and other business reorganization costs. We
recorded $25 million and $20 million in charges associated with announced actions to reduce our workforce in 2017 and 2016, respectively. These
reductions aligned our operations with business needs and implemented an ongoing cost and organizational structure consistent with our expected
growth needs and opportunities. In 2015, we recognized a restructuring charge of $9 million associated with the integration of Abacus, and reduced
that estimate by $4 million in 2016, as a result of the reevaluation of our plan derived from a shift in timing and strategy of originally contemplated
actions. As of December 31, 2017, our actions under this plan have been substantially completed and payments under the plan have been made.

(7) Acquisition-related costs represent fees and expenses incurred associated with the acquisition of Abacus, the Trust Group and Airpas Aviation.
(8) Litigation (reimbursements) costs, net represent charges and legal fee reimbursements associated with antitrust litigation. In 2017, we recorded a $43

million reimbursement, net of accrued legal and related expenses, from a settlement with our insurance carriers with respect to the American Airlines
litigation. In 2016, we recorded an accrual of $32 million representing the trebling of the jury award plus our estimate of attorneys’ fees, expenses and
costs in the US Airways litigation. See Item 3, "Legal Proceedings."

(9) We paid an annual management fee to TPG Global, LLC (“TPG”) and Silver Lake Management Company (“Silver Lake”) in an amount between
(i) $5 million and (ii) $7 million, plus reimbursement of certain costs incurred by TPG and Silver Lake, pursuant to the management services
agreement (the “MSA”). In addition, we paid a $21 million fee, in the aggregate, to TPG and Silver Lake in connection with our initial public offering in
2014. The MSA was terminated in conjunction with our initial public offering.

(10) In 2017, the tax impact on net income adjustments includes a provisional impact of $47 million recognized in the fourth quarter of 2017 as a result of
the enactment of the TCJA in December 2017. See Note 7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements. In 2014, the tax impact on net
income adjustments includes a $66 million benefit recognized in the fourth quarter of 2014 from the reduction in a valuation allowance maintained
against our deferred tax assets.

(11) In the first quarter of 2016, we adopted Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting. For the year ended December 31, 2016, we recognized $35 million in excess tax benefits associated with employee equity-based
awards, as a result of the adoption of this standard. There were no other material impacts to our consolidated financial statements as a result of
adopting this updated standard.
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Definitions of Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We have included both financial measures compiled in accordance with GAAP and certain non-GAAP financial measures in this Form 8-K, including
Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income from continuing operations ("Adjusted Net Income"), Adjusted EBITDA,
Adjusted Capital Expenditures, Free Cash Flow and ratios based on these financial measures.

We define Adjusted Gross Profit as operating income (loss) adjusted for selling, general and administrative expenses, impairment and related charges,
amortization of upfront incentive consideration, the cost of revenue portion of depreciation and amortization, restructuring and other costs, and stock-based
compensation included in cost of revenue.

We define Adjusted Operating Income (Loss) as operating income (loss) adjusted for joint venture equity income, impairment and related charges,
acquisition-related amortization, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation (reimbursements) costs and stock-based compensation.

We define Adjusted Net Income as net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders adjusted for income (loss) from discontinued operations, net
of tax, net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, preferred stock dividends, impairment and related charges, acquisition-related amortization, loss on
extinguishment of debt, other, net, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs (reimbursements), net, stock-based compensation,
management fees, and tax impact of net income adjustments.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as Adjusted Net Income adjusted for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, amortization of capitalized
implementation costs, amortization of upfront incentive consideration, interest expense, net, and the remaining provision for income taxes. This Adjusted
EBITDA metric differs from the Pre-VCP Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA metrics referenced in the section entitled “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis” in our 2017 Proxy Statement, which are calculated for the purposes of our annual incentive compensation program and performance-based awards,
respectively.

We define Adjusted Capital Expenditures as additions to property and equipment and capitalized implementation costs.

We define Free Cash Flow as cash provided by operating activities less cash used in additions to property and equipment.

We define Adjusted Net Income from continuing operations per share as Adjusted Net Income divided by diluted weighted-average common shares
outstanding.

These non-GAAP financial measures are key metrics used by management and our board of directors to monitor our ongoing core operations because
historical results have been significantly impacted by events that are unrelated to our core operations as a result of changes to our business and the regulatory
environment. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are used by investors, analysts and other interested parties as measures of financial
performance and to evaluate our ability to service debt obligations, fund capital expenditures and meet working capital requirements. Adjusted Capital
Expenditures include cash flows used in investing activities, for property and equipment, and cash flows used in operating activities, for capitalized
implementation costs. Our management uses this combined metric in making product investment decisions and determining development resource
requirements. We also believe that Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Capital
Expenditures assist investors in company-to-company and period-to-period comparisons by excluding differences caused by variations in capital structures
(affecting interest expense), tax positions and the impact of depreciation and amortization expense. In addition, amounts derived from Adjusted EBITDA are a
primary component of certain covenants under our senior secured credit facilities.

Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Capital Expenditures, Free Cash Flow and
ratios based on these financial measures are not recognized terms under GAAP. These non-GAAP financial measures and ratios based on them are unaudited
and have important limitations as analytical tools, and should not be viewed in isolation and do not purport to be alternatives to net income as indicators of
operating performance or cash flows from operating activities as measures of liquidity. These non-GAAP financial measures and ratios based on them exclude
some, but not all, items that affect net income or cash flows from operating activities and these measures may vary among companies. Our use of these
measures has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider them in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our results as reported under
GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

• these non-GAAP financial measures exclude certain recurring, non-cash charges such as stock-based compensation expense and amortization of
acquired intangible assets

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future,
and Adjusted Gross Profit and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect cash requirements for such replacements;

• Adjusted Operating Income (Loss), Adjusted Net Income and Adjusted EBITDA do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working
capital needs;
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• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our
indebtedness;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

• Free Cash Flow removes the impact of accrual-basis accounting on asset accounts and non-debt liability accounts, and does not reflect the cash
requirements necessary to service the principal payments on our indebtedness; and

• other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income (Loss), Adjusted Net
Income, Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Capital Expenditures or Free Cash Flow differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis has been updated to recast for the disaggregation of our segments and the modification of our allocation of
shared corporate costs described on this Form 8-K and should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 8-K.

Overview

We connect people and places with technology that reimagines the business of travel. Effective the first quarter of 2018, we operate through three
business segments: (i) Travel Network, our global business-to-business travel marketplace for travel suppliers and travel buyers, (ii) Airline Solutions, a broad
portfolio of software technology products and solutions primarily for airlines, and (iii) Hospitality Solutions, an extensive suite of leading software solutions for
hoteliers. Collectively, these offerings enable travel suppliers to better serve their customers across the entire travel lifecycle, from route planning to post-trip
business intelligence and analytics. In conjunction with this change, we have modified the methodology we have historically used to allocate shared corporate
technology costs. Each segment now reflects a portion of our shared corporate costs that historically were not allocated to a business unit, based on relative
consumption of shared technology infrastructure costs and defined revenue metrics. These changes have no impact on our consolidated results of operations,
but result in a decrease of segment profitability only.

A significant portion of our revenue is generated through transaction based fees that we charge to our customers. For Travel Network, this fee is in the
form of a transaction fee for bookings on our GDS; for Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, this fee is a recurring usage-based fee for the use of our
SaaS and hosted systems, as well as upfront fees and professional service fees. Items that are not allocated to our business segments are identified as
corporate and primarily include stock-based compensation expense, litigation costs, corporate headcount-related costs, and other items that are not identifiable
with either one of our segments.

In the first quarter of 2015, we completed our exit of the online travel agency business through the sale of Travelocity.com and lastminute.com. Our
Travelocity segment has no remaining operations as a result of these dispositions. The financial results of our Travelocity segment are included in net income
(loss) from discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented. The discussion and analysis of our results of
operations refers to continuing operations unless otherwise indicated.

On July 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 65% interest in SAPPL, a Singapore-based business-to-business travel e-commerce
provider that serves the Asia-Pacific region. Prior to the acquisition, SAPPL was 65% owned by a consortium of 11 airlines and the remaining 35% was owned
by us. In the third and fourth quarters of 2015, SAPPL completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in three national marketing companies, Abacus
Distribution Systems (Hong Kong), Abacus Travel Systems (Singapore) and Abacus Distribution Systems Sdn Bhd (Malaysia) (the “NMCs” and together with
SAPPL, “Abacus”). The net cash consideration for Abacus was $443 million. Abacus has been integrated and is managed as a region of our Travel Network
business. Separately, SAPPL has signed new long-term agreements with the consortium of 11 airlines to continue to utilize the Abacus GDS.

In January 2016, we completed the acquisition of the Trust Group, a central reservation, revenue management and hotel marketing provider with a
significant presence in EMEA and APAC, for net cash consideration of $156 million. The Trust Group has been integrated and is managed as part of our
Hospitality Solutions segment.

Recent Developments Affecting our Results of Operations

On December 22, 2017, the TCJA was signed into law. The TCJA contains significant changes to the U.S. corporate income tax system, including a
reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, a limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income
(as defined in the TCJA), base erosion provisions related to intercompany foreign payments and global low-taxed income, one-time taxation of offshore
earnings at reduced rates in connection with the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial tax system, elimination of
U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions), and modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits. We recorded a
provisional amount for our one-time transition tax liability resulting in an increase in income tax expense of $48 million in 2017 for previously untaxed earnings
and profits of our foreign subsidiaries. Additionally, Other, net for the year ended December 31, 2017 includes a benefit of $58 million associated with a
reduction to our TRA liability, due to a provisional adjustment resulting from the reduced U.S. corporate income tax rate. The effects of the TCJA are being
evaluated with certain provisions having a positive impact (for example, the reduction in the federal corporate income tax rate), with other provisions potentially
having a negative impact (including the limitation on interest deductibility, expanded limitations on executive compensation deduction, and base erosion
provisions) on our taxes. Notwithstanding the reduction in the federal corporate income tax rate, the future impact of the TCJA, including on our global
operations, is not yet certain.

The rate of growth of Airline Solutions revenue is impacted by the previously announced termination of an agreement with Southwest Airlines related
to services and processing for their legacy reservations system.
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Factors Affecting our Results

The following is a discussion of trends that we believe are the most significant opportunities and challenges currently impacting our business and
industry. The discussion also includes management’s assessment of the effects these trends have had and are expected to have on our results of continuing
operations. This information is not an exhaustive list of all of the factors that could affect our results and should be read in conjunction with the factors referred
to in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Forward-Looking Statements” included elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 16, 2018.

Increasing technology infrastructure costs

We expect to continue to make significant investments in our information technology infrastructure to modernize our architecture, drive efficiency in
development and ongoing technology costs, further enhance the stability and security of our network, comply with data privacy regulations, and accelerate our
shift to open source and cloud-based solutions. We expect that the costs associated with these investments will result in an increase in our product and
technology operating expenses. We believe that continued investment in our technology will help to provide us the necessary framework and infrastructure for
a secure and stable architecture for our customers and will help to improve sales of our software solutions. See "Liquidity and Capital Resources—Capital
Expenditures and Implementation Costs."

Shift to SaaS and hosted solutions by airlines and hotels to manage their daily operations

Initially, large travel suppliers built custom in-house software and applications for their business process needs. In response to a desire for more flexible
systems given increasingly complex and constantly changing technological requirements, reduced IT budgets and increased focus on cost efficiency, many
travel suppliers turned to third party solutions providers for many of their key technologies and began to license software from software providers. We believe
that significant revenue opportunity remains in this outsourcing trend, as legacy in-house systems continue to migrate and upgrade to third party systems. The
shift from a model with initial license fees to one with recurring monthly fees associated with our SaaS and hosted solutions, has resulted in an ongoing
revenue stream based on the number of passengers boarded. However, under the SaaS and hosted solutions revenue model, revenue recognition may be
delayed due to longer implementation schedules for larger suppliers. For example, in the last part of 2016, implementation schedules for several airlines were
delayed to future years. The SaaS and hosted models’ centralized deployment also allows us to save time and money by reducing maintenance and
implementation tasks and lowering operating costs.

Recent insolvencies of certain Airline Solutions customers

In May 2017, given the substantial amount of uncertainty of reaching an agreement regarding the implementation of services pursuant to their contract,
we evaluated the recoverability of net capitalized contract costs related to Air Berlin Plc & Co Luftverkehrs KG ("Air Berlin") and impacts from associated future
contractual obligations and recorded a charge of $81 million during the year ended December 31, 2017. In August 2017, Air Berlin filed for bankruptcy and
ceased operations in the fourth quarter of 2017. The impairment charge did not impact our cash flows from operations. This impairment charge resulted in a
material impact on our financial results, and related matters may adversely impact our future results of operations and cash flows. See Note 15. Commitments
and Contingencies—Other, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

In addition, future revenues may be negatively impacted by, among other things, reduced sales of our software solutions and lower growth in
Passengers Boarded due to delayed or uncertain implementations and the insolvency of an airline carrier, Alitalia Compagnia Aerea Italiana S.p.A. operating
as Alitalia (“Alitalia”), that implemented our services in the fourth quarter of 2016. See “Risk Factors—Our travel supplier customers may experience financial
instability or consolidation, pursue cost reductions, change their distribution model or undergo other changes.”

Increasing importance of OTAs to Travel Network

The significance of OTAs to our Travel Network business has increased in recent years and as a result, our earnings may be impacted by factors
affecting OTAs. As OTAs experience growth, we believe they shift bookings away from offline travel agencies and direct channels of travel suppliers. We
expect to continue to benefit from this trend as we are a substantial GDS provider to the OTA industry. However, we may face pricing pressure in the future as
OTAs increase their bargaining power through growth by consolidation.
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Growing demand for continued technology improvements in the fragmented hotel market

Most of the hotel market is highly fragmented. Independent hotels and small to medium sized chains (groups of less than 300 properties) comprise a
majority of hotel properties and available hotel rooms, with global and regional chains comprising the balance. Hotels use a number of different technology
systems to distribute and market their products and operate efficiently. We offer technology solutions to all segments of the hospitality market. Our SynXis
Enterprise Platform integrates critical hospitality systems to optimize distribution, operations, retailing and guest experience via one scalable, flexible and
intelligent platform. As these markets continue to grow, we believe independent and enterprise hotel owners and operators will continue to seek increased
connectivity and integrated solutions to ensure access to global travelers. We anticipate that this will contribute to the continued growth of Hospitality Solutions,
which is ultimately dependent upon these hoteliers accepting and utilizing our products and services.

Geographic mix of Travel Network

There are structural differences between the geographies in which we operate. Due to our geographic concentration, our results of operations are
particularly sensitive to factors affecting North America. For example, booking fees per transaction in North America have traditionally been lower than those in
Europe. By growing internationally with our TMC and OTA customers and expanding the travel content available on our GDS to target regional traveler
preferences, we anticipate that we will maintain share in North America and grow share in Europe, APAC and Latin America. For the year ended December 31,
2017, we derived approximately 53% of our Direct Billable Bookings from North America, 19% from APAC, 18% from EMEA and 10% from Latin America. For
the year ended December 31, 2016, we derived approximately 54% of our Direct Billable Bookings from North America, 19% from APAC, 17% from EMEA and
10% from Latin America. During 2017, we established a regional operation company structure to better align geographic revenue generation, supplier
relationships, and intellectual property with our global footprint, which is expected have a favorable impact on our consolidated results of operations over time.

Travel buyers can shift their bookings to or from our Travel Network business

Our Travel Network business relies on relationships with several large travel buyers, including TMCs and OTAs, to drive a large portion of its revenue.
Although our contracts with larger travel agencies often increase the amount of the incentive consideration when the travel agency processes a certain volume
or percentage of its bookings through our GDS, travel buyers are not contractually required to book exclusively through our GDS during the contract term.
Travel buyers may shift bookings to other distribution intermediaries for many reasons, including to avoid becoming overly dependent on a single source of
travel content and increase their bargaining power with the GDS providers. For example, certain travel agencies have adopted a dual GDS provider strategy
and shifted a sizeable portion of its business from our GDS to a competitor GDS, while other agencies have shifted a larger portion their business to our GDS
partially offsetting the declines.

Increasing importance of LCC/hybrids in Travel Network

Hybrid and LCCs have become a significant segment of the air travel market, stimulating demand for air travel through low fares. LCC/hybrids have
traditionally relied on direct distribution for the majority of their bookings. However, as these LCC/hybrids are evolving, many are increasing their distribution
through indirect channels to expand their offering into higher yield markets and to higher yield customers, such as business and international travelers. Other
LCC/hybrids, especially start up carriers, may choose not to distribute through the GDS until wider distribution is desired.

Increasing travel agency incentive consideration

Travel agency incentive consideration is a large portion of Travel Network expenses. The vast majority of incentive consideration is tied to absolute
booking volumes based on transactions such as flight segments booked. Incentive consideration, which often increases once a certain volume or percentage
of bookings is met, is provided in two ways, according to the terms of the agreement: (i) on a periodic basis over the term of the contract and (ii) in some
instances, up front at the inception or modification of contracts, which is capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the contract. Although this
consideration grew in the double digits on a per booking basis in 2017 due to regional mix and new customer conversions, it has been relatively stable as a
percentage of Travel Network revenue over the last five years, partially due to our focus on managing incentive consideration. The incentive rate increases
may continue to impact margins, which we expect to be partially offset by increased Travel Network revenue. To address the trend towards increasing incentive
consideration, we are seeking to offer added products and content, such as Sabre Red Workspace, a SaaS product available to our travel buyers that provides
an easy to use interface along with many travel agency workflow and productivity tools.
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Continued focus by travel suppliers on cost cutting and exerting influence over distribution

Travel suppliers continue to look for ways to decrease their costs and to increase their control over distribution. Airline consolidations, pricing pressure
during contract renegotiations and the use of direct distribution may continue to subject our business to challenges. The shift from indirect distribution channels,
such as our GDS, to direct distribution channels, may result from increased content availability on supplier operated websites or from increased participation of
meta search engines, such as Kayak and Google, which direct consumers to supplier operated websites. This trend may adversely affect our Travel Network
contract renegotiations with suppliers that use alternative distribution channels. For example, airlines may withhold part of their content for distribution
exclusively through their own direct distribution channels or offer more attractive terms for content available through those direct channels. However, since
2010, we believe the rate at which bookings are shifting from indirect to direct distribution channels has slowed for a number of reasons, including the
increased participation of LCC/hybrids in indirect channels. Over the last several years, notable carriers that previously only distributed directly, including
JetBlue, Norwegian and Interjet, have adopted our GDS. Other carriers such as EVA Airways and Virgin Australia have further increased their participation in a
GDS.

These trends have impacted the revenue of Travel Network, which recognizes revenue for airline ticket sales based on transaction volumes.
Simultaneously, this focus on cost cutting and direct distribution has also presented opportunities for Airline Solutions. Many airlines have turned to outside
providers for key systems, process and industry expertise and other products that assist in their cost cutting initiatives in order to focus on their primary
revenue generating activities.

Components of Revenues and Expenses

Revenues

Travel Network primarily generates revenues from Direct Billable Bookings processed on our GDS as well as the sale of aggregated bookings data to
carriers. Prior to our acquisition of the remaining interest in SAPPL on July 1, 2015, we generated revenue from certain services we provided SAPPL. Airline
Solutions and Hospitality Solutions primarily generate revenue through upfront solution fees and recurring usage-based fees for the use of our software
solutions hosted on secure platforms or deployed through our SaaS and through professional service fees. Certain professional service fees are discrete sales
opportunities that may have a high degree of variability from period to period, and we cannot guarantee that we will have such fees in the future consistent with
prior periods. Airline Solutions also generates revenue through software licensing and maintenance fees.

In connection with the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard effective January 1, 2018, based on preliminary information, in the year of
adoption and subsequent years, we currently expect a significant reduction in revenues for the Airline Solutions business for existing open contracts as of that
date, and before the impact of new sales. See "—Recent Accounting Pronouncements."

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue incurred by Travel Network, Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions consists of expenses related to our technology infrastructure that
hosts our GDS and software solutions, salaries and benefits, and allocated overhead such as facilities and other support costs. Cost of revenue for Travel
Network also includes incentive consideration expense representing payments or other consideration to travel agencies for reservations made on our GDS
which accrue on a monthly basis.

Corporate cost of revenue includes expenses associated with our technology organization such as corporate systems and risk and security. Corporate
cost of revenue also includes certain expenses such as impairment and related charges, stock-based compensation, restructuring charges, legal reserves, and
other items not identifiable with one of our segments. Over time, we expect a substantial increase in stock-based compensation expense, as we have moved to
granting broad-based equity awards annually, rather than biennially, which began in March 2016 primarily in the form of restricted stock units. These awards
generally vest over a four-year period, with 25% vesting annually. Stock compensation expense is based on the number of restricted stock units granted and
the stock price on the date of grant, which is amortized over the four-year vesting period.

Depreciation and amortization included in cost of revenue is associated with property and equipment, amortization of contract implementation costs
which relates to Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, intangible assets for technology purchased through acquisitions or established with our take-private
transaction, and software developed for internal use that supports our revenue, businesses and systems. Cost of revenue also includes amortization of upfront
incentive consideration representing upfront payments or other consideration provided to travel agencies for reservations made on our GDS which are
capitalized and amortized over the expected life of the contract.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses consist of personnel-related expenses, including stock-based compensation, for employees that sell our
services to new customers and administratively support the business, information technology and communication costs, professional service fees, certain
settlement charges or reimbursements, and costs to defend legal disputes, bad debt expense, depreciation and amortization and other overhead costs. Over
time, we expect a substantial increase in stock-based compensation expense as described above.
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Intersegment Transactions

We account for significant intersegment transactions as if the transactions were with third parties, that is, at estimated current market prices. Airline
Solutions and Hospitality Solutions pay fees to Travel Network for airline trips and hotel stays booked through our GDS.

Key Metrics

“Direct Billable Bookings” and “Passengers Boarded” are the primary metrics utilized by Travel Network and Airline Solutions, respectively, to measure
operating performance. Travel Network generates fees for each Direct Billable Booking which include bookings made through our GDS (e.g., Air, and Lodging,
Ground and Sea ("LGS")) and through our joint venture partners in cases where we are paid directly by the travel supplier. Passengers Boarded (“PBs”) is the
primary metric used by Airline Solutions to recognize SaaS and Hosted revenue from recurring usage-based fees. The following table sets forth these key
metrics for the periods indicated (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,  % Change

 2017  2016  2015  2017 - 2016  2016 - 2015

Travel Network          

Direct Billable Bookings - Air 462,381  445,050  384,309  3.9 %  15.8%

Direct Billable Bookings - LGS 62,443  60,421  58,414  3.3 %  3.4%

Total Direct Billable Bookings 524,824  505,471  442,723  3.8 %  14.2%

Airline Solutions Passengers Boarded 772,149  789,260  584,876  (2.2)%  34.9%

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidated statement of operations data for each of the periods presented (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Revenue $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896
Cost of revenue 2,513,857  2,287,662  1,944,050
Selling, general and administrative 510,075  626,153  557,077
Impairment and related charges 81,112  —  —

Operating income 493,440  459,572  459,769
Interest expense, net (153,925)  (158,251)  (173,298)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (1,012)  (3,683)  (38,783)
Joint venture equity income 2,580  2,780  14,842
Other income, net 36,530  27,617  91,377

Income from continuing operations before income taxes 377,613  328,035  353,907
Provision for income taxes 128,037  86,645  119,352

Income from continuing operations $ 249,576  $ 241,390  $ 234,555
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Years Ended December 31, 2017 and 2016

Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Travel Network $ 2,550,470  $ 2,374,849  $ 175,621  7%
Airline Solutions 816,008  794,637  21,371  3%

Hospitality Solutions 258,352  224,669  33,683  15%
Total segment revenue 3,624,830  3,394,155  230,675  7%

Eliminations (26,346)  (20,768)  (5,578)  27%
Total revenue $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 225,097  7%

Travel Network—Revenue increased $176 million, or 7%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year. The increase in revenue
primarily resulted from a $178 million increase in transaction-based revenue to $2,377 million, mainly due to an increase in Direct Billable Bookings of 4% to
525 million and growth in the average booking fee rate in the year ended December 31, 2017.

Airline Solutions—Revenue increased $21 million, or 3%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year. The increase in revenue
primarily resulted from:

• a $13 million increase in Airline Solutions’ SabreSonic revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year, driven by
passengers boarded growth of 6% on a consistent carrier basis and the cut-over of Alitalia to SabreSonic CSS in the fourth quarter of 2016.
Total passengers boarded decreased by 2% to 772 million for the year ended December 31, 2017, driven primarily by the termination of an
agreement with Southwest Airlines related to services and processing for their legacy air reservation system in the second quarter of 2017,
which was at a lower than average passengers boarded rate;

• a $14 million increase in Airline Solutions’ commercial and operations solutions revenue driven by growth in multiple products across our
portfolio; and

• a $6 million decrease in discrete professional service fees revenue, as a result of reduced sales compared to the prior period.

Hospitality Solutions—Revenue increased $34 million, or 15%, to $258 million for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year,
primarily driven by an increase in CRS transaction revenue from new and existing customers.

Cost of Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Travel Network $ 1,479,221  $ 1,335,288  $ 143,933  11%
Airline Solutions 449,753  439,714  10,039  2%

Hospitality Solutions 169,877  152,171  17,706  12%
Eliminations (26,346)  (20,371)  (5,975)  29%

Total segment cost of revenue 2,072,505  1,906,802  165,703  9%
Corporate 56,129  37,783  18,346  49%
Depreciation and amortization 317,812  287,353  30,459  11%
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 67,411  55,724  11,687  21%

Total cost of revenue $ 2,513,857  $ 2,287,662  $ 226,195  10%

Travel Network—Cost of revenue increased $144 million, or 11%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year, primarily as a
result of an increase in incentive consideration due to growth in booking volumes of 4% driven by organic growth and new customer conversions, and a higher
incentive rate per booking in all regions, partially offset by a decrease in the APAC region due to the renegotiation of an out of market agreement with a travel
agency. See Note 2. Acquisitions, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Airline Solutions—Cost of revenue increased $10 million, or 2%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year, primarily due to
increases in labor and technology infrastructure costs to support the growth in the business.
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Hospitality Solutions—Cost of revenue increased $18 million, or 12%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year, primarily due
to higher transaction costs to support the growth in the business.

Corporate—Cost of revenue associated with corporate costs increased $18 million, or 49%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the
prior year, primarily due to higher corporate systems and risk and security costs.

Depreciation and amortization—Cost of revenue associated with depreciation and amortization increased $30 million, or 11%, for the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year primarily due to the completion and amortization of software developed for internal use.

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration—Amortization of upfront incentive consideration increased $12 million, or 21%, for the year ended
December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year primarily due to an increase in upfront consideration provided to travel agencies.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Selling, general and administrative $ 510,075  $ 626,153  $ (116,078)  (19)%

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) decreased by $116 million, or 19%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the
prior year due to a decrease in amortization expense of $45 million due to the completion in the first quarter of 2017 of amortization of certain intangible assets
from the take-private transaction in 2007 and a $43 million reimbursement, net of accrued legal and related expenses, from a settlement in 2017 with our
insurance carriers with respect to the American Airlines litigation. Litigation costs also declined in 2017 compared to 2016 due to the accrual of $32 million in
2016 for the US Airways litigation, which represents the trebling of the jury award plus our estimate of attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs (see Note 15.
Commitments and Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements), offset by $6 million of insurance reimbursements.

Impairment and related charges

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Impairment and related charges $ 81,112  $ —  $ 81,112  100%

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we recorded an impairment charge of $81 million associated with net capitalized contract costs related to
an Airline Solutions' customer, Air Berlin, based on our analysis of the recoverability of such amounts. See Note 4. Impairment and Related Charges, to our
consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Other income, net

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Other income, net $ (36,530)  $ (27,617)  $ (8,913)  (32)%

Other income, net increased $9 million, or 32%, for the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the prior year. In 2017, we recognized a benefit of
$60 million associated with a reduction to our TRA liability, primarily due to a provisional adjustment resulting from the enactment of TCJA, which reduced the
U.S. corporate income tax rate. See Note 7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements. This increase was offset by a $15 million loss related to
debt modification costs associated with our debt refinancing in the first and third quarter of 2017 and realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange losses
for the year ended December 31, 2017. In 2016, we recognized a gain from sale of available-for-sale securities of $15 million, receipt of an earn-out payment
of $6 million associated with the sale of a business in 2013, and realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange gains.
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Provision for Income Taxes

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2017  2016  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Provision for income taxes $ 128,037  $ 86,645  $ 41,392  48%

Our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were 33.9% and 26.4%, respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the prior year is primarily due to the net tax effect of the enactment of the TCJA, and a reduction in excess
tax benefits associated with employee equity-based awards, partially offset by the tax on the gain from the 2016 sale of available-for-sale securities. See Note
1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

The differences between our effective tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily result from our geographic mix of taxable income
in various tax jurisdictions as well as the discrete tax items referenced above.

16



Years Ended December 31, 2016 and 2015

Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Travel Network $ 2,374,849  $ 2,102,792  $ 272,057  13%
Airline Solutions 794,637  712,908  81,729  11%

Hospitality Solutions 224,669  159,178  65,491  41%
Total segment revenue 3,394,155  2,974,878  419,277  14%

Eliminations (20,768)  (13,982)  (6,786)  49%
Total revenue $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896  $ 412,491  14%

Travel Network—Revenue increased $272 million, or 13%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase in revenue
primarily resulted from:

• a $312 million increase in transaction-based revenue to $2,199 million due to growth in the business and the impact of the acquisition of
Abacus in 2015. Direct Billable Bookings increased by 14% to 505 million in the year ended December 31, 2016. Excluding the impact of the
acquisition of Abacus, Direct Billable Bookings increased by 3%, which was driven by growth of 6% in EMEA, 3% in North America and 1% in
Latin America;

• a decrease of $40 million in other revenue resulting from a $51 million decrease in other revenue related to services we provided to Abacus
prior to the acquisition in July 2015, offset by an increase of $11 million primarily due to data analytic products revenue.

Airline Solutions—Revenue increased $82 million, or 11%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase in
revenue primarily resulted from:

• a $66 million increase in Airline Solutions’ SabreSonic revenue for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year.
Passengers boarded increased by 35% to 789 million for the year ended December 31, 2016, driven primarily by the cutover to SabreSonic
CSS for American Airlines Group and Alitalia in the fourth quarter of 2015 and 2016, respectively, and by growth of existing customers.
Revenue increased by $105 million primarily as a result of growth in PBs for the year ended December 31, 2016. This increase was partially
offset by a $39 million decrease in non-PB revenue, primarily due to the expiration of a service contract in the fourth quarter of 2015 in
conjunction with a litigation settlement agreement with that customer in 2012. In addition, in the last part of 2016, implementation schedules
for several airlines were delayed to future years;

• a $32 million increase in Airline Solutions’ commercial and operations solutions revenue driven by growth in multiple products across our
portfolio; and

• a $17 million decrease in discrete professional service fees revenue, as a result of certain unrealized customer contracts.

Hospitality Solutions—Revenue increased $66 million, or 41%, to $225 million for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year,
primarily driven by an increase in CRS transactions. The increase was mainly driven by revenue growth of $26 million from new and existing customers and
revenue growth of $40 million from the acquisition of the Trust Group.
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Cost of Revenue

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Travel Network $ 1,335,288  $ 1,152,449  $ 182,839  16%
Airline Solutions 439,714  374,707  65,007  17%

Hospitality Solutions 152,171  106,242  45,929  43%
Eliminations (20,371)  (13,653)  (6,718)  49%

Total segment cost of revenue 1,906,802  1,619,745  287,057  18%
Corporate 37,783  36,249  1,534  4%
Depreciation and amortization 287,353  244,535  42,818  18%
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 55,724  43,521  12,203  28%

Total cost of revenue $ 2,287,662  $ 1,944,050  $ 343,612  18%

Travel Network—Cost of revenue increased $183 million, or 16%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase was
primarily the result of costs associated with Abacus' operations, an increase in incentive consideration primarily in EMEA and North America, and a $7 million
impairment of a prepaid incentive for a European travel agency due its insolvency, as well as higher labor and technology infrastructure costs.

Airline Solutions—Cost of revenue increased $65 million, or 17%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase was
primarily the result of an increase in labor costs and technology infrastructure costs, which was driven by growth in transaction volumes.

Hospitality Solutions—Cost of revenue increased $46 million, or 43%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase
was primarily due to costs associated with the Trust Group's operations, and higher transaction related and technology infrastructure costs, which were each
driven by the growth in transaction volumes.

Corporate—Cost of revenue associated with corporate costs increased $2 million, or 4%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior
year. The increase was primarily due to a $12 million charge to implement a plan to restructure a portion of our global workforce in support of funding our
efforts to modernize our technology infrastructure, which was partially offset by a reduction in labor costs.

Depreciation and amortization—Cost of revenue associated with depreciation and amortization increased $43 million, or 18%, for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The increase was primarily due to the completion and amortization of software developed for internal use and
additional amortization of capitalized implementation costs. We also incurred an increase in amortization of definite-lived intangible assets associated with the
acquisition of Abacus, the Trust Group and Airpas Aviation.

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration—Amortization of upfront incentive consideration increased $12 million, or 28%, for the year ended
December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year primarily due to an increase in upfront consideration provided to travel agencies during 2016 and second half of
2015. This increase includes an impairment of $2 million of upfront incentive consideration in 2016 provided to a European travel agency due to its insolvency.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Selling, general and administrative $ 626,153  $ 557,077  $ 69,076  12%

Selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) increased by $69 million, or 12%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior
year. This increase is primarily due to a $40 million increase in headcount-related expenses driven by the acquisitions of Abacus and the Trust Group, an
increase in stock-based compensation of $11 million, and other headcount-related costs, including a $8 million charge to implement a plan to restructure a
portion of our global workforce in support of funding our efforts to modernize our technology infrastructure, as well as to align and improve our operational
efficiency to reflect expected changes by customers on implementation schedules for certain of Airline Solutions products. Depreciation and amortization
expenses increased $18 million due to the amortization of intangible assets obtained in the acquisition of Abacus in 2015, and the Trust Group and Airpas
Aviation acquisitions earlier this year. Litigation costs increased primarily due to the accrual of $32 million for the US Airways litigation, which represents the
trebling of the jury award plus our estimate of attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs (See Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies), offset by $6 million of
insurance reimbursements. Additionally, acquisition-related costs decreased by $14 million due to the acquisition of Abacus in 2015.
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Interest Expense, net

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Interest expense, net $ 158,251  $ 173,298  $ (15,047)  (9)%

Interest expense, net, decreased $15 million, or 9%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year. The decrease was primarily the
result of a lower effective interest rate from the extinguishment of our 8.5% senior secured notes due 2019 in April 2015 and the partial extinguishment of our
8.35% senior unsecured notes due 2016 in December 2015, funded by the issuance of our 5.375% and 5.25% senior secured notes due 2023, respectively.
Our senior unsecured notes due 2016 fully matured in March 2016. The decrease in our effective interest rate was partially offset by an increase in average
debt outstanding compared to the same period in the prior year, the impacts of our interest rate swaps and an increase in amortization of debt issuance costs.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

 Year Ended December 31,     
 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ 3,683  $ 38,783  $ (35,100)  (91)%

Loss on extinguishment of debt decreased by $35 million, or 91%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the same period in prior year.
We recognized a loss on extinguishment of debt of $4 million due to the prepayment of a portion of Term Loan B in July 2016. In 2015, as a result of the
extinguishment of our senior secured notes due 2019 and the prepayment on our senior unsecured notes due 2016, we recognized losses on extinguishment
of debt of $33 million and $6 million, respectively.

Joint Venture Equity Income

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Joint venture equity income $ 2,780  $ 14,842  $ (12,062)  (81)%

On July 1, 2015, we acquired the remaining 65% of SAPPL, which represented the majority of our joint venture income for the year ended
December 31, 2015. We do not expect significant joint venture income subsequent to this acquisition.

Other Income, Net

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Other income, net $ (27,617)  $ (91,377)  $ 63,760  (70)%

Other income, net decreased $64 million, or 70%, for the year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the prior year, primarily due to the acquisition of
Abacus. We recognized a gain from sale of available-for-sale securities of $15 million, receipt of an earn-out payment of $6 million associated with the sale of a
business in 2013, and realized and unrealized foreign currency exchange gains for the year ended December 31, 2016. In 2015, we recognized a gain of $78
million as a result of the remeasurement of our previously-held 35% equity interest in SAPPL to its fair value as of the acquisition date. In addition, we
recognized a gain of $12 million during the year ended December 31, 2015 associated with the settlement of a pre-existing agreement between us and SAPPL
related to data processing services.
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Provision for income taxes

 Year Ended December 31,     

 2016  2015  Change

 (Amounts in thousands)     

Provision for income taxes $ 86,645  $ 119,352  $ (32,707)  (27)%

Our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 were 26.4% and 33.7%, respectively. The decrease in the effective tax rate for
the year ended December 31, 2016 as compared to the prior year is primarily due to the recognition of excess tax benefits on employee equity-based awards
not previously recognized, due to the adoption of the new accounting standard, ASU 2016-09, offset by tax on the gain from sale of available-for-sale
securities. See Note 1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

The differences between our effective tax rates and the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate primarily result from our geographic mix of taxable income
in various tax jurisdictions as well as the discrete tax items referenced above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are: (i) cash flows from operations, (ii) cash and cash equivalents and (iii) borrowings under our $400 million Revolver
(see “—Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). Borrowing availability under our Revolver is reduced by our outstanding letters of credit and restricted cash
collateral. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, our cash and cash equivalents, Revolver and outstanding letters of credit were as follows (in thousands):

 As of December 31,

 2017  2016

Cash and cash equivalents $ 361,381  $ 364,114
Available balance under the Revolver 378,542  365,006
Reductions to the Revolver:    

Revolver outstanding balance —  —
Outstanding letters of credit 21,458  34,994

We consider cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into cash. Securities with contractual maturities of three months
or less, when purchased, are considered cash equivalents. We record changes in a book overdraft position, in which our bank account is not overdrawn but
recently issued and outstanding checks result in a negative general ledger balance, as cash flows from financing activities. We invest in a money market fund
which is classified as cash and cash equivalents in our consolidated balance sheets and statements of cash flows. We held no short-term investments as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016.

As a result of the enactment of the TCJA, we recorded a provisional one-time transition tax of $48 million on the undistributed earnings of our foreign
subsidiaries, and we do not consider these undistributed earnings to be indefinitely reinvested as of December 31, 2017. We consider the undistributed capital
investments in our foreign subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested as of December 31, 2017, and therefore we have not recorded deferred tax related to those
undistributed capital investments. Our cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities held by our foreign subsidiaries are available to satisfy domestic
liquidity needs arising in the ordinary course of business, including liquidity needs associated with our domestic debt service requirements.

Liquidity Outlook

Our ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond our control, and any failure to meet our debt service obligations could harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to make payments on and to refinance our indebtedness, and to fund working capital needs, planned
capital expenditures, share repurchases and dividends will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future, which is subject to general economic, financial,
competitive, business, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. See “Risk Factors—We may require more cash than we generate in
our operating activities, and additional funding on reasonable terms or at all may not be available.”
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We utilize cash and cash equivalents, supplemented by our Revolver, primarily to pay our operating expenses, make capital expenditures, invest in our
products and offerings, pay quarterly dividends on our common stock, make payments under the TRA, and service our debt and other long-term liabilities.
Furthermore, on an ongoing basis, we will evaluate and consider strategic acquisitions, divestitures, joint ventures, repurchasing shares of our common stock
(including pursuant to the multi-year $500 million Share Repurchase Program) or our outstanding debt obligations in open market or in privately negotiated
transactions, as well as other transactions we believe may create stockholder value or enhance financial performance. These transactions may require cash
expenditures or generate proceeds and, to the extent they require cash expenditures, may be funded through a combination of cash on hand, debt or equity
offerings, or utilization of our Revolver.

We believe that cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents on hand and our Revolver provide adequate liquidity for our operational and
capital expenditures and other obligations over the next twelve months. We may supplement our current liquidity through debt or equity offerings to support
future strategic investments, or to pay down debt. We are reviewing opportunities to reprice the Term Loan A, Term Loan B, and Revolver, depending on
market conditions. We funded TRA payments of $101 million, including interest, due in January of 2017 with cash on hand. We expect to fund future TRA
payments through a combination of cash on hand, utilization of our Revolver or debt offerings.

Dividends

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we paid quarterly cash dividends on our common stock totaling $155 million and expect to continue to pay
quarterly cash dividends thereafter. Our board of directors has declared a cash dividend of $0.14 per share of our common stock, which will be paid on March
30, 2018 to stockholders of record as of March 21, 2018. We funded the 2017 dividends, and intend to fund any future dividends, from cash generated from our
operations. Future cash dividends, if any, will be at the discretion of our board of directors and the amount of cash dividends per share will depend upon,
among other things, our future operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions, number of
shares of common stock outstanding and other factors the board of directors may deem relevant. The timing and amount of future dividend payments will be at
the discretion of our board of directors. See “Risk Factors—Our ability to pay regular dividends to our stockholders is subject to the discretion of our board of
directors and may be limited by our holding company structure and applicable provisions of Delaware law.”

Recent Events Impacting Our Liquidity and Capital Resources

Term Facility Amendment and Swaps Designations

In August 2017, Sabre GLBL conducted the 2017 Refinancing to refinance and modify the terms of the 2017 Term Loan B, the 2016 Term Loan A and
the 2016 Revolver (as defined in "—Senior Secured Credit Facilities"), resulting in a reduction of the applicable margins for each of these instruments and
approximately a one-year extension of the maturity of the Term Loan A and Revolver (as defined in "—Senior Secured Credit Facilities"). We incurred no
additional indebtedness as a result of the 2017 Refinancing.

In February 2017, pursuant to the 2017 Term Facility Amendment (as defined in "—Senior Secured Credit Facilities"), we replaced $1,753 million of
outstanding debt principal as of December 31, 2016, with $1,900 million of new debt principal maturing in February 2024. The proceeds of the new debt
issuance were used to pay off certain existing classes of outstanding term loan facilities (other than the 2016 Term Loan A), pay associated financing fees,
repay the outstanding mortgage on our corporate headquarters and for other general corporate purposes. See "—Senior Secured Credit Facilities."

Since our periodic interest payments due on the expired and new debt described above are based on a variable interest rate, we manage our exposure
to the variability in our cash flows by entering into pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap agreements (“swaps”) with counterparties. These swaps are
derivative instruments that effectively convert our floating rate debt to a fixed rate instrument. When we meet the relevant criteria, we apply hedge accounting
to the swaps, which are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet with the adjustments to fair value recorded in other comprehensive income. When we do
not meet the criteria to apply hedge accounting, the adjustments to fair value of the swaps are recorded directly in earnings each period.

In connection with the 2017 Term Facility Amendment, we discontinued hedge accounting on existing swaps and applied hedge accounting to new
swaps entered into as a hedge of the variability of cash flows on the newly issued debt. In order to manage our exposure to earnings volatility from the interest
rate swaps for which we discontinued hedge accounting, we entered into additional offsetting pay-variable, receive-fixed swaps to which we also do not apply
hedge accounting. See Note 9. Derivatives, to our consolidated financial statements.
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Political and Economic Environment in Venezuela

Venezuela has imposed currency controls, including volume restrictions on the conversion of bolivars to U.S. dollars, which impact the ability of certain
of our airline customers operating in the country to obtain U.S. dollars to make timely payments to us. Consequently, the collection of accounts receivable due
to us can be, and has been, delayed. Due to the nature of this delay, we have recorded specific reserves against all outstanding balances due to us and are
deferring the recognition of any future revenues effective January 1, 2014 until cash is collected in accordance with our policies. Accordingly, our accounts
receivable are subject to a general collection risk, as there can be no assurance that we will be paid from such customers in a timely manner, if at all. Certain
airlines have scaled back operations in response to the reduced demand for travel in conjunction with the political and economic uncertainty as well as the
currency controls which has impacted our airline customers in Venezuela. During the year ended December 31, 2017, we collected $2 million from customers
in Venezuela, all of which was outstanding as of December 31, 2016. Accounts receivable outstanding from customers in Venezuela totaled $25 million as of
December 31, 2017. In 2017 and early 2018, we discontinued services to certain carriers in Venezuela with outstanding receivable balances of $17 million as
of December 31, 2017. We do not believe that these amounts are collectible, and these amounts are fully reserved.

Share Repurchase Program

In February 2017, our Board approved a $500 million multi-year Share Repurchase Program. Repurchases under the program may take place in the
open market or privately negotiated transactions. For the year ended December 31, 2017, we repurchased 5,779,769 shares totaling $109 million pursuant to
the Share Repurchase Program. See Item 5. "Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities."

Capital Expenditures

Capitalized costs associated with software developed for internal use represent a significant portion of our capital expenditures and we expect such
costs to increase as we continue to make significant investments in our information technology infrastructure to modernize our architecture, drive efficiency in
development and ongoing technology costs, further enhance the stability and security of our network, and comply with data privacy regulations. During the year
ended December 31, 2017, we incurred $316 million of capital expenditures, which includes $251 million related to software developed for internal use. In
2018, we expect capital expenditures to range from approximately $305 million to $325 million.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In February 2013, Sabre GLBL entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The agreement replaced (i) the existing term loans with new
classes of term loans of $1,775 million (the “2013 Term Loan B”) and $425 million (the “2013 Term Loan C”) and (ii) the existing revolving credit facility with a
new revolving credit facility of $352 million (the “2013 Revolver”). In September 2013, Sabre GLBL entered into an agreement to amend the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement to add a new class of term loans in the amount of $350 million (the “2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility”).

In July 2016, Sabre GLBL entered into a series of amendments (the “Credit Agreement Amendments”) to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
to provide for an incremental term loan under a new class with an aggregate principal amount of $600 million (the “2016 Term Loan A”) and to replace the 2013
Revolver with a new revolving credit facility totaling $400 million (the “2016 Revolver”). The proceeds of $597 million, net of $3 million discount, from the 2016
Term Loan A were used to repay $350 million of outstanding principal on our 2013 Term Loan B and 2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility, on a pro rata basis,
repay the $120 million then-outstanding balance on the 2016 Revolver, and pay $11 million in associated financing fees. We recognized a $4 million loss on
extinguishment of debt during the year ended December 31, 2016 in connection with these transactions.

On February 22, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Third Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the
“2017 Term Facility Amendment”). The new agreement replaced the 2013 Term Loan B, 2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility and 2013 Term Loan C with a
single class of term loan (the "2017 Term Loan B") with an aggregate principal amount of $1,900 million maturing on February 22, 2024. The proceeds of
$1,898 million, net of $2 million discount on the 2017 Term Loan B, were used to pay off approximately $1,761 million of all existing classes of outstanding term
loans (other than the 2016 Term Loan A), pay related accrued interest and pay $12 million in associated financing fees, which were recorded as debt
modification costs in Other, net in the consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2017. The remaining proceeds of the 2017
Term Loan B were used to pay off approximately $80 million of Sabre’s outstanding mortgage on its corporate headquarters on March 31, 2017 and for other
general corporate purposes. Unamortized debt issuance costs and discount related to existing classes of outstanding term loans prior to the 2017 Term Facility
Amendment of $9 million and $3 million, respectively, will continue to be amortized over the remaining term of the Term Loan B along with the Term Loan B
discount of $2 million. See Note 9. Derivatives, to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding the discontinuation of hedge accounting
related to our existing interest rate swaps as a result of the 2017 Term Facility Amendment.
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On August 23, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fourth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, Term
Loan A Refinancing Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and Second Revolving Facility Refinancing Amendment to the Credit Agreement to refinance and
modify the terms of the 2017 Term Loan B, the 2016 Term Loan A, and the 2016 Revolver, resulting in a reduction of the applicable margins for each of these
instruments and approximately a one-year extension of the maturity of the 2016 Term Loan A and 2016 Revolver (the “2017 Refinancing”). We incurred no
additional indebtedness as a result of the 2017 Refinancing. The 2017 Refinancing included a $400 million revolving credit facility ("Revolver") that replaced the
2016 Revolver, as well as the application of the proceeds of the approximately $1,891 million incremental Term Loan B facility (“Term Loan B”) and $570 million
Term Loan A facility (“Term Loan A”) to replace the 2017 Term Loan B and the 2016 Term Loan A. The maturity of the Revolver and the Term Loan A was
extended from July 18, 2021 to July 1, 2022. The applicable margins for the Term Loan B were reduced to 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and
1.25% per annum for base rate loans. The applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver were reduced to (i) between 2.50% and 1.75% per annum
for Eurocurrency rate loans and (ii) between 1.50% and 0.75% per annum for base rate loans, in each case with the applicable margin for any quarter reduced
by 25 basis points (up to 75 basis points total) if the Senior Secured First-Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement) is less than 3.75 to 1.0, 3.00 to 1.0, or 2.25 to 1.0, respectively. The applicable interest rate margins opened at 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency
rate loans and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans until November 2, 2017.

We had no balance outstanding under the Revolver as of December 31, 2017 and as of December 31, 2016. We had outstanding letters of credit
totaling $21 million and $35 million as of December 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, which reduced our overall credit capacity under the
Revolver.

Under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, the loan parties are subject to certain customary non-financial covenants, including certain
restrictions on incurring certain types of indebtedness, creation of liens on certain assets, making of certain investments, and payment of dividends, as well as
a maximum leverage ratio. Pursuant to Credit Agreement Amendments, effective July 18, 2016, the maximum leverage ratio has been adjusted to be based on
the Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement) and we are required, at all times (no longer solely when a threshold
amount of revolving loans or letters of credit were outstanding), to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio of less than 4.5 to 1.0.

We are also required to pay down the term loans by an amount equal to 50% of annual excess cash flow, as defined in the Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement. This percentage requirement may decrease or be eliminated if certain leverage ratios are achieved. Based on our results for the year ended
December 31, 2017, we were not required to make an excess cash flow payment in 2018. We are further required to pay down the term loan with proceeds
from certain asset sales or borrowings as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering, we entered into the TRA that provides the Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders (as defined in Note
7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements) the right to receive future payments from us. The future payments will equal 85% of the amount of
cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal income tax that we and our subsidiaries realize as a result of the utilization of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets (as defined in Note 7.
Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements). Based on current tax laws and assuming that we and our subsidiaries earn sufficient taxable income
to realize the full tax benefits subject to the TRA, we estimate that future payments under the TRA relating to Pre-IPO Tax Assets will total $170 million,
excluding interest. This amount is included in other noncurrent liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017 and is expected to be paid
over the next three years. In the fourth quarter of 2017, we recorded a reduction of $60 million in the TRA liability primarily due to a provisional adjustment
resulting from the enactment of the TCJA, which reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate. See “Recent Developments Affecting our Results of Operations”
for additional information on the expected effects of the enactment of the TCJA. The TRA payments accrue interest in accordance with the terms of the TRA
subsequent to the tax year in which the tax benefits are realized through the date of the benefit payment. No material payments occurred in 2016 and we made
payments of $60 million and $101 million, including interest, in January 2018 and 2017, respectively. The estimate of future payments considers the impact of
Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), which imposes an annual limit on the ability of a corporation that undergoes an
ownership change to use its net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") to reduce its liability. We do not anticipate any material limitations on our ability to utilize
U.S. federal NOLs under Section 382 of the Code.

These payment obligations are our obligations and not obligations of any of our subsidiaries. The actual utilization of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets, as well as
the timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the amount, character and timing of our and our
subsidiaries’ taxable income in the future. See Note 7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding income taxes
and the TRA.
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In addition, the TRA provides that upon certain mergers, stock and asset sales, other forms of business combinations or other changes of control, the
TRA will terminate and we will be required to make a payment intended to equal to the present value of future payments under the TRA, which payment would
be based on certain assumptions, including those relating to our and our subsidiaries’ future taxable income. In these situations, our obligations under the TRA
could have a substantial negative impact on our liquidity and could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing certain mergers, asset sales, other forms
of business combinations or other changes of control. Different timing rules will apply to payments under the TRA to be made to holders that, prior to the
completion of the initial public offering, held stock options and restricted stock units (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Award Holders”). These payments will generally
be deemed invested in a notional account rather than made on the scheduled payment dates, and the account will be distributed on the fifth anniversary of the
initial public offering, together with (a) interest accrued on these payments from the scheduled payment date to the distribution date, and (b) an amount equal
to the net present value of the Award Holder’s future expected payments, if any, under the TRA. Moreover, payments to holders of stock options that were
unvested prior to the completion of the initial public offering are subject to vesting on the same schedule as such holder’s unvested stock options.

The TRA contains a Change of Control definition that includes, among other things, a change of a majority of the board of directors without approval
of a majority of the then existing Board members (the “Continuing Directors Provision”). Recent Delaware case law has stressed that such Continuing Directors
Provisions could have a potential adverse impact on stockholders’ right to elect a company’s directors. In this regard, decisions of the Delaware Chancery
Court (not involving us or our securities) have considered change of control provisions and noted that a board of directors may “approve” a dissident
stockholders’ nominees solely to avoid triggering the change of control provisions, without supporting their election, if the board determines in good faith that
the election of the dissident nominees would not be materially adverse to the interests of the corporation or its stockholders. Further, according to these
decisions, the directors’duty of loyalty to stockholders under Delaware law may, in certain circumstances, require them to give such approval.

Our counterparties under the TRA will not reimburse us for any payments previously made under the TRA if such benefits are subsequently
disallowed (although future payments would be adjusted to the extent possible to reflect the result of such disallowance). As a result, in certain circumstances,
payments could be made under the TRA in excess of our cash tax savings. Certain transactions by the company could cause it to recognize taxable income
(possibly material amounts of income) without a current receipt of cash. Payments under the TRA with respect to such taxable income would cause a net
reduction in our available cash. For example, transactions giving rise to cancellation of debt income, the accrual of income from original issue discount or
deferred payments, a “triggering event” requiring the recapture of dual consolidated losses, or “Subpart F” income would each produce income with no
corresponding increase in cash. In these cases, we may use some of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets to offset income from these transactions and, under the TRA,
would be required to make a payment to our Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders even though we receive no cash from such income.

Because Sabre Corporation, on an unconsolidated basis, is a holding company with no operations of its own, its ability to make payments under the
TRA is dependent on the ability of its subsidiaries to make distributions to Sabre Corporation. The TRA is designed with the objective of causing our annual
cash costs attributable to federal income taxes (without regard to our continuing 15% interest in the Pre-IPO Tax Assets) to be the same as we would have paid
had we not had the Pre-IPO Tax Assets available to offset our federal taxable income. As a result, stockholders who are not Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders will
not be entitled to the economic benefit of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets that would have been available if the TRA were not in effect (except to the extent of our
continuing 15% interest in the Pre-IPO Tax Assets).

Cash Flows

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 was $678 million and consisted of net income from continuing operations
of $250 million, adjustments for non-cash and other items of $626 million and a decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $198
million. The adjustments for non-cash and other items consist primarily of $401 million of depreciation and amortization, $81 million of impairment and related
charges, $67 million in amortization of upfront incentive consideration, $45 million of stock-based compensation expense, $49 million of deferred income taxes
and $15 million of debt modification costs, partially offset by $60 million reduction to our liability under the TRA primarily due to a provisional adjustment
resulting from the enactment of TCJA which reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate in December 2017. The decrease in cash from changes in operating
assets and liabilities of $198 million was primarily the result of a $109 million increase in accounts receivable partially due to a $29 million receivable related to
an insurance settlement, $94 million used for upfront incentive consideration, $61 million used for capitalized implementation costs, and a $21 million increase
in other assets. These were partially offset by an increase of $67 million in accounts payable and accrued subscriber incentives, an increase of $14 million in
deferred revenue primarily due to upfront solution fees and an increase of $6 million in accrued compensation and related benefits.
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Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2016 was $699 million and consisted of net income from continuing operations
of $241 million, adjustments for non-cash and other items of $557 million and a decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $99 million.
The adjustments for non-cash and other items consist primarily of $414 million of depreciation and amortization, $56 million in amortization of upfront incentive
consideration, $49 million of stock-based compensation expense, and $48 million of deferred income taxes, partially offset by $26 million of litigation-related
credits. The decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $99 million was primarily the result of $83 million used for capitalized
implementation costs, $71 million used for upfront incentive consideration, a $13 million increase in accounts receivable, and a $12 million increase in prepaid
expenses and other assets. These decreases were partially offset by an increase of $57 million in accounts payable and other accrued liabilities and an
increase of $23 million in deferred revenue primarily due to upfront solution fees.

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $529 million and consisted of net income from continuing operations
of $235 million, adjustments for non-cash and other items of $455 million and a decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities of $160
million. The adjustments for non-cash and other items consist primarily of $351 million of depreciation and amortization, $97 million of deferred taxes, $44
million in amortization of upfront incentive consideration, $39 million loss on extinguishment of debt, $30 million of stock-based compensation and a $29 million
dividend received from SAPPL prior to the acquisition; partially offset by the $78 million gain on the remeasurement of our previously-held interest in Abacus
and $61 million of litigation-related credits. The decrease in cash from changes in operating assets and liabilities was primarily the result of a $67 million
increase in other assets, mainly driven by deferred customer discounts, $64 million used for upfront incentive consideration and $63 million used for capitalized
implementation costs; partially offset by an increase in accrued compensation and related benefits of $18 million and a decrease in accounts and other
receivables of $11 million.

Investing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we used cash of $316 million on capital expenditures, which includes $251 million related to software
developed for internal use.

For the year ended December 31, 2016, we used cash of $164 million for the acquisition of the Trust Group and Airpas Aviation and $328 million on
capital expenditures, which includes $284 million related to software developed for internal use. The use of cash from investing activities was offset by
proceeds received from the sale of our available-for-sale securities of $46 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, we used cash of $442 million to acquire Abacus and $287 million on capital expenditures, which includes $233
million related to software developed for internal use.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2017, we used $357 million for financing activities. Significant highlights of our financing activities included:
• receipt of proceeds totaling $1,898 million (net of $2 million discount) in February 2017 from the 2017 Term Loan B, which were used to pay off

approximately $1,753 million of all existing classes of outstanding term loans (other than the 2016 Term Loan A) and $12 million in debt issuance
costs. The remaining proceeds were used for purposes of repaying approximately $80 million of Sabre's outstanding mortgage on its corporate
headquarters, and for other general corporate purposes;

• payments totaling $48 million on the principal outstanding on our term loans;
• pursuant to the 2017 Refinancing in August 2017, payment of $7 million in debt modification costs;
• first annual payment in January 2017 on the TRA liability for $99 million, excluding interest;
• payment of $155 million in dividends on our common stock; and
• receipt of net proceeds totaling $13 million from the settlement of employee stock-option awards and payment of $11 million in income tax

withholdings associated with the settlement of employee restricted-stock awards; and
• repurchase of 5,779,769 shares of our common stock outstanding totaling $109 million.
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For the year ended December 31, 2016, we used $190 million for financing activities. Significant highlights of our financing activities included:
• receipt of proceeds totaling $597 million (net of $3 million discount) from the 2016 Term Loan A and used a portion of the proceeds to repay $350

million of outstanding principal on our 2013 Term Loan B and 2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility;
• payment of the remaining principal of $165 million on our senior secured notes due 2016, which matured in March 2016, paid down $26 million of

the term loan outstanding as part of quarterly principal repayments;

• draws on our 2013 Revolver totaling $458 million and payments totaling $458 million resulting in no outstanding balance as of December 31, 2016;

• payment of $13 million for capital leases;
• payment of $144 million in dividends on our common stock;
• receipt of net proceeds of $27 million from the settlement of employee stock-option awards; and
• repurchase of 3,980,672 shares of our common stock outstanding totaling $100 million.

For the year ended December 31, 2015, cash provided from financing activities totaled $93 million. Significant highlights of our financing activities
included:

• in April 2015, issuance of $530 million of our 5.375% senior secured notes due in 2023 and use of the net proceeds of $522 million to redeem all of
the $480 million principal of our senior secured notes due 2019, pay a $31 million redemption premium and $2 million make-whole premium;

• in November 2015, issuance of $500 million of 5.25% senior secured notes due 2023 and use of the net proceeds of $494 million to repay $235
million of the $400 million senior secured notes due 2016, pay a $5 million make-whole premium and repurchase 3,400,000 shares of our common
stock totaling $99 million;

• payment of $21 million of the term loan outstanding as part of quarterly principal repayments;
• payment of $99 million in dividends on our common stock; and
• receipt of net proceeds of $47 million from the settlement of stock-based awards.

Discontinued Travelocity Business

Cash flows (used in) provided by discontinued operating activities was $(5) million, $(19) million, and less than $1 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The cash flows used by discontinuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2017 primarily resulted
from expenses associated with legal contingencies related to hotel occupancy taxes. See Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies, to our consolidated
financial statements for additional information. The increase in cash flows used by discontinued operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2016
compared to 2015 is primarily due to a tax benefit associated with the resolution of uncertain tax positions. The cash flows provided by discontinued operating
activities in the year ended December 31, 2015 was primarily due to a $30 million refund received from the State of Hawaii associated with a favorable ruling in
hotel occupancy tax litigation, offset by cash used to wind down the discontinued business.

Cash flows provided by discontinued investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 totaled $279 million which consisted of $280 million in
proceeds from the sale of Travelocity.com, partially offset by $1 million in capital expenditures associated with lastminute.com prior to its sale.

As a result of our completed divestiture of the Travelocity segment, we do not expect our discontinued operations to have material ongoing liquidity
requirements. See Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements, regarding litigation and other contingencies associated
with our discontinued Travelocity segment.
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Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2017, our contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):

 Payments Due by Period

 2018  2019  2020  2021  2022  Thereafter  Total

Total debt(1) $ 211,768  $ 214,957  $ 224,622  $ 216,701  $ 520,764  $ 2,935,831  $ 4,324,643

Operating lease obligations(2) 24,467  20,872  17,733  14,189  11,156  29,884  118,301

IT outsourcing agreement(3) 173,561  144,108  136,117  122,365  105,034  105,034  786,219

Purchase orders(4) 275,860  6,413  5,006  402  287  —  287,968

Transition tax(5) 3,841  3,841  3,841  3,841  3,841  28,807  48,012

Letters of credit(6) 19,220  2,083  155  —  —  —  21,458

Unrecognized tax benefits(7) —  —  —  —  —  —  92,508

Tax Receivable Agreement(8) 59,844  —  —  —  —  —  234,059

Total contractual cash obligations(9) $ 768,561  $ 392,274  $ 387,474  $ 357,498  $ 641,082  $ 3,099,556  $ 5,913,168

_______________________

(1) Includes all interest and principal of borrowings under our senior secured credit facilities, senior secured notes due 2023 and capital lease obligations.
Under certain circumstances, we are required to pay a percentage of the excess cash flow, if any, generated each year to our lenders which obligation is
not reflected in the table above. Interest on the term loan is based on the LIBOR rate plus a base margin and includes the effect of interest rate swaps. For
purposes of this table, we have used projected LIBOR rates for all future periods. See Note 8. Debt, to our consolidated financial statements.

(2) We lease approximately 1.5 million square feet of office space in 117 locations in 54 countries. Lease payment escalations are based on fixed annual
increases, local consumer price index changes or market rental reviews. We have renewal options of various term lengths in approximately 50 leases. We
have no purchase options and no restrictions imposed by our leases concerning dividends or additional debt.

(3) Represents minimum amounts due to DXC under the terms of an outsourcing agreement through which DXC manages a significant portion of our
information technology systems. Actual payments may vary significantly from the minimum amounts presented.

(4) Purchase obligations represent an estimate of all open purchase orders and contractual obligations in the ordinary course of business for which we have
not received the goods or services as of December 31, 2017. Although open purchase orders are considered enforceable and legally binding, the terms
generally allow us the option to cancel, reschedule and adjust our requirements based on our business needs prior to the delivery of goods or performance
of services.

(5) Represents the provisional amount payable on foreign earnings subject to U.S. income tax pursuant to the TCJA enacted on December 22, 2017 (see
Note 7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements). Amounts per year are estimates as the Internal Revenue Service has not issued
guidance on the timing of payments.

(6) Our letters of credit consist of stand-by letters of credit, underwritten by a group of lenders, which we primarily issue for certain regulatory purposes as well
as to certain hotel properties to secure our payment for hotel room transactions. The contractual expiration dates of these letters of credit are shown in the
table above. There were no claims made against any stand‑by letters of credit during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

(7) Unrecognized tax benefits include associated interest and penalties. The timing of related cash payments for substantially all of these liabilities is
inherently uncertain because the ultimate amount and timing of such liabilities is affected by factors which are variable and outside our control.

(8) We paid $60 million, including interest, under our TRA in January 2018. See Note 7. Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements and “—Tax
Receivable Agreement.” The exact timing of future payments under the TRA is uncertain and dependent on the timing of the realization of taxable income.

(9) Excludes pension obligations, see Note 14. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans, to our consolidated financial statements.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We had no off balance sheet arrangements during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued updated guidance to expand and simplify the application of hedge
accounting. The updated standard eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change
in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. The guidance also eases certain
documentation and assessment requirements and modifies the accounting for components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. The
Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, with early adoption permitted. We do not expect that
the adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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In March 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance improving the presentation requirements related to reporting the service cost component of net
benefit costs to require that the service cost component be reported in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered
by the pertinent employees during the period, disaggregating the component from other net benefit costs. Net benefit cost is composed of several items, which
reflect different aspects of an employer's financial arrangements as well as the cost of benefits earned by employees. The updated guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods for public business entities. We do not expect that the
adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance requiring organizations that lease assets—referred to as "lessees"—to recognize on the balance
sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases, when the lease has a term of more than 12 months. The updated
standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the
presentation and disclosure for financial instruments. Under this updated standard, entities must measure equity investments at fair value and recognize
changes in fair value in net income. For equity investments without readily determinable fair values, entities have the option to either measure these
investments at fair value or at cost adjusted for changes in observable prices less impairment. The updated guidance does not apply to equity method
investments or investments in consolidated subsidiaries. This new standard is effective for public companies for annual periods, including interim periods,
beginning after December 15, 2017. We do not expect that the adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued a comprehensive update to revenue recognition guidance that will replace current standards. Under the updated
standard, revenue is recognized when a company transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is
expected to be received for those goods and services. The updated standard also requires additional disclosures on the nature, timing, and uncertainty of
revenue and related cash flows. In 2015, the FASB approved to defer the effective date of the new standard which is now effective for annual and interim
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. We have adopted this new standard as of January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective transition
method which will result in a cumulative adjustment as of the date of the adoption. We have substantially completed our evaluation of the guidance and
determined the key areas of impact on our financial results and are currently in the process of quantifying the impacts. Our quantification of the impacts is
ongoing and will not be finalized until the period of adoption. To date, our assessments have identified the following anticipated impacts:

• We do not expect significant changes to revenue recognition for our Travel Network and Hospitality Solutions businesses

• Our Airline Solutions business is expected to primarily be impacted by the new standard due to the following:

– Under current revenue recognition guidance, we recognize revenue related to license fee and maintenance agreements ratably over the life of
the contract. Under the new guidance, revenue for license fees will be recognized upon delivery of the license and ongoing maintenance
services will continue to be recognized ratably over the length of the contract. For existing open agreements, this change will result in a
beginning balance sheet adjustment and reduced revenue in subsequent years from these agreements, and before the impact of new sales.

– Allocation of contract revenues among various products and solutions, and the timing of the recognition of those revenues, will be impacted by
agreements with tiered pricing or variable rate structures that do not correspond with the goods or services delivered to the customer. For
existing open agreements, this change will also result in a beginning balance sheet adjustment and reduced revenue in subsequent years from
these agreements.

– In the year of adoption, as a result of the new revenue recognition standard, the changes detailed above will result in a significant beginning
balance sheet adjustment and we preliminarily estimate our consolidated revenue could be reduced by approximately $40 million to $50 million.

• Capitalization of incremental costs to obtain a contract (such as sales commissions), and recognition of these costs over the contract period will result
in the recognition of an asset on our balance sheet and will impact our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions segments. We currently expect that
our results of operations will not be significantly impacted from the capitalization of these incremental costs.

We anticipate that the impacts described above will result in a net reduction to our opening retained deficit as of January 1, 2018 of approximately
$100 million to $130 million with a corresponding increase in current and long-term unbilled receivables, contract assets and other assets. Implications to tax
related accounts are not included in these estimated amounts.

Our assessment of each of the foregoing is ongoing and subject to finalization, such that the actual impact of the adoption may differ materially from
the estimated ranges described above.

We are continuing to evaluate the impacts of the new guidance to our results of operations, current accounting policies, processes, controls, systems
and financial statement disclosures.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect our reported assets
and liabilities, revenues and expenses and other financial information. Actual results may differ significantly from these estimates, and our reported financial
condition and results of operations could vary under different assumptions and conditions. In addition, our reported financial condition and results of operations
could vary due to a change in the application of a particular accounting standard.

Our accounting policies that include significant estimates and assumptions include: (i) estimation for revenue recognition and multiple-element
arrangements, (ii) collectability of accounts receivable, (iii) amounts for future cancellations of bookings processed through our GDS, (iv) determination of the
fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in a business combination, (v) the evaluation of the recoverability of the carrying value of long-lived assets and
goodwill, (vi) assumptions utilized to test recoverability of capitalized implementation costs, (vii) amortization of deferred customer advances and discounts,
and (vii) the evaluation of uncertainties surrounding the calculation of our tax assets and liabilities. We regard an accounting estimate underlying our financial
statements as a “critical accounting estimate” if the accounting estimate requires us to make assumptions about matters that are uncertain at the time of
estimation and if changes in the estimate are reasonably likely to occur and could have a material effect on the presentation of financial condition, changes in
financial condition, or results of operations.

We have included below a discussion of the accounting policies involving material estimates and assumptions that we believe are most critical to the
preparation of our financial statements, how we apply such policies and how results differing from our estimates and assumptions would affect the amounts
presented in our financial statements. We have discussed the development, selection and disclosure of these accounting policies with our Audit Committee.
Although we believe these policies to be the most critical, other accounting policies also have a significant effect on our financial statements and certain of
these policies also require the use of estimates and assumptions. For further information about our significant accounting policies, see Note 1. Summary of
Business and Significant Accounting Policies, to our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition and Multiple-Element Arrangements

Our agreements with customers of our Airline Solutions business may have multiple deliverables which generally include software solutions through
SaaS and hosted delivery, professional service fees and implementation services. In addition, from time to time, we enter into agreements with customers to
provide access to Travel Network’s GDS and, at or near the same time, enter into a separate agreement to provide software solutions through SaaS and
hosted delivery. Due to these multiple-element arrangements, revenue recognition involves judgment, including estimates of the selling prices of goods and
services, assessments of the likelihood of nonpayment and estimates of total costs and costs to complete a project.

The professional and implementation services are generally performed in the early stages of the agreements. Access to our GDS is provided over the
full term of the contract. Software solutions through SaaS and hosted delivery are often not provided until implementation services are completed. We evaluate
revenue recognition for agreements with customers which generally are represented by individual contracts but could include groups of contracts if the
contracts are executed at or near the same time. Typically, access to our GDS and our professional service fees are separated from the implementation and
software hosting services. We account for separable elements on an individual basis with value assigned to each element based on its relative selling price. A
comprehensive market analysis is performed on a periodic basis to determine the range of selling prices for each product and service. In making these
judgments we analyze various factors, including competitive landscapes, value differentiators, continuous monitoring of market prices, customer segmentation
and overall market and economic conditions. Based on these results, estimated selling prices are set for each product and service delivered to customers.
Changes in judgments related to these items, or deterioration in industry or general economic conditions, could materially impact the timing and amount of
revenue and costs recognized. Revenue for professional service fees is generally recognized as the services are performed and revenue for implementation
services, access to our GDS and SaaS and hosted services is generally recognized on a transaction basis over the term of the agreement.

Accounts Receivable and Air Booking Cancellation Reserve

We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us (e.g., bankruptcy filings, failure to pay amounts due to us or others), we record a specific reserve for
bad debts against amounts due to reduce the net recorded receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other customers, we record
reserves for bad debts based on past write-off history (average percentage of receivables written off historically) and the length of time the receivables are past
due.
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Transaction revenue for airline travel reservations is recognized by Travel Network at the time of the booking of the reservation, net of estimated future
cancellations. Cancellations prior to the day of departure are estimated based on the historical level of cancellation rates, adjusted to take into account any
recent factors which could cause a change in those rates. In circumstances where expected cancellation rates or booking behavior changes, our estimates are
revised, and in these circumstances, future cancellation rates could vary materially, with a corresponding variation in revenue net of estimated future
cancellations. Factors that could have a significant effect on our estimates include global security issues, epidemics or pandemics, natural disasters, general
economic conditions, the financial condition of travel suppliers, and travel related accidents.

Business Combinations

Authoritative guidance for business combinations requires us to recognize separately from goodwill the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at
their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net of the acquisition date
fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While we use our best estimates and assumptions to accurately value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date as well as contingent consideration, where applicable, our estimates are inherently uncertain and, as a result, actual
results may differ from estimates.

Accounting for business combinations requires our management to make significant estimates and assumptions, especially at the acquisition date
including our estimates for intangible assets, contractual obligations assumed, pre-acquisition contingencies, contingent consideration, where applicable, and
previously-held investment interests. Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate,
they are based in part on historical experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies and are inherently uncertain.

Examples of critical estimates in valuing certain of the intangible assets we have acquired include, but are not limited to: future expected cash flows,
support agreements, consulting contracts, other customer contracts, acquired developed technologies and patents; the acquired company’s brand and
competitive position, as well as assumptions about the period of time the acquired brand will continue to be used in the combined company’s product portfolio;
and discount rates. Unanticipated events and circumstances may occur that may affect the accuracy or validity of such assumptions, estimates or actual
results.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certain pre-acquisition contingencies as of the acquisition date and may extend our review and evaluation of
these pre-acquisition contingencies throughout the measurement period in order to obtain sufficient information to assess whether we include these
contingencies as a part of the fair value estimates of assets acquired and liabilities assumed and, if so, to determine their estimated amounts. If we cannot
reasonably determine the fair value of a pre-acquisition contingency (non-income tax related) by the end of the measurement period, which is generally the
case given the nature of such matters, we will recognize an asset or a liability for such pre-acquisition contingency if: (i) it is probable that an asset existed or a
liability had been incurred at the acquisition date and (ii) the amount of the asset or liability can be reasonably estimated. Subsequent to the measurement
period, changes in our estimates of such contingencies will affect earnings and could have a material effect on our results of operations and financial position.

Depending on the circumstances, the fair value of contingent consideration is determined based on management’s best estimate of fair value given the
specific facts and circumstances of the contractual arrangement, considering the likelihood of payment, payment terms and management’s best estimates of
future performance results on the acquisition date, if applicable.

In addition, uncertain tax positions and tax related valuation allowances assumed in connection with a business combination are initially estimated as of
the acquisition date. We reevaluate these items quarterly based upon facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date with any adjustments to
our preliminary estimates being recorded to goodwill if identified within the measurement period. Subsequent to the measurement period or our final
determination of the tax allowance’s or contingency’s estimated value, whichever comes first, changes to these uncertain tax positions and tax-related
valuation allowances will affect our provision for income taxes in our consolidated statement of operations and could have a material impact on our results of
operations and financial position.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or when impairment indicators exist. We begin our evaluation with a qualitative assessment of
whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below. If it
is determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that the carrying value may not be recoverable, we perform a comparison of the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has been assigned to the sum of the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of that unit. If the sum of the
carrying value of the assets and liabilities of a reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value of that reporting unit, the carrying value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill is reduced to its fair value through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting in an impairment charge. Goodwill was assigned to each reporting
unit based on that reporting unit’s percentage of enterprise value as of the date of the acquisition of Sabre Corporation by TPG and Silver Lake plus goodwill
associated with acquisitions since that time. We have three reporting units associated with our continuing operations: Travel Network, Airline Solutions and
Hospitality Solutions.
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The fair values used in our evaluation are estimated using a combined approach based upon discounted future cash flow projections and observed
market multiples for comparable businesses. The cash flow projections are based upon a number of assumptions, including risk-adjusted discount rates, future
booking and transaction volume levels, future price levels, rates of growth in our consumer and corporate direct booking businesses and rates of increase in
operating expenses, cost of revenue and taxes. Additionally, in accordance with authoritative guidance on fair value measurements, we made a number of
assumptions, including assumptions related to market participants, the principal markets and highest and best use of the reporting units. We did not record any
goodwill impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. Goodwill related to our reporting units totaled $2.6 billion as of December 31,
2017. Changes in the assumptions used in our impairment testing may result in future impairment losses which could have a material impact on our results of
operations. A change of 10% in the future cash flow projections, risk-adjusted discount rates, and rates of growth used in our fair value calculations would not
result in impairment of the remaining goodwill for any of our reporting units.

Definite-lived intangible assets are assigned depreciable lives of two to thirty years, depending on classification, and are evaluated for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of definite-lived intangible assets used in combination to generate cash flows
largely independent of other assets may not be recoverable. If impairment indicators exist for definite-lived intangible assets, the undiscounted future cash
flows associated with the expected service potential of the assets are compared to the carrying value of the assets. If our projection of undiscounted future
cash flows is in excess of the carrying value of the intangible assets, no impairment charge is recorded. If our projection of undiscounted cash flows is less than
the carrying value, the intangible assets are then measured at fair value and an impairment charge is recorded based on the excess of the carrying value of the
assets over its fair value. We also evaluate the need for additional impairment disclosures based on our Level 3 inputs. For fair value measurements
categorized within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, we disclose the valuation processes used by the reporting entity. We did not record material intangible
asset impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

The most significant assumptions used in the discounted cash flows calculation to determine the fair value of our reporting units in connection with
impairment testing include: (i) the discount rate, (ii) the expected long-term growth rate and (iii) annual cash flow projections. See Note 10. Fair Value
Measurements, to our consolidated financial statements.

Capitalized Implementation Costs
Capitalized implementation costs represents upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS and hosted revenue model.

Capitalized implementation costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the related contract term, ranging from three to ten years, as they are recoverable
through deferred or future revenues associated with the relevant contract. These assets are reviewed for recoverability on a periodic basis or when an event
occurs that could impact the recoverability of the assets, such as a significant contract modification or early renewal of contract terms. Recoverability is
measured based on the future estimated revenue and direct costs of the contract compared to the capitalized implementation costs. We record an impairment
charge for the portion of the asset considered unrecoverable in the period identified, while considering the uncertainties associated with these types of
contracts and judgments made in estimating revenue and direct costs. During the year ended December 31, 2017, given the substantial amount of uncertainty
of reaching an agreement regarding the implementation of services pursuant to the contract with a customer in our Airline Solutions business, we assessed
recoverability of all balances with the customer which resulted in an impairment charge totaling $81 million, which included related capitalized implementation
costs. See Note 4. Impairment and Related Charges, to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.

Deferred Advances to Customers and Customer Discounts

Deferred advances to customers and customer discounts are amortized in future periods as the related revenue is earned. The assets are reviewed for
recoverability based on future contracted revenues and estimated direct costs of the contract when a significant event occurs that could impact the
recoverability of the assets, such as a significant contract modification or early renewal of contract terms. As noted above, we assessed recoverability of all
balances with an Airline Solutions customer during the year ended December 31, 2017, resulting in an impairment charge totaling $81 million, which included
related deferred customer advances and discounts. See Note 4. Impairment and Related Charges, to our consolidated financial statements for additional
information. Contracts are priced to generate total revenues over the life of the contract that exceed any discounts or advances provided and any upfront costs
incurred to implement the customer contract.

Income and Non-Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases
of assets and liabilities. We regularly review deferred tax assets by jurisdiction to assess their potential realization and establish a valuation allowance for
portions of such assets that we believe will not be ultimately realized. In performing this review, we make estimates and assumptions regarding projected future
taxable income, the expected timing of the reversals of existing temporary differences and the implementation of tax planning strategies. A change in these
assumptions could cause an increase or decrease to the valuation allowance resulting in an increase or decrease in the effective tax rate, which could
materially impact our results of operations. At year end, we had a valuation allowance on certain loss carryforwards based on our assessment that it is more
likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized. We believe that our estimates for the valuation allowances against deferred tax assets are
appropriate based on current facts and circumstances.
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We believe that it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain non-U.S. deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a result, we established and
maintain a valuation allowance on the non-U.S. deferred tax assets of our lastminute.com and other non-US subsidiaries of $55 million and $72 million as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Also it is more likely than not that the benefit from certain U.S. state deferred tax assets will not be realized. As a
result, we established and maintain a valuation allowance on these U.S. state deferred tax assets of $4 million and $3 million as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. We reassess these assumptions regularly, which could cause an increase or decrease to the valuation allowance resulting in an increase or
decrease in the effective tax rate, and could materially impact our results of operations.

As of December 31, 2017, we had approximately $548 million of NOLs for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result of an ownership change during
2007 and 2015 (as defined in Section 382 of the Code which imposes an annual limit on the ability of a corporation to use certain tax attributes), all of the U.S.
tax NOLs and credit carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation on their ability to be utilized. However, we expect that Section 382 will not limit our ability
to fully realize the tax benefits. Approximately $487 million of these NOLs are tax benefits subject to the TRA, which provides for the payment by us of 85% of
the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal income tax that we and our subsidiaries are deemed to realize as a result of the utilization of tax benefits.

We operate in numerous countries where our income tax returns are subject to audit and adjustment by local tax authorities. Because we operate
globally, the nature of the uncertain tax positions is often very complex and subject to change, and the amounts at issue can be substantial. It is inherently
difficult and subjective to estimate such amounts, as we have to determine the probability of various possible outcomes. We re-evaluate uncertain tax positions
on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited to, changes in facts or circumstances, changes in tax law, effectively settled
issues under audit and new audit activity. At December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had a liability, including interest and penalty, of $97 million and $71 million,
respectively, for unrecognized tax benefits, of which $93 million and $71 million, respectively, would affect our effective tax rate if recognized. Such a change in
recognition or measurement would result in the recognition of a tax benefit or an additional charge to the tax provision.

Loss Contingencies

While certain legal proceedings and related indemnification obligations to which we are a party specify the amounts claimed, these claims may not
represent reasonably possible losses. Given the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted, nor can the
amount of possible loss or range of loss, if any, be reasonably estimated, except in circumstances where an aggregate litigation accrual has been recorded for
probable and reasonably estimable loss contingencies. A determination of the amount of accrual required, if any, for these contingencies is made after careful
analysis of each matter. The required accrual may change in the future due to new information or developments in each matter or changes in approach such as
a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters. Changes in these factors could materially impact our results of operations.    
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Sabre Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sabre Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial
statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2017 and 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 16, 2018 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company's auditor since 1993.

Dallas, Texas
February 16, 2018, except for Note 1, Note 5, and Note 16 as to which the date is May 1, 2018
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Sabre Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Sabre Corporation's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017, based on criteria established in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our
opinion, Sabre Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2017,
based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, stockholders'
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2017, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the
Index at Item 15, and our report dated February 16, 2018, except Note 1, Note 5, and Note 16, as to which the date is May 1, 2018 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 16, 2018
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SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Revenue $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896

Cost of revenue 2,513,857  2,287,662  1,944,050

Selling, general and administrative 510,075  626,153  557,077

Impairment and related charges 81,112  —  —
Operating income 493,440  459,572  459,769

Other (expense) income:      
Interest expense, net (153,925)  (158,251)  (173,298)
Loss on extinguishment of debt (1,012)  (3,683)  (38,783)
Joint venture equity income 2,580  2,780  14,842
Other, net 36,530  27,617  91,377

Total other expense, net (115,827)  (131,537)  (105,862)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 377,613  328,035  353,907
Provision for income taxes 128,037  86,645  119,352
Income from continuing operations 249,576  241,390  234,555
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (1,932)  5,549  314,408
Net income 247,644  246,939  548,963
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 5,113  4,377  3,481
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 242,531  $ 242,562  $ 545,482

      
Basic net income per share attributable to common stockholders:      

Income from continuing operations $ 0.88  $ 0.85  $ 0.85
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.01)  0.02  1.15
Net income per common share $ 0.87  $ 0.87  $ 2.00

Diluted net income per share attributable to common stockholders:      
Income from continuing operations $ 0.88  $ 0.84  $ 0.83
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (0.01)  0.02  1.12
Net income per common share $ 0.87  $ 0.86  $ 1.95

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:      
Basic 276,893  277,546  273,139
Diluted 278,320  282,752  280,067

      
Dividend per common share $ 0.56  $ 0.52  $ 0.36

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

35



SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Net income $ 247,644  $ 246,939  $ 548,963
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      

Foreign currency translation adjustments (“CTA”):      
Foreign CTA gains (losses), net of tax 13,136  (1,265)  (4,382)
Reclassification adjustment for realized losses on foreign CTA, net of taxes of $0, $107 and

$12,152 —  (198)  (18,558)
Net change in foreign CTA gains (losses), net of tax 13,136  (1,463)  (22,940)

Retirement-related benefit plans:      
Net actuarial loss, net of taxes of $386, $9,701 and $2,273 (852)  (17,223)  (4,060)
Amortization of prior service credits, net of taxes of $517, $518 and $516 (915)  (914)  (915)
Amortization of actuarial losses, net of taxes of $(2,336), $(2,123) and $(2,545) 4,181  3,748  4,500
Net change in retirement-related benefit plans, net of tax 2,414  (14,389)  (475)

Derivatives and available-for-sale securities:      
Unrealized gains (losses), net of taxes of $(5,989), $2,214 and $5,753 16,068  4,307  (9,642)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains (losses), net of taxes of $(1,005), $1,170 and

$(3,312) 2,082  (13,422)  10,646
Net change in derivatives and available-for-sale securities, net of tax 18,150  (9,115)  1,004

Share of other comprehensive income (loss) of joint venture 615  (697)  (4,921)
Other comprehensive income (loss) 34,315  (25,664)  (27,332)
Comprehensive income 281,959  221,275  521,631
Less: Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests (5,113)  (4,377)  (3,481)
Comprehensive income attributable to Sabre Corporation $ 276,846  $ 216,898  $ 518,150

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except share amounts)

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Assets    

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 361,381  $ 364,114
Accounts receivable, net 490,558  400,667
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 108,753  88,600

Total current assets 960,692  853,381
Property and equipment, net 799,194  753,279
Investments in joint ventures 27,527  25,582
Goodwill 2,554,987  2,548,447
Acquired customer relationships, net 351,034  387,632
Other intangible assets, net 332,171  387,805
Deferred income taxes 31,817  95,285
Other assets, net 591,942  673,159

Total assets $ 5,649,364  $ 5,724,570

    
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity    
Current liabilities    

Accounts payable $ 162,755  $ 168,576
Accrued compensation and related benefits 112,343  102,037
Accrued subscriber incentives 271,200  216,011
Deferred revenues 110,532  187,108
Other accrued liabilities 198,353  222,879
Current portion of debt 57,138  169,246
Tax Receivable Agreement 59,826  100,501

Total current liabilities 972,147  1,166,358
Deferred income taxes 99,801  88,957
Other noncurrent liabilities 480,185  567,359
Long-term debt 3,398,731  3,276,281
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)  
Stockholders’ equity    

Common stock: $0.01 par value; 450,000,000 authorized shares; 289,137,901 and 285,461,125 shares issued,
274,342,175 and 276,949,802 shares outstanding at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively 2,891  2,854

Additional paid-in capital 2,174,187  2,105,843
Treasury stock, at cost, 14,795,726 and 8,511,323 shares at December 31, 2017 and 2016 respectively (341,846)  (221,746)
Retained deficit (1,053,446)  (1,141,116)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (88,484)  (122,799)
Noncontrolling interest 5,198  2,579

Total stockholders’ equity 698,500  625,615

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 5,649,364  $ 5,724,570

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Operating Activities      

Net income $ 247,644  $ 246,939  $ 548,963
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 400,871  413,986  351,480
Impairment and related charges 81,112  —  —
Amortization of upfront incentive consideration 67,411  55,724  43,521
Tax Receivable Agreement (59,603)  —  —
Deferred income taxes 48,760  48,454  97,225
Stock-based compensation expense 44,689  48,524  29,971
Debt modification costs 14,758  —  —
Allowance for doubtful accounts 9,459  10,567  8,558
Amortization of debt issuance costs 5,923  9,611  6,759
Joint venture equity income (2,580)  (2,780)  (14,842)
Loss (income) from discontinued operations 1,932  (5,549)  (314,408)
Dividends received from joint venture investments 1,088  640  28,700
Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,012  3,683  38,783
Litigation-related credits —  (25,527)  (60,998)
Gain on remeasurement of previously-held joint venture interest —  —  (78,082)
Other 13,284  (5,426)  3,556
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts and other receivables (108,596)  (12,949)  10,662
Upfront incentive consideration (94,296)  (70,702)  (63,510)
Capitalized implementation costs (60,766)  (83,405)  (63,382)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 109  (11,809)  (13,255)
Other assets (21,111)  (2,799)  (66,873)
Accounts payable and other accrued liabilities 67,034  56,787  8,721
Deferred revenue including upfront solution fees 13,861  22,663  9,390
Accrued compensation and related benefits 6,038  2,768  18,268

Cash provided by operating activities 678,033  699,400  529,207
Investing Activities      

Additions to property and equipment (316,436)  (327,647)  (286,697)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  (164,120)  (442,344)
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities —  45,959  —
Other investing activities (1,089)  —  —

Cash used in investing activities (317,525)  (445,808)  (729,041)
Financing Activities      

Proceeds of borrowings from lenders 1,897,625  1,055,000  1,252,000
Payments on borrowings from lenders (1,880,506)  (999,868)  (960,807)
Cash dividends paid to common stockholders (154,861)  (144,355)  (98,596)
Repurchase of common stock (109,100)  (100,000)  (98,770)
Payments on Tax Receivable Agreement (99,241)  —  —
Debt prepayment fees and issuance costs (19,052)  (11,377)  (52,674)
Net proceeds on the settlement of equity-based awards 12,647  27,344  47,414
Other financing activities (4,292)  (16,769)  4,577

Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (356,780)  (190,025)  93,144
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations      

Cash (used in) provided by operating activities (4,848)  (19,478)  236
Cash provided by investing activities —  —  278,834

Cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations (4,848)  (19,478)  279,070
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (1,613)  (1,107)  (6,927)
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,733)  42,982  165,453
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 364,114  321,132  155,679

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 361,381  $ 364,114  $ 321,132

Cash payments for income taxes $ 40,211  $ 39,032  $ 27,816

Cash payments for interest $ 149,572  $ 151,495  $ 154,307
Capitalized interest $ 11,142 $ 13,887 $ 11,981



  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SABRE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands, except share data)
 

  Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

  Common Stock  
Additional

Paid in
Capital

 Treasury Stock  
Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)

 Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

 
Noncontrolling

Interest

 
Total

Stockholders'
Equity

  Shares  Amount   Shares  Amount     

Balance at December 31, 2014  268,237,547  $ 2,682  $ 1,931,796  437,386  $ (5,297)  $ (1,775,616)  $ (69,803)  $ 621  $ 84,383

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  —  —  545,482  (27,332)  3,481  521,631

Common stock dividends  —  —  —  —  —  (98,596)  —  —  (98,596)

Repurchase of common stock  —  —  —  3,400,000  (98,770)  —  —  —  (98,770)

Settlement of stock-based awards  10,844,926  108  54,425  289,257  (6,481)  —  —  —  48,052

Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  30,104  —  —  —  —  —  30,104

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest on
subsidiary common stock  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (2,664)  (2,664)

Balance at December 31, 2015  279,082,473  2,790  2,016,325  4,126,643  (110,548)  (1,328,730)  (97,135)  1,438  484,140

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  —  —  242,562  (25,664)  4,377  221,275

Common stock dividends  —  —  —  —  —  (144,307)  —  —  (144,307)

Repurchase of common stock  —  —  —  3,980,672  (100,000)  —  —  —  (100,000)

Settlement of stock-based awards  6,378,652  64  38,602  404,008  (11,198)  —  —  —  27,468

Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  48,524  —  —  —  —  —  48,524

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest on
subsidiary common stock  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (3,236)  (3,236)

Adoption of New Accounting Standard  —  —  2,392  —  —  89,359  —  —  91,751

Balance at December 31, 2016  285,461,125  2,854  2,105,843  8,511,323  (221,746)  (1,141,116)  (122,799)  2,579  625,615

Comprehensive income  —  —  —  —  —  242,531  34,315  5,113  281,959

Common stock dividends  —  —  —  —  —  (154,861)  —  —  (154,861)

Repurchase of common stock  —  —  —  5,779,769  (109,100)  —  —  —  (109,100)

Settlement of stock-based awards  3,676,776  37  23,655  504,634  (11,000)  —  —  —  12,692

Stock-based compensation expense  —  —  44,689  —  —  —  —  —  44,689

Dividends paid to non-controlling interest on
subsidiary common stock  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (2,494)  (2,494)

Balance at December 31, 2017  289,137,901  $ 2,891  $ 2,174,187  14,795,726  $ (341,846)  $ (1,053,446)  $ (88,484)  $ 5,198  $ 698,500

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SABRE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Sabre Corporation is a Delaware corporation formed in December 2006. On March 30, 2007, Sabre Corporation acquired Sabre Holdings Corporation
(“Sabre Holdings”). Sabre Holdings is the sole subsidiary of Sabre Corporation. Sabre GLBL Inc. (“Sabre GLBL”) is the principal operating subsidiary and sole
direct subsidiary of Sabre Holdings. Sabre GLBL or its direct or indirect subsidiaries conduct all of our businesses. In these consolidated financial statements,
references to “Sabre,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” “ours,” and “us” refer to Sabre Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries unless otherwise stated or the
context otherwise requires.

We connect people and places with technology that reimagines the business of travel. Effective the first quarter of 2018, we operate through three
business segments: (i) Travel Network, our global travel marketplace for travel suppliers and travel buyers, (ii) Airline Solutions, a broad portfolio of software
technology products and solutions for airlines and other travel suppliers, and (iii) Hospitality Solutions, an extensive suite of leading software solutions for
hoteliers.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).
We consolidate all majority owned subsidiaries and companies over which we exercise control through majority voting rights. No entities are consolidated due
to control through operating agreements, financing agreements, or as the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity. The consolidated financial statements
include our accounts after elimination of all significant intercompany balances and transactions. All dollar amounts in the financial statements and the tables in
the notes, except per share amounts, are stated in thousands of U.S. dollars unless otherwise indicated. All amounts in the notes reference results from
continuing operations unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of these annual financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that certain amounts be recorded based on estimates and
assumptions made by management. Actual results could differ from these estimates and assumptions. Our accounting policies, which include significant
estimates and assumptions, include, among other things, estimation of the collectability of accounts receivable, amounts for future cancellations of bookings
processed through the Sabre GDS, revenue recognition for software arrangements, determination of the fair value of assets and liabilities acquired in a
business combination, determination of the fair value of derivatives, the evaluation of the recoverability of the carrying value of intangible assets and goodwill,
assumptions utilized in the determination of pension and other postretirement benefit liabilities, estimation of loss contingencies, and evaluation of uncertainties
surrounding the calculation of our tax assets and liabilities.

Revenue Recognition

We employ a number of revenue models across our businesses, depending on the dynamics of the industry segment and the technology on which the
revenue is based. Some revenue models are used in multiple businesses. Travel Network primarily employs the transaction revenue model. Airline Solutions
and Hospitality Solutions primarily employ the SaaS and hosted and professional service fees revenue models, as well as the software licensing fee model to a
lesser extent for Airline Solutions. Contracts with the same customer which are entered into at or around the same period are analyzed for revenue recognition
purposes on a combined basis across our businesses which can impact our revenue recognized.

We report revenue net of any revenue based taxes assessed by governmental authorities that are imposed on and concurrent with specific revenue
producing transactions.

Transaction Revenue Model—This model accounts for substantially all of Travel Network’s revenues. We define a direct billable booking as any booking
that generates a fee directly to Travel Network. Transaction fees include, but are not limited to, transaction fees paid by travel suppliers for selling their
inventory through the Sabre global distribution system (“GDS”) and transaction fees paid by travel agency subscribers related to their use of the Sabre GDS.
Pursuant to this model, a transaction occurs when a travel agency or corporate travel department books, or reserves, a travel supplier’s product on the Sabre
GDS. We receive revenue from a travel supplier, travel agency or corporate travel department depending upon the commercial arrangement represented in
each of their contracts. Transaction revenue for airline travel reservations is recognized at the time of the booking of the reservation, net of estimated future
cancellations. Our transaction fee cancellation reserve, calculated based on our historical experience, was $16 million and $14 million at December 31, 2017
and 2016, respectively. Transaction revenue for car rental, hotel bookings and other travel providers is recognized at the time the reservation is used by the
customer. We evaluate whether it is appropriate to record the gross amount of our revenues and related costs by considering a number of factors, including,
among other things, whether we are the primary obligor under the arrangement, change the product or perform part of the service and have latitude in
establishing prices.
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Software-as-a-Service and Hosted Revenue Model—SaaS and hosted is the primary revenue model employed by Airline Solutions and Hospitality
Solutions. In this revenue model, we host software solutions on secure platforms, or deploy it through our SaaS solutions, we maintain the software and
manage the related infrastructure. Our customers, which include airlines, airports and hotel companies, pay us an upfront solutions fee and a recurring usage-
based fee for the use of the software pursuant to contracts with terms that typically range between three and ten years and generally include minimum annual
volume requirements. This usage-based fee arrangement allows our customers to pay for software normally on a monthly basis, to the extent that it is used.
Contracts with the same customer which are entered into at or around the same period are analyzed for revenue recognition purposes on a combined basis.
Revenue from upfront solution fees is generally recognized over the term of the agreement beginning when the solution is implemented. The amount of
periodic usage fees is typically based on a metric relevant to the software’s purpose. We recognize revenue from recurring usage based fees in the period
earned, which typically fluctuates based on a real time metric, such as the actual number of passengers boarded or the actual number of hotel bookings made
in a given month and may differ from contractual minimums, if applicable.

Professional Service Fees Revenue Model—Our SaaS and hosted offerings can be sold as part of multiple element agreements for which we also
provide professional services. Our professional services are primarily focused on helping customers achieve better utilization of and return on their software
investment. Often we provide these services during the implementation phase of our SaaS solutions. In such cases, we account for professional service
revenue separately from upfront solution fees and recurring usage-based fees, with value assigned to each element based on its relative selling price to the
total selling price. We perform a market analysis on a periodic basis to determine the range of selling prices for each product and service. Estimated selling
prices are set for each product and service delivered to customers. The revenue for professional services is generally recognized over the period the services
are performed, once any acceptance criteria is met.

Software Licensing Fee Revenue Model—The software licensing fee revenue model is utilized by Airline Solutions. Under this model, we generate
revenue by charging customers for the installation and use of our software products. Some contracts under this model generate additional revenue for the
maintenance of the software product. When software is sold without associated customization or implementation services, revenue from software licensing
fees is recognized when all of the following are met: (i) the software is delivered, (ii) fees are fixed or determinable, (iii) no undelivered elements are essential
to the functionality of delivered software, and (iv) collection is probable. When software is sold with customization or implementation services, revenue from
software licensing fees is recognized based on the percentage of completion of the customization and implementation services. Fees for software maintenance
are recognized ratably over the life of the contract. We are unable to determine vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for software maintenance fees.
Therefore, when fees for software maintenance are included in software license agreements, revenue from the software license, customization, implementation
and the maintenance are recognized ratably over the related contract term.

Incentive Consideration

Certain service contracts with significant travel agency customers contain booking productivity clauses and other provisions that allow travel agency
customers to receive cash payments or other consideration. We establish liabilities for these commitments and recognize the related expense as these travel
agencies earn incentive consideration based on the applicable contractual terms. Periodically, we make cash payments to these travel agencies at inception or
modification of a service contract which are capitalized and amortized to cost of revenue over the expected life of the service contract, which is generally three
to five years. Deferred charges related to such contracts are recorded in other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The service contracts are priced
so that the additional airline and other booking fees generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentive consideration provided. Incentive
consideration paid to the travel agency represents a commission paid to the travel agency for booking travel on our GDS and the amounts paid to travel
agencies represent fair value for the services provided.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs incurred by our continuing operations totaled $18 million, $24 million and $19 million for
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. We did not have any advertising costs incurred by our discontinued Travelocity segment in
2017 and 2016 and these costs totaled $10 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, which are included in net (loss) income from discontinued
operations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

We classify all highly liquid instruments, including money market funds and money market securities with original maturities of three months or less, as
cash equivalents.

41



Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Concentration of Credit Risk

We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on a combination of factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific
customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to us, such as bankruptcy filings or failure to pay amounts due to us or others, we record a specific reserve
for bad debts against amounts due to reduce the recorded receivable to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. For all other customers, we record
reserves for bad debts based on historical experience and the length of time the receivables are past due. We maintained an allowance for doubtful accounts
of approximately $43 million and $37 million at December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2014, we have recorded specific reserves against all accounts receivable outstanding due to us from all airlines in Venezuela and
are deferring the recognition of any future revenues until cash is collected. Accounts receivable outstanding from customers in Venezuela totaled $25 million
and $19 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, which will be recognized as revenue when cash is received. In 2017 and early 2018, we discontinued
services to certain carriers in Venezuela with outstanding receivable balances of $17 million as of December 31, 2017. We do not believe that these amounts
are collectible, and these amounts are fully reserved. Effective January 1, 2018, the new revenue recognition standard described below will result in a change
to the ongoing accounting treatment for customers accounted for on a cash basis. We do not anticipate this change will result in a material impact to our
consolidated financial statements.

Our customers are primarily located in the United States, Canada, Europe, Latin America and Asia, and are concentrated in the travel industry. We
generate a significant portion of our revenues and corresponding accounts receivable from services provided to the commercial air travel industry. As of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, approximately $357 million, or 77%, and $274 million, or 74%, respectively, of our trade accounts receivable were attributable to
these customers, in each case excluding balances associated with our discontinued Travelocity segment. Our other accounts receivable are generally due from
other participants in the travel and transportation industry. Substantially all of our accounts receivable represents trade balances. We generally do not require
security or collateral from our customers as a condition of sale.

We regularly monitor the financial condition of the air transportation industry. We believe the credit risk related to the air carriers’ difficulties is
significantly mitigated by the fact that we collect a significant portion of the receivables from these carriers through the Airline Clearing House (“ACH”) and
other similar clearing houses. As of December 31, 2017, approximately 81% of our air customers make payments through the ACH which accounts for
approximately 95% of our air revenue. For these carriers, we believe the use of ACH mitigates our credit risk with respect to airline bankruptcies. For those
carriers from which we do not collect payments through the ACH or other similar clearing houses, our credit risk is higher. We monitor these carriers and
account for the related credit risk through our normal reserve policies.

Derivative Financial Instruments

We recognize all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. If the derivative is designated as a hedge, depending on the nature of the
hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives are offset against the change in fair value of the hedged item through earnings (a “fair value hedge”) or
recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in earnings (a “cash flow hedge”). The ineffective portion of the change in fair
value of a derivative designated as a hedge is immediately recognized in earnings. For derivative instruments not designated as hedging instruments, the gain
or loss resulting from the change in fair value is recognized in current earnings during the period of change. No hedging ineffectiveness was recorded in
earnings during the periods presented.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization, which is calculated on the straight-line basis. Our
depreciation and amortization policies are as follows:

Buildings Lesser of lease term or 35 years
Leasehold improvements Lesser of lease term or useful life
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 15 years
Equipment, general office and computer 3 to 5 years
Software developed for internal use 3 to 5 years
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We capitalize certain costs related to our infrastructure, software applications and reservation systems under authoritative guidance on software
developed for internal use. Capitalizable costs consist of (a) certain external direct costs of materials and services incurred in developing or obtaining internal
use computer software and (b) payroll and payroll related costs for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to our GDS and web-
related development projects. Costs incurred during the preliminary project stage or costs incurred for data conversion activities and training, maintenance and
general and administrative or overhead costs are expensed as incurred. Costs that cannot be separated between maintenance of, and relatively minor
upgrades and enhancements to, internal use software are also expensed as incurred. See Note 6. Balance Sheet Components, for amounts capitalized as
property and equipment in our consolidated balance sheets. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment totaled $256 million, $226 million and
$214 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Amortization of software developed for internal use, included in depreciation
and amortization, totaled $203 million, $176 million and $170 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Property and equipment are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets
used in combination to generate cash flows largely independent of other assets may not be recoverable. We did not record any property and equipment
impairment charges for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015.

Business Combinations

Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. Under this method, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are recognized at their respective fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess, if any, of the acquisition price over the fair values of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is recorded as goodwill. For significant acquisitions, we utilize third-party appraisal firms to assist us in determining the fair values for
certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The measurement of these fair values requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions which are
inherently uncertain.

Adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are made until we obtain all relevant information regarding the facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date (the “measurement period”), not to exceed one year from the date of the acquisition. In the third quarter of
2015, we adopted ASU 2015-16, Simplifying the Accounting for Measurement-Period Adjustments, which requires us to recognize measurement-period
adjustments in the period in which we determine the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any amounts we would have recorded in previous periods if
the accounting had been completed at the acquisition date.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired in business combinations. Goodwill
is not amortized but are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if events and circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. Definite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis and assigned useful economic lives of two to thirty years, depending on
classification. The useful economic lives are evaluated on an annual basis.

We perform our annual assessment of possible impairment of goodwill as of October 1 of each year. We begin with the qualitative assessment of
whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative assessment described below. If it
is determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that the carrying value may not be recoverable, we perform a comparison of the estimated fair
value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill has been assigned to the sum of the carrying value of the assets and liabilities of that unit. If the sum of the
carrying value of the assets and liabilities of a reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair value of that reporting unit, the carrying value of the reporting unit’s
goodwill is reduced to its fair value through an adjustment to the goodwill balance, resulting in an impairment charge. We have three reporting units associated
with our continuing operations: Travel Network, Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions. We did not record any goodwill impairment charges for the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016. See Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for additional information.

Definite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of definite
lived intangible assets used in combination to generate cash flows largely independent of other assets may not be recoverable. If impairment indicators exist
for definite-lived intangible assets, the undiscounted future cash flows associated with the expected service potential of the assets are compared to the carrying
value of the assets. If our projection of undiscounted future cash flows is in excess of the carrying value of the intangible assets, no impairment charge is
recorded. If our projection of undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value, the intangible assets are measured at fair value and an impairment
charge is recorded based on the excess of the carrying value of the assets to its fair value. We did not record material intangible asset impairment charges for
the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. See Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets, for additional information.
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Equity Method Investments

We utilize the equity method to account for our interests in joint ventures and investments in stock of other companies that we do not control but over
which we exert significant influence. We periodically evaluate equity and debt investments in entities accounted for under the equity method for impairment by
reviewing updated financial information provided by the investee, including valuation information from new financing transactions by the investee and
information relating to competitors of investees when available. On July 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 65% interest in Abacus
International Pte Ltd, now named Sabre Asia Pacific Pte Ltd (“SAPPL”), a former joint venture, which we previously accounted for under the equity method. In
addition to the acquisition in SAPPL, we also own voting interests in various national marketing companies ranging from 20% to 49% , a voting interest of 40%
in ESS Elektroniczne Systemy Spzedazy Sp. zo.o, and a voting interest of 20% in Asiana Sabre, Inc. The carrying value of these investments in joint venture
amounts to $24 million and $22 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Capitalized Implementation Costs

We incur upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS revenue model. We capitalize these costs, including (a) certain external
direct costs of materials and services incurred to implement a customer contract and (b) payroll and payroll related costs for employees who are directly
associated with and devote time to implementation activities. Capitalized implementation costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the related contract
term, ranging from three to ten years, as they are recoverable through deferred or future revenues associated with the relevant contract. These assets are
reviewed for recoverability on a periodic basis or when an event occurs that could impact the recoverability of the assets, such as a significant contract
modification or early renewal of contract terms. Recoverability is measured based on the future estimated revenue and direct costs of the contract compared to
the capitalized implementation costs. See Note 6. Balance Sheet Components, for amounts capitalized within other assets, net in our consolidated balance
sheets. Amortization of capitalized implementation costs, included in depreciation and amortization, totaled $40 million, $37 million and $31 million for the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Deferred Customer Advances and Discounts

Deferred advances to customers and customer discounts are amortized in future periods as the related revenue is earned. The assets are reviewed for
recoverability based on future contracted revenues and estimated direct costs of the contract. Contracts are priced to generate total revenues over the life of
the contract that exceed any discounts or advances provided and any upfront costs incurred to implement the customer contract.

Income Taxes

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and income tax basis of assets and liabilities
and are measured using the tax rates and laws in effect at the time of such determination. We regularly review our deferred tax assets for recoverability and a
valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In assessing the need for a
valuation allowance, we make estimates and assumptions regarding projected future taxable income, our ability to carry back operating losses to prior periods,
the reversal of deferred tax liabilities and implementation of tax planning strategies. We reassess these assumptions regularly which could cause an increase
or decrease to the valuation allowance resulting in an increase or decrease in the effective tax rate, and could materially impact our results of operations.

We recognize liabilities when we believe that an uncertain tax position may not be fully sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Liabilities are
recognized for uncertain tax positions that do not pass a two-step approach for recognition and measurement. First, we evaluate the tax position for recognition
by determining if based solely on its technical merits, it is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination. Secondly, for positions that pass the first step,
we measure the tax benefit as the largest amount which is more than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We recognize penalties and
interest accrued related to income taxes as a component of the provision for income taxes.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”), which was enacted on December 22, 2017, imposes a tax on global low-taxed intangible income (“GILTI”) in
tax years beginning after December 31, 2017. GILTI provisions are applicable to certain profits of a controlled foreign corporation that exceed the U.S.
stockholder's deemed “routine” investment return under the TCJA and results in income includable in the return of U.S. shareholders. We recognize liabilities, if
any, related to this provision of the TCJA in the year in which the liability arises and not as a deferred tax liability.
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Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

We recognize the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans in our consolidated balance sheets. The
funded status is the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the benefit obligation as of the balance sheet date. The fair value of plan assets
represents the cumulative contributions made to fund the pension and other postretirement benefit plans which are invested primarily in domestic and foreign
equities and fixed income securities. The benefit obligation of our pension and other postretirement benefit plans are actuarially determined using certain
assumptions approved by us. The benefit obligation is adjusted annually in the fourth quarter to reflect actuarial changes and may also be adjusted upon the
adoption of plan amendments. These adjustments are initially recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and are subsequently amortized
over the life expectancy of the plan participants as a component of net periodic benefit costs.

Equity-Based Compensation

We account for our stock awards and options by recognizing compensation expense, measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award,
on a straight-line basis over the award vesting period, giving consideration as to whether the amount of compensation cost recognized at any date is equal to
the portion of grant date value that is vested at that date. With the adoption of ASU 2016-09, we recognize equity-based compensation expense net of any
actual forfeitures.

We measure the grant date fair value of stock option awards as calculated by the Black-Scholes option-pricing model which requires certain subjective
assumptions, including the expected term of the option, the expected volatility of our common stock, risk-free interest rates and expected dividend yield. The
expected term is estimated by using the “simplified method” which is based on the midpoint between the vesting date and the expiration of the contractual
term. We utilized the simplified method due to the lack of sufficient historical experience under our current grant terms. The expected volatility is based on both
the historical volatility of our stock price as well as implied volatilities from exchange traded options on our stock. The expected risk-free interest rates are
based on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities appropriate for the expected term of the stock options. The expected dividend yield was based
on the calculated yield on our common stock at the time of grant assuming annual dividends totaling $0.56 per share for awards granted in 2017.

Foreign Currency

We remeasure foreign currency transactions into the relevant functional currency and record the foreign currency transaction gains or losses as a
component of other, net in our consolidated statements of operations. We translate the financial statements of our non-U.S. dollar functional currency foreign
subsidiaries into U.S. dollars in consolidation and record the translation gains or losses as a component of other comprehensive income (loss). Translation
gains or losses of foreign subsidiaries related to divested businesses are reclassified into earnings as a component of other, net in our consolidated statements
of operations once the liquidation of the respective foreign subsidiaries is substantially complete. The majority of our foreign subsidiaries related to divested
businesses are classified as discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations.

Adoption of New Accounting Standards

In May 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued updated guidance regarding changes to the terms or conditions of a share-
based payment award which requires an entity to apply modification accounting under the current standard on stock compensation. Under this updated
standard, a new fair value measurement is assessed on the modified award, with any incremental fair value of the new award recognized as additional
compensation cost. The Accounting Standard Update ("ASU") is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2017, with early adoption permitted.
We adopted this standard in the third quarter of 2017, which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance to state that registrants should consider additional qualitative disclosures if the impact of an issued
but not yet adopted ASU is unknown or cannot be reasonably estimated and to include a description of the effect of the accounting policies that the registrant
expects to apply, if determined. Transition guidance included in certain issued but not yet adopted ASUs was also updated to reflect this amendment. The
updated guidance was effective upon issuance and we have adopted this standard and have made the required disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued an updated guidance simplifying the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating “Step 2” from the goodwill
impairment test. The updated guidance is effective for public companies’ annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after December
15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. We early adopted this
standard in the fourth quarter of 2017, which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance clarifying the definition of a business to help companies evaluate whether transactions should be
accounted for as acquisitions or disposals of assets or businesses. The amendments in this update are effective for public companies for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those periods. Early adoption is permitted in any interim or annual period provided that the
entire ASU is adopted. We early adopted this standard effective first quarter of 2017, which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
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In October 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance which requires the recognition of the income tax consequences of an intra-entity transfer of an
asset, other than inventory, when the transfer occurs. The updated guidance will be effective in the first quarter of 2018 and early adoption is permitted. We
early adopted this standard effective first quarter of 2017, which did not impact our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued an updated guidance on how companies present and classify certain cash receipts and cash payments in the
statement of cash flows. The updated guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, and interim periods within those fiscal years for
public business entities. Early adoption is permitted in any interim or annual period provided that the entire ASU is adopted. We early adopted this standard
effective fourth quarter of 2016, which did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In the first quarter of 2016, we adopted ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. This guidance was issued by the
FASB under their initiative to reduce complexity in financial reporting. The amendments of the updated standard include, among other things, the requirement
to recognize excess tax benefits (or deficiencies) through earnings, the election of a policy to either estimate forfeitures when determining periodic expense or
recognize actual forfeitures when they occur, and an increase in the allowable income tax withholding from the minimum to the maximum statutory rate. In
recent years, we have realized significant excess tax benefits associated with settled equity-based awards that have not been recognized due to certain
accounting policy elections we made under the previous accounting standard, combined with the significant amount of our net operating loss carryforwards. As
a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-09, we recorded a cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2016 to increase retained earnings by $92 million with a
corresponding increase to deferred tax assets in order to recognize excess tax benefits that can be used to reduce income taxes payable in the future.
Effective January 1, 2016, excess tax benefits or deficiencies are recognized in our results of operations and are included in cash flows from operating
activities in our statement of cash flows. In accordance with the updated standard, we elected to recognize actual forfeitures of equity-based awards as they
occur. As we previously estimated forfeitures to determine stock-based compensation expense, this change resulted in a cumulative effect adjustment as of
January 1, 2016 to reduce retained earnings by $2 million, net of tax. For the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we recognized $5 million and $35
million, respectively, in excess tax benefits associated with employee equity-based awards, as a result of the adoption of this standard. There were no other
material impacts to our consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting this updated standard.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance to expand and simplify the application of hedge accounting. The updated standard eliminates the
requirement to separately measure and report hedge ineffectiveness and generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be
presented in the same income statement line as the hedged item. The guidance also eases certain documentation and assessment requirements and modifies
the accounting for components excluded from the assessment of hedge effectiveness. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15,
2018, with early adoption permitted. We do not expect that the adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

In March 2017, the FASB issued updated guidance improving the presentation requirements related to reporting the service cost component of net
benefit costs to require that the service cost component be reported in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from services rendered
by the pertinent employees during the period, disaggregating the component from other net benefit costs. Net benefit cost is composed of several items, which
reflect different aspects of an employer's financial arrangements as well as the cost of benefits earned by employees. The updated guidance is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within those annual periods for public business entities. We do not expect that the
adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance requiring organizations that lease assets—referred to as "lessees"—to recognize on the balance
sheet the assets and liabilities for the rights and obligations created by those leases, when the lease has a term of more than 12 months. The updated
standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2018. We are currently
evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In January 2016, the FASB issued updated guidance on accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the
presentation and disclosure for financial instruments. Under this updated standard, entities must measure equity investments at fair value and recognize
changes in fair value in net income. For equity investments without readily determinable fair values, entities have the option to either measure these
investments at fair value or at cost adjusted for changes in observable prices less impairment. The updated guidance does not apply to equity method
investments or investments in consolidated subsidiaries. This new standard is effective for public companies for annual periods, including interim periods,
beginning after December 15, 2017. We do not expect that the adoption of this updated standard will have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
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In May 2014, the FASB issued a comprehensive update to revenue recognition guidance that will replace current standards. Under the updated
standard, revenue is recognized when a company transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is
expected to be received for those goods and services. The updated standard also requires additional disclosures on the nature, timing, and uncertainty of
revenue and related cash flows. On July 9, 2015, the FASB approved to defer the effective date of the new standard which is now effective for annual and
interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. We have adopted this new standard as of January 1, 2018 using the modified retrospective
transition method which will result in a cumulative adjustment as of the date of the adoption. We have substantially completed our evaluation of the guidance
and determined the key areas of impact on our financial results and are currently in the process of quantifying the impacts. Our quantification of the impacts is
ongoing and will not be finalized until the period of adoption. To date, our assessments have identified the following anticipated impacts:

• We do not expect significant changes to revenue recognition for our Travel Network and Hospitality Solutions businesses

• Our Airline Solutions business is expected to primarily be impacted by the new standard due to the following:

– Under current revenue recognition guidance, we recognize revenue related to license fee and maintenance agreements ratably over the life of
the contract. Under the new guidance, revenue for license fees will be recognized upon delivery of the license and ongoing maintenance
services will continue to be recognized ratably over the length of the contract. For existing open agreements, this change will result in a
beginning balance sheet adjustment and reduced revenue in subsequent years from these agreements, and before the impact of new sales.

– Allocation of contract revenues among various products and solutions, and the timing of the recognition of those revenues, will be impacted by
agreements with tiered pricing or variable rate structures that do not correspond with the goods or services delivered to the customer. For
existing open agreements, this change will also result in a beginning balance sheet adjustment and reduced revenue in subsequent years from
these agreements.

– In the year of adoption, as a result of the new revenue recognition standard, the changes detailed above will result in a significant beginning
balance sheet adjustment and we preliminarily estimate our consolidated revenue could be reduced by approximately $40 million to $50 million.

• Capitalization of incremental costs to obtain a contract (such as sales commissions), and recognition of these costs over the contract period will result
in the recognition of an asset on our balance sheet and will impact our Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions segments. We currently expect that
our results of operations will not be significantly impacted from the capitalization of these incremental costs.

We anticipate that the impacts described above will result in a net reduction to our opening retained deficit as of January 1, 2018 of approximately
$100 million to $130 million with a corresponding increase in current and long-term unbilled receivables, contract assets and other assets. Implications to tax
related accounts are not included in these estimated amounts.

Our assessment of each of the foregoing is ongoing and subject to finalization, such that the actual impact of the adoption may differ materially from
the estimated ranges described above.

We are continuing to evaluate the impacts of the new guidance to our results of operations, current accounting policies, processes, controls, systems
and financial statement disclosures.

2. Acquisitions

Airpas Aviation

In April 2016, we completed the acquisition of Airpas Aviation, a software provider and consultancy company which offers route profitability and cost
management software solutions. We acquired all of the outstanding stock and ownership interest of Airpas Aviation for net cash consideration of $9 million.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. The allocation of purchase price includes $12
million of assets acquired, primarily consisting of $5 million of goodwill, not deductible for tax purposes, and $5 million of intangible assets. The intangible
assets consist mainly of $4 million of acquired customer relationships with a useful life of 10 years and $1 million of purchased technology with a useful life of 5
years. Airpas Aviation is integrated and managed as part of our Airline Solutions segment. The acquisition of Airpas Aviation did not have a material impact to
our consolidated financial statements, and therefore pro forma information is not presented.

Trust Group

In January 2016, we completed the acquisition of the Trust Group, a central reservations, revenue management and hotel
marketing provider, expanding our presence in Europe, the Middle East, and Africa ("EMEA") and Asia Pacific ("APAC"). The net cash consideration for the
Trust Group was $156 million. The acquisition was funded using proceeds from our 5.25% senior secured notes due in 2023 and cash on hand. The Trust
Group has been integrated and is managed as part of our Hospitality Solutions segment.
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Purchase Price Allocation

A summary of the acquisition price and estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition is as follows (in
thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,209
Accounts receivable 10,564
Other current assets 917
Goodwill 98,930

Intangible assets:  
Customer relationships 52,292
Purchased technology 23,362
Trademarks and brand names 2,183

Property and equipment, net 1,556
Current liabilities (11,091)
Deferred income taxes (22,548)

Total acquisition price $ 160,374

The goodwill recognized reflects expected synergies from combined operations and also the acquired assembled workforce of the Trust Group in EMEA
and APAC. The goodwill recognized is assigned to our Hospitality Solutions segment and is not deductible for tax purposes. The weighted-average useful lives
of the intangible assets acquired are 13 years for customer relationships, 2 years for purchased technology and 2 years for trademarks and brand names.

The acquisition of the Trust Group did not have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements, and therefore pro forma information is not
presented.

Abacus

On July 1, 2015, we completed the acquisition of the remaining 65% interest in Abacus International Pte Ltd, a Singapore-based business-to-business
travel e-commerce provider that serves the Asia-Pacific region, which is now named SAPPL. Prior to the acquisition, SAPPL was 65% owned by a consortium
of 11 airlines and the remaining 35% was owned by us. Separately, SAPPL has signed new long-term agreements with the consortium of 11 airlines to
continue to utilize the GDS. In the third and fourth quarters of 2015, SAPPL completed the acquisition of the remaining interest in three national marketing
companies, Abacus Distribution Systems (Hong Kong), Abacus Travel Systems (Singapore) and Abacus Distribution Systems Sdn Bhd (Malaysia) (the “NMCs”
and, together with SAPPL, “Abacus”). SAPPL previously owned noncontrolling interests in the NMCs. The net cash consideration for Abacus was $443 million,
which includes the effect of the net working capital adjustments. The acquisition was funded with a combination of cash on hand and a $70 million draw on our
revolving credit facility, which has since been repaid.
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Purchase Price Allocation

A summary of the acquisition price and estimated fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the date of acquisition is as follows (in
thousands), which includes estimates for contingent liabilities of $25 million related to tax uncertainties:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,641
Accounts receivable, net 49,099
Other current assets 12,522

Intangible assets:  
Customer relationships 319,000
Reacquired rights(1) 113,500
Purchased technology 14,000
Supplier agreements 13,000
Trademarks and brand names 4,000

Property and equipment, net 6,402
Other assets 66,423
Current liabilities (123,307)
Noncurrent liabilities (44,245)
Noncurrent deferred income taxes (78,054)
Goodwill 292,267

 710,248
Fair value of Sabre Corporation's previously held equity investment in SAPPL (200,000)
Fair value of SAPPL's previously held equity investment in national marketing companies (1,880)

Total acquisition price $ 508,368

______________________
(1) In connection with the acquisition of Abacus, we reacquired certain contractual rights that provided Abacus the exclusive right, within the Asia-

Pacific region, to operate and profit from the Sabre GDS.

In connection with our acquisition of Abacus, we recognized a gain of $78 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as a result of the
remeasurement of our previously-held 35% equity interest in Abacus to its fair value as of the acquisition date. The fair value of the previously-held equity
interest of $202 million in Abacus was estimated by applying a market approach and an income approach. The fair value measurement of the previously-held
equity interest is based on significant inputs not observable in the market, and therefore represents Level 3 measurements (see Note 10. Fair Value
Measurements, for a description of the fair value hierarchy). The fair value estimate for the previously-held equity interest is based on (i) a discount rate
commensurate with the risks and inherent uncertainty in the business, (ii) an assumed long-term sustainable growth rate based on our most recent views of the
long-term outlook, and (iii) assumed financial multiples of reporting entities deemed to be similar to Abacus. In addition, we recognized a gain of $12 million for
year the ended December 31, 2015, associated with the settlement of a pre-existing agreement between us and SAPPL related to data processing services.
The $78 million remeasurement gain and the $12 million settlement gain are reflected in other, net in our consolidated statements of operations. In the first
quarter of 2017, we recognized a $16 million reversal of a liability resulting from renegotiation of an agreement with a travel agency in March 2017 that was
considered to be out of market in our purchasing accounting. The $16 million reversal is included as a reduction of cost of revenue in our consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017.

The goodwill recognized reflects expected synergies from combined operations and also the acquired assembled workforce of Abacus. The goodwill
recognized is assigned to our Travel Network business and is not deductible for tax purposes. The useful lives of the intangible assets acquired are 20 years
for customer relationships, 7 years for reacquired rights, 3 years for purchased technology, 7 years for supplier agreements and 2 years for trademarks and
brand names.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma results of operations information give effect to the acquisitions of Abacus as if it occurred on January 1, 2014. The
unaudited pro forma results of operations information include adjustments to: (i) eliminate historical revenue and cost of revenue between us, SAPPL and the
NMCs; (ii) remove historical amortization recognized by SAPPL associated with its upfront incentive consideration and software developed for internal use,
which are replaced by acquired intangible assets; and (iii) add amortization expense associated with acquired intangible assets.
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    The following unaudited pro forma results of operations information is presented in thousands:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2015

Revenue $ 3,109,310
Income from continuing operations 165,006
Net income attributable to common stockholders 475,933

The unaudited pro forma financial information is for informational purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what our financial performance
would have been had the acquisition been completed on the date assumed nor is such unaudited pro forma combined financial information necessarily
indicative of the results to be expected in any future period.

3. Discontinued Operations

Travelocity.com—On January 23, 2015, we sold Travelocity.com to Expedia Inc. ("Expedia"), pursuant to the terms of an Asset Purchase Agreement
(the “Travelocity Purchase Agreement”), dated January 23, 2015, by and among Sabre GLBL and Travelocity.com LP, and Expedia. The signing and closing of
the Travelocity Purchase Agreement occurred contemporaneously. Expedia purchased Travelocity.com pursuant to the Travelocity Purchase Agreement for
cash consideration of $280 million. The net assets of Travelocity.com disposed of primarily included a trade name with a carrying value of $55 million. We
recognized a gain on sale of $143 million, net of tax, in the first quarter of 2015.

lastminute.com—On March 1, 2015, we sold lastminute.com to Bravofly Rumbo Group. The transaction was completed through the transfer of net
liabilities as of the date of sale consisting primarily of a working capital deficit of $70 million, partially offset by assets sold including intangible assets of $27
million. We did not receive any cash proceeds or any other significant consideration in the transaction other than payments for specific services to be provided
to the acquirer under a transition services agreement which concluded on March 31, 2016. Additionally, at the time of sale, the acquirer entered into a long-
term agreement with us to continue to utilize our GDS for bookings, which generates incentive consideration paid by us to the acquirer. We recognized a gain
on sale of $24 million, net of tax, in the first quarter of 2015.

Financial Information of Discontinued Operations

The results of our discontinued operations are as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Revenue $ —  $ —  $ 24,815
Cost of revenue —  —  21,520
Selling, general and administrative(3) 4,456  11,619  (23,077)

Operating (loss) income (4,456)  (11,619)  26,372
Other income (expense):      

Gain on sale of businesses(1) —  305  294,276
Other, net 2,094  (1,025)  4,640

Total other income (expense), net 2,094  (720)  298,916
(Loss) income from discontinuing operations before income taxes (2,362)  (12,339)  325,288
(Benefit) provision for income taxes(2) (430)  (17,888)  10,880
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations $ (1,932)  $ 5,549  $ 314,408

______________________________________
(1) The year ended December 31, 2015 includes $31 million of reclassified cumulative translation gains associated with our lastminute.com subsidiaries. See “Divestiture of

lastminute.com—Cumulative Translation Adjustments” for additional information.
(2) The year ended December 31, 2016 includes a $17 million tax benefit associated with the resolution of uncertain tax positions. The year ended December 31, 2015 includes

a U.S. tax benefit of $93 million; see “Divestiture of lastminute.com—U.S. Tax Benefit” for additional information.
(3) For the year ended December 31, 2015, selling, general and administrative includes a gain of $40 million as a result of the favorable final ruling from the Supreme Court of

Hawaii and receipt of a cash refund related to our litigation of hotel occupancy taxes. See Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies, for additional information.

Our Travelocity business has no remaining operations subsequent to these dispositions. The financial results of our Travelocity business are included in
net income from discontinued operations in our consolidated statements of operations for all periods presented. For the year ended December 31, 2017,
discontinued operations for our Travelocity business primarily incurred expenses associated with legal contingencies related to hotel occupancy taxes. See
Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies, for additional information.
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Divestiture of lastminute.com

Cumulative Translation Adjustments

Cumulative translation adjustment (“CTA”) gains or losses of foreign subsidiaries related to divested businesses are reclassified into earnings once the
liquidation of the respective foreign subsidiaries is substantially complete. During the year ended December 31, 2015, we substantially completed the
liquidation of our lastminute.com subsidiaries and, therefore, reclassified $19 million, net of tax, of CTA gains from accumulated comprehensive income (loss)
to our results of discontinued operations.

U.S. Tax Benefit

We wrote off the remaining U.S. tax basis in goodwill and intangible assets during the fourth quarter of 2015, the period in which we completed the wind
down of lastminute.com activities. As a result, we recognized a U.S. tax benefit of $93 million in our results of discontinued operations.

4. Impairment and Related Charges

Capitalized implementation costs and deferred customer advances and discounts are reviewed for impairment if events and circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. See Note 1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies for more information. Given the
substantial amount of uncertainty of reaching an agreement regarding the implementation of services pursuant to the contract with an Airline Solutions'
customer, we evaluated the recoverability of net capitalized contract costs related to the customer and recorded a charge of $81 million during the year ended
December 31, 2017. This charge was estimated based on a review of all balances with the customer including capitalized implementation costs, deferred
customer advances and discounts, deferred revenue, contract liabilities, and other deferred charges. We will continue to monitor our position through the
insolvency proceedings; however, there is no further exposure to our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017. Given the uncertainty associated
with the ultimate resolution of this dispute, there could be further impacts to our consolidated statement of operations. This impairment charge was primarily
non-cash and was recorded to Impairment and related charges in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017. See Note
15. Commitments and Contingencies--Other for additional information.

5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows (in thousands):

 
Travel Network  Airline Solutions  Hospitality

Solutions  Total
Goodwill

Balance as of December 31, 2015 $ 2,099,580  $ 286,651  $ 54,200  $ 2,440,431
Acquired 4,894  3,606  102,384  110,884

Adjustments(1) 68  (254)  (2,682)  (2,868)
Balance as of December 31, 2016 2,104,542  290,003  153,902  2,548,447

Acquired 439  —  —  439

Adjustments(1) (159)  982  5,278  6,101
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 2,104,822  $ 290,985  $ 159,180  $ 2,554,987

________________________
(1) Includes net foreign currency effects during the year.  

The following table presents our intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

 December 31, 2017  December 31, 2016

 Gross
Carrying
Amount  Accumulated

Amortization  
Net

Carrying
Amount  

Gross
Carrying
Amount  Accumulated

Amortization  
Net

Carrying
Amount

Acquired customer relationships $ 1,038,106  $ (687,072)  $ 351,034  $ 1,034,483  $ (646,851)  $ 387,632
Trademarks and brand names 332,238  (126,312)  205,926  332,238  (114,430)  217,808
Reacquired rights 113,500  (40,695)  72,805  113,500  (24,481)  89,019
Purchased technology 427,823  (390,139)  37,684  427,823  (366,456)  61,367
Acquired contracts, supplier and distributor

agreements 37,600  (22,410)  15,190  37,600  (18,953)  18,647

Non-compete agreements 15,025  (14,459)  566  15,025  (14,061)  964
Total intangible assets $ 1,964,292  $ (1,281,087)  $ 683,205  $ 1,960,669  $ (1,185,232)  $ 775,437
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Amortization expense relating to intangible assets subject to amortization totaled $96 million, $143 million and $107 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Estimated amortization expense related to intangible assets subject to amortization for each of the five
succeeding years and beyond is as follows (in thousands):  

2018 $ 67,983
2019 63,866
2020 62,256
2021 60,743
2022 56,179
2023 and thereafter 372,178

Total $ 683,205

 

6. Balance Sheet Components

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Prepaid Expenses $ 69,650  $ 61,539
Value added tax receivable, net 35,556  26,244
Other 3,547  817

Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 108,753  $ 88,600

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consists of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,
 2017  2016

Buildings and leasehold improvements $ 151,843  $ 144,604
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 38,155  35,525
Computer equipment 323,818  288,982
Software developed for internal use 1,521,901  1,271,059
 2,035,717  1,740,170
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,236,523)  (986,891)

Property and equipment, net $ 799,194  $ 753,279

Other Assets, Net

Other assets, net consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Capitalized implementation costs, net $ 208,415  $ 249,317
Deferred customer discounts 92,373  212,065
Deferred upfront incentive consideration 151,693  125,289
Other 139,461  86,488

Other assets, net $ 591,942  $ 673,159
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Other Noncurrent Liabilities

Other noncurrent liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Tax receivable agreement $ 170,067  $ 288,146
Pension and other postretirement benefits 115,114  123,002
Deferred revenue 99,044  77,260
Other 95,960  78,951

Other noncurrent liabilities $ 480,185  $ 567,359

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of the following (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans $ (102,623)  $ (105,036)
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss) 11,488  (2,264)

Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts, interest rate swaps and available-for-sale
securities 2,651  (15,499)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax $ (88,484)  $ (122,799)

The amortization of actuarial losses and periodic service credits associated with our retirement-related benefit plans is included in selling, general and
administrative expenses. See Note 9. Derivatives, for information on the income statement line items affected as the result of reclassification adjustments
associated with derivatives.

7. Income Taxes

On December 22, 2017, the TCJA was signed into law. The TCJA contains significant changes to the U.S. corporate income tax system, including a
reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate from 35% to 21%, a limitation of the tax deduction for interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income
(as defined in the TCJA), base erosion provisions related to intercompany foreign payments and global low-taxed income, one-time taxation of offshore
earnings at reduced rates in connection with the transition of U.S. international taxation from a worldwide tax system to a territorial tax system, elimination of
U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions), and modifying or repealing many business deductions and credits.

As of December 31, 2017, we have not completed our accounting for the tax effects of the enactment of the TCJA due to complexities of the TCJA,
pending clarifications, and additional information needed to finalize certain calculations; however, we have made a reasonable estimate of the effects on our
existing deferred tax balances, the one-time transition tax and the effect of the TCJA on our liability related to the tax receivable agreement ("TRA"). We expect
to finalize the accounting for the effects of the TCJA no later than the fourth quarter of 2018, in accordance with Securities and Exchange Commission Staff
Accounting Bulletin No. 118. Future adjustments made to the provisional effects will be reported as a component of income tax expense from continuing
operations in the reporting period in which any such adjustments are determined.

Provisional amounts

Tax Receivable Agreement: The TRA provides for future payments to Pre-IPO Existing Shareholders (as defined below) for cash savings for U.S.
federal income tax realized as a result of the utilization of Pre-IPO Tax assets (as defined below). These cash savings would be realized at the enacted
statutory tax rate effective in the year of utilization. As a result of the reduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate, we recorded a provisional reduction to the
liability for future payments of $58 million, which is reflected in our income from continuing operations before taxes.

53



Foreign tax effects: The one-time transition tax is based on our total post-1986 Earnings and Profits ("E&P") of our foreign subsidiaries for which we
have previously deferred U.S. income taxation and have not accrued U.S. deferred taxes based on application of the indefinite reinvestment criteria. We
recorded a provisional amount for our one-time transition tax liability for the previously untaxed E&P of our foreign subsidiaries, resulting in an increase in
income tax expense of $48 million. The accounting for the transition tax is not complete because we have not yet completed our calculation of the E&P for
these foreign subsidiaries, nor have we concluded whether the November 2 or December 31 E&P measurement date should apply. Further, the transition tax is
based in part on the amount of those earnings held in cash and other specified assets at the applicable E&P measurement date. This amount may change
when we determine the appropriate E&P measurement date, finalize the calculation of E&P for which we have previously deferred U.S. federal taxation and
finalize the amounts held in cash or other specified assets. Additional withholding taxes were previously provided to the extent they would apply when foreign
earnings are distributed. No additional income taxes have been provided for any remaining outside basis difference inherent in these entities as these amounts
continue to be indefinitely reinvested in foreign operations. Determining the amount of unrecognized deferred tax liability related to any outside basis difference
in these entities (i.e., basis difference in excess of that subject to the one time transition tax) is not practicable.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities: We remeasured certain deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in
the future, which is generally 21%. We also adjusted the deferred tax asset for stock based compensation to account for changes to the anticipated future
deductibility of our executive compensation. However, we are still analyzing certain aspects of the TCJA and refining our calculations, which could potentially
affect the measurement of these balances or potentially give rise to new deferred tax amounts. The provisional amount recorded related to the remeasurement
of our deferred tax balance was not material to the overall income tax expense from continuing operations.

The components of pretax income from continuing operations, generally based on the jurisdiction of the legal entity, were as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,
 2017  2016  2015

Components of pre-tax income:      
Domestic $ 199,685  $ 206,182  $ 262,682
Foreign 177,928  121,853  91,225

 $ 377,613  $ 328,035  $ 353,907

The provision for income taxes relating to continuing operations consists of the following:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Current portion:      
Federal $ 50,829  $ 8,357  $ 1,730
State and Local 2,388  1,346  (6,249)
Non U.S. 26,060  28,488  26,646

Total current 79,277  38,191  22,127
Deferred portion:      

Federal 47,372  60,372  89,682
State and Local (6,178)  (4,352)  5,715
Non U.S. 7,566  (7,566)  1,828

Total deferred 48,760  48,454  97,225
Total provision for income taxes $ 128,037  $ 86,645  $ 119,352
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The provision for income taxes relating to continuing operations differs from amounts computed at the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Income tax provision at statutory federal income tax rate $ 132,165  $ 114,812  $ 123,867
State income taxes, net of federal benefit (1,727)  (1,964)  (1,263)
Impact of non U.S. taxing jurisdictions, net (13,492)  11,482  13,966
Non-taxable gain on remeasurement of previously-held investment in Abacus —  —  (27,279)
Impact of U.S. TCJA(1) 46,563  —  —
Employee stock based compensation (4,977)  (34,789)  —
Research tax credit (8,777)  (9,817)  (3,857)
Tax receivable agreement (TRA)(2) (20,861)  —  —
Valuation allowance —  8  3,010
Other, net (857)  6,913  10,908

Total provision for income taxes $ 128,037  $ 86,645  $ 119,352
(1) This amount includes $48 million of transition tax expense, and the remainder is the net benefit on cumulative deferred taxes.
(2) This amount includes a $20 million adjustment to the TRA, which is not taxable.

The components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 As of December 31,

 2017  2016

Deferred tax assets:    
Accrued expenses $ 13,716  $ 30,953
Employee benefits other than pension 22,829  43,197
Deferred revenue 51,151  75,727
Pension obligations 24,989  43,145
Tax loss carryforwards 156,327  312,073
Non-U.S. operations 14,565  (760)
Incentive consideration 5,381  12,586
Tax credit carryforwards 58,848  58,357
Suspended loss 14,478  23,702
Other 243  (562)

Total deferred tax assets 362,527  598,418
Deferred tax liabilities:    

Depreciation and amortization (21,317)  (42,238)
Software developed for internal use (180,108)  (286,653)
Intangible assets (134,484)  (173,838)
Unrealized gains and losses (29,669)  (5,050)
Investment in partnership (5,932)  (9,788)

Total deferred tax liabilities (371,510)  (517,567)
Valuation allowance (59,001)  (74,523)

Net deferred tax (liability) asset $ (67,984)  $ 6,328

In the first quarter of 2016, we adopted ASU 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. In recent years, we have incurred
significant excess tax benefits associated with settled equity-based awards that have not been recognized due to certain accounting policy elections we made
under the previous accounting standard, combined with the significant amount of our net operating loss carryforwards. As a result of the adoption of ASU 2016-
09, we recorded a cumulative effect adjustment as of January 1, 2016 to increase retained earnings by $92 million with a corresponding increase to deferred
tax assets in order to recognize excess tax benefits that can be used to reduce income taxes payable in the future. Effective January 1, 2016, excess tax
benefits or deficiencies are recognized in our results of operations and are included in cash flows from operating activities in our statement of cash flows. For
the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we recognized $5 million and $35 million, respectively, in excess tax benefits associated with employee equity-
based awards, as a result of the adoption of this standard. There were no other material impacts to our consolidated financial statements as a result of
adopting this updated standard.
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As a result of the enactment of the TCJA, we recorded a one-time transition tax on the undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries, and do not
consider these undistributed earnings to be indefinitely reinvested as of December 31, 2017. We consider the undistributed capital investments in our foreign
subsidiaries to be indefinitely reinvested as of December 31, 2017. No provision has been made for the United States federal and state income taxes on any
related outside basis differences. It is not practicable to estimate the unrecognized deferred tax liability for these outside basis differences.

As of December 31, 2017, we have U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs") of approximately $548 million, which will expire between
2022 and 2035. Additionally, we have research tax credit carryforwards of approximately $44 million, which will expire between 2019 and 2037 and $14 million
Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT”) credit carry forward that does not expire. The TCJA eliminates the AMT for corporate taxpayers in the case of taxable years
of a corporation beginning in January 1, 2018, 2019, 2020, and 2021, and provides for refunds of AMT credit carryforwards not otherwise used against federal
tax liability over these years. We reclassed $14 million of AMT credit carryforwards from deferred tax asset to tax receivable, based on our provisional estimate
of AMT refunds we expect to receive. As a result of an ownership change during 2007 and 2015 (as defined in Section 382 of the Code, which imposes an
annual limit on the ability of a corporation to use certain tax attributes), all of the U.S. tax NOLs and credit carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation on
their ability to be utilized. However, we expect that Section 382 will not limit our ability to fully realize the tax benefits. We have state NOLs of $12 million which
will expire between 2020 and 2036 and state research tax credit carryforwards of $13 million which will expire between 2023 and 2037. We have $282 million
of deferred tax assets for NOL carryforwards related to certain non U.S. taxing jurisdictions that are primarily from countries with indefinite carryforward periods.

We regularly review our deferred tax assets for realizability and a valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all
of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon future taxable income during the periods in which
those temporary differences become deductible. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance for our deferred tax assets, we considered all available
positive and negative evidence, including our ability to carry back net operating losses to prior periods, the reversal of deferred tax liabilities, tax planning
strategies and projected future taxable income. We maintained a state NOL valuation allowance of $4 million and $3 million as of December 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively. For non-U.S. deferred tax assets of our lastminute.com and other subsidiaries, we maintained a valuation allowance of $55 million and $72
million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We reassess these assumptions regularly which could cause an increase or decrease to the valuation
allowance. This assessment could result in an increase or decrease in the effective tax rate which could materially impact our results of operations.

It is our policy to recognize penalties and interest accrued related to income taxes as a component of the provision for income taxes. During the years
ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, we recognized expense of $1 million, $5 million and $3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016,
we had cumulative accrued interest and penalties of approximately $22 million.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits, excluding interest and penalties, is as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Balance at beginning of year $ 49,331  $ 68,746  $ 58,616
Additions for tax positions taken in the current year 5,279  538  8,252
Additions for tax positions of prior years 21,669  2,096  (786)
Additions for tax positions from acquisitions —  —  11,343
Reductions for tax positions of prior years —  (17,706)  (4,599)
Reductions for tax positions of expired statute of limitations (1,891)  (3,743)  (3,456)
Settlements —  (600)  (624)

Balance at end of year $ 74,388  $ 49,331  $ 68,746

We present unrecognized tax benefits as a reduction to deferred tax assets for net operating losses, similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward that is
available to settle additional income taxes that would result from the disallowance of a tax position, presuming disallowance at the reporting date. The amount
of unrecognized tax benefits that were offset against deferred tax assets was $53 million, $32 million and $46 million as of December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015
respectively.

As of December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015, the amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate was $70
million, $49 million and $69 million, respectively. We believe that it is reasonably possible that $4 million in unrecognized tax benefits may be resolved in the
next twelve months.

56



In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities throughout the world. The following table summarizes, by major
tax jurisdiction, our tax years that remain subject to examination by taxing authorities:

Tax Jurisdiction Years Subject to Examination
United Kingdom 2013 - forward
Singapore 2013 - forward
Texas 2013 - forward
Uruguay 2013 - forward
U.S. Federal 2007 - forward

We currently have ongoing audits in the United States (2011-2013), India (2003-2016) and Germany (2008-2012). We do not expect that the results of
these examinations will have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations. With a few exceptions, we are no longer subject to income tax
examinations by tax authorities for years prior to 2007.

Tax Receivable Agreement

Immediately prior to the closing of our initial public offering in April 2014, we entered into a TRA that provides the right to receive future payments by us
to stockholders and equity award holders that were our stockholders and equity award holders, respectively, immediately prior to the closing of our initial public
offering (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders”). The future payments will equal 85% of the amount of cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal income tax
that we and our subsidiaries realize as a result of the utilization of certain tax assets attributable to periods prior to our initial public offering, including federal
NOLs, capital losses and the ability to realize tax amortization of certain intangible assets (collectively, the “Pre-IPO Tax Assets”). Consequently, stockholders
who are not Pre-IPO Existing Stockholders will only be entitled to the economic benefit of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets to the extent of our continuing 15% interest in
those assets. These payment obligations are our obligations and not obligations of any of our subsidiaries. The actual utilization of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets, as
well as the timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the amount, character and timing of our and our
subsidiaries’ taxable income in the future.

Based on current tax laws and assuming that we and our subsidiaries earn sufficient taxable income to realize the full tax benefits subject to the TRA,
we estimate that aggregate payments under the TRA relating to the Pre-IPO Tax Assets total $328 million, excluding interest. This includes a provisional
reduction recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017 of $60 million in the TRA liability primarily resulting from the enactment of TCJA which reduced the U.S.
corporate income tax rate. The TRA payments accrue interest in accordance with the terms of the TRA. The estimate of future payments considers the impact
of Section 382 of the Code, which imposes an annual limit on the ability of a corporation that undergoes an ownership change to use its net operating loss
carryforwards to reduce its liability. We do not anticipate any material limitations on our ability to utilize NOLs under Section 382 of the Code. We expect a
majority of the future payments under the TRA to be made over the next three years. No payments occurred in years 2014 to 2016. We made payments of $60
million and $101 million, including accrued interest of approximately $1 million each year in January 2018 and 2017, respectively. The remaining portion of
$170 million is included in other noncurrent liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2017. Payments under the TRA are not conditioned
upon the parties’ continuing ownership of the company. Changes in the utility of the Pre-IPO Tax Assets will impact the amount of the liability recorded in
respect of the TRA. Changes in the utility of these Pre-IPO Tax Assets are recorded in income tax expense and any changes in the obligation under the TRA
are recorded in other expense.
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8. Debt

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, our outstanding debt included in our consolidated balance sheets totaled $3,456 million and $3,446 million,
respectively, net of debt issuance costs of $23 million and $27 million, respectively, and unamortized discounts of $9 million and $6 million, respectively. The
following table sets forth the face values of our outstanding debt as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

     December 31,

 Rate  Maturity  2017  2016

Senior secured credit facilities:        
Term Loan A L + 2.00%  July 2022  $ 555,750  $ —

Term Loan B L + 2.25%  February 2024  1,881,048  —

2016 Term Loan A(1) L + 2.50%  July 2021  —  585,000

2013 Term Loan B(2) L + 3.00%  February 2019  —  1,420,896

2013 Incremental term loan facility(2) L + 3.50%  February 2019  —  282,354

2013 Term Loan C(2) L + 3.00%  December 2017  —  49,313

Revolver, $400 million(3) L + 2.00%  July 2022  —  —

5.375% senior secured notes due 2023 5.375%  April 2023  530,000  530,000

5.25% senior secured notes due 2023 5.25%  November 2023  500,000  500,000

Mortgage facility(4) 5.80%  April 2017  —  79,741

Capital lease obligations   21,235  31,190

Face value of total debt outstanding   3,488,033  3,478,494

Less current portion of debt outstanding   (57,138)  (169,246)

Face value of long-term debt outstanding   $ 3,430,895  $ 3,309,248
______________________________

(1) Refinanced on August 23, 2017 by Term Loan A.
(2) Refinanced on February 22, 2017 by the 2017 Term Loan B.
(3) Pursuant to the August 23, 2017 refinancing, the interest rate on the Revolver was reduced from L+2.50% to L+2.25% and the maturity was extended from July 2021 to July 2022.
(4) Extinguished on March 31, 2017 using proceeds from the 2017 Term Loan B.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities

In February 2013, Sabre GLBL entered into the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. The agreement replaced (i) the existing term loans with new
classes of term loans of $1,775 million (the “2013 Term Loan B”) and $425 million (the “2013 Term Loan C”) and (ii) the existing revolving credit facility with a
new revolving credit facility of $352 million (the “2013 Revolver”). In September 2013, Sabre GLBL entered into an agreement to amend the Amended and
Restated Credit Agreement to add a new class of term loans in the amount of $350 million (the “2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility”).

In July 2016, Sabre GLBL entered into a series of amendments (the “Credit Agreement Amendments”) to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
to provide for an incremental term loan under a new class with an aggregate principal amount of $600 million (the “2016 Term Loan A”) and to replace the 2013
Revolver with a new revolving credit facility totaling $400 million (the “2016 Revolver”). The proceeds of $597 million, net of $3 million discount, from the 2016
Term Loan A were used to repay $350 million of outstanding principal on our 2013 Term Loan B and 2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility, on a pro rata basis,
repay the $120 million then-outstanding balance on the 2016 Revolver, and pay $11 million in associated financing fees. We recognized a $4 million loss on
extinguishment of debt in connection with these transactions during the year ended December 31, 2016.

On February 22, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Third Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the
“2017 Term Facility Amendment”). The new agreement replaced the 2013 Term Loan B, 2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility and 2013 Term Loan C with a
single class of term loan (the "2017 Term Loan B") with an aggregate principal amount of $1,900 million maturing on February 22, 2024. The proceeds of
$1,898 million, net of $2 million discount on the 2017 Term Loan B, were used to pay off approximately $1,761 million of all existing classes of outstanding term
loans (other than the 2016 Term Loan A), pay related accrued interest and pay $12 million in associated financing fees, which were recorded as debt
modification costs in Other, net in the consolidated statement of operations during the year ended December 31, 2017. The remaining proceeds of the 2017
Term Loan B were used to pay off approximately $80 million of Sabre’s outstanding mortgage on its corporate headquarters on March 31, 2017 and for other
general corporate purposes. Unamortized debt issuance costs and discount related to existing classes of outstanding term loans prior to the 2017 Term Facility
Amendment of $9 million and $3 million, respectively, will continue to be amortized over the remaining term of the Term Loan B along with the Term Loan B
discount of $2 million. See Note 9. Derivatives for information regarding the discontinuation of hedge accounting related to our existing interest rate swaps as a
result of the 2017 Term Facility Amendment.
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On August 23, 2017, Sabre GLBL entered into a Fourth Incremental Term Facility Amendment to our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, Term
Loan A Refinancing Amendment to the Credit Agreement, and Second Revolving Facility Refinancing Amendment to the Credit Agreement to refinance and
modify the terms of the 2017 Term Loan B, the 2016 Term Loan A, and the 2016 Revolver, resulting in a reduction of the applicable margins for each of these
instruments and approximately a one-year extension of the maturity of the 2016 Term Loan A and 2016 Revolver (the “2017 Refinancing”). We incurred no
additional indebtedness as a result of the 2017 Refinancing. The 2017 Refinancing included a $400 million revolving credit facility ("Revolver") that replaced
the 2016 Revolver, as well as the application of the proceeds of the approximately $1,891 million incremental Term Loan B facility (“Term Loan B”) and $570
million Term Loan A facility (“Term Loan A”) to replace the 2017 Term Loan B and the 2016 Term Loan A. The maturity of the Revolver and the Term Loan A
was extended from July 18, 2021 to July 1, 2022. The applicable margins for the Term Loan B were reduced to 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans
and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans. The applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver were reduced to (i) between 2.50% and 1.75% per
annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and (ii) between 1.50% and 0.75% per annum for base rate loans, in each case with the applicable margin for any quarter
reduced by 25 basis points (up to 75 basis points total) if the Senior Secured First-Lien Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Amended and Restated Credit
Agreement) is less than 3.75 to 1.0, 3.00 to 1.0, or 2.25 to 1.0, respectively. The applicable interest rate margins opened at 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency
rate loans and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans until November 2, 2017.

We had no balance outstanding under the Revolver as of December 31, 2017 or under the 2016 Revolver as of December 31, 2016. We had
outstanding letters of credit totaling $21 million and $35 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which reduced our overall credit capacity
under the Revolver and 2016 Revolver.

Principal Payments

Principal payments on the Term Loan A are due on a quarterly basis equal to 1.25% of its initial aggregate principal amount during the first two years of
its term and 2.50% of its initial aggregate principal amount during the next three years of its term. Term Loan B matures on February 22, 2024, and required
principal payments in equal quarterly installments of 0.25% through to the maturity date of which the remaining balance is due. For the year ended December
31, 2017, we made $48 million of scheduled principal payments.

We are also required to pay down the term loans by an amount equal to 50% of annual excess cash flow, as defined in our Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement. This percentage requirement may decrease or be eliminated if certain leverage ratios are achieved. Based on our results for the year ended
December 31, 2016, we were not required to make an excess cash flow payment in 2017, and no excess cash flow payment is required in 2018 with respect to
our results for the year ended December 31, 2017. We are further required to pay down the term loan with proceeds from certain asset sales or borrowings as
defined in the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement.

Interest

Borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement bear interest at a rate equal to either, at our option: (i) the Eurocurrency rate plus an
applicable margin for Eurocurrency borrowings as set forth below, or (ii) a base rate determined by the highest of (1) the prime rate of Bank of America, (2) the
federal funds effective rate plus 1/2% or (3) LIBOR plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin for base rate borrowings as set forth below. The Eurocurrency rate is
based on LIBOR for all U.S. dollar borrowings and has a floor. We have elected the one-month LIBOR as the floating interest rate on all of our outstanding term
loans. Interest payments are due on the last day of each month as a result of electing one-month LIBOR. Interest on a portion of the outstanding loan is
hedged with interest rate swaps (see Note 9. Derivatives).

 Eurocurrency borrowings  Base rate borrowings

 Applicable Margin(1)  Applicable Margin

Term Loan A 2.00%  1.00%
Term Loan B 2.25%  1.25%
Revolver, $400 million 2.00%  1.00%

______________________________

(1) Applicable margins do not reflect potential step ups and downs of Term Loan A and Revolver, $400 million, which are determined by the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. See below for additional
information.

(2) Term Loan A, Term Loan B, and Revolver, $400 million, are subject to a 0% floor.

Applicable margins for the Term Loan B are 2.25% per annum for Eurocurrency rate loans and 1.25% per annum for base rate loans over the life of the
loan and are not dependent on the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio. Applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver step up by 25 basis points for
any quarter if the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio is greater than or equal to 3.00 to 1.0. Applicable margins for the Term Loan A and the Revolver under the
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement step down 25 basis points for any quarter if the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio is less than 2.25 to 1.0. Applicable
margins increase to maintain a difference of not more than 50 basis points relative to future term loan extensions or refinancings prior to August 22, 2018. In
addition, we are required to pay a quarterly commitment fee of 0.250% per annum for unused Revolver commitments. The commitment fee may increase to
0.375% per annum if the Senior Secured Leverage Ratio is greater than or equal to 3.00 to 1.0.
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Our effective interest rates on borrowings under the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015,
inclusive of amounts charged to interest expense, are as follows:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Including the impact of interest rate swaps 4.35%  4.72%  4.48%
Excluding the impact of interest rate swaps 4.03%  4.55%  4.48%

Senior Secured Notes due 2023

In April 2015, we issued $530 million senior secured notes due in April 2023 with a stated interest rate of 5.375% and received proceeds of $522 million,
net of underwriting fees and commissions. We used the proceeds to redeem all of the $480 million principal of the senior secured notes due 2019, pay the
6.375% redemption premium of $31 million and a make whole premium of $2 million, resulting in an extinguishment loss of $33 million during the year ended
December 31, 2015. The remaining proceeds, combined with cash on hand, were used to pay accrued but unpaid interest of $19 million.

In November 2015, we issued $500 million senior secured notes due in 2023 with a stated interest rate of 5.25%. The net proceeds of $494 million, net
of underwriting fees and commissions, were used to repay $235 million of the $400 million 2016 Notes (as defined below), pay a $5 million make-whole
premium on the 2016 Notes and pay $5 million of accrued but unpaid interest. In addition, we used the net proceeds to repurchase 3,400,000 shares of our
common stock totaling $99 million. The excess net proceeds, together with cash on hand, were applied to fund the acquisition of the Trust Group, which was
completed in January 2016. As a result of the prepayment on the 2016 Notes, we recorded an extinguishment loss of $6 million, which includes $1 million of
unamortized discount and the make-whole premium during the year ended December 31, 2015.

The senior secured notes due 2023 were issued by Sabre GLBL and are guaranteed by Sabre Holdings and each of Sabre GLBL’s existing and
subsequently acquired or organized subsidiaries that are borrowers under or guarantors of our senior secured credit facilities. The senior secured notes due
2023 are secured by a first priority security interest in substantially all present and after acquired property and assets of Sabre GLBL and the guarantors of the
notes, which also constitutes collateral securing indebtedness under our senior secured facilities on a first priority basis.

Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2016

In March 2016, the remaining principal balance of $165 million of our senior unsecured notes matured. We repaid this remaining balance on the senior
unsecured notes with a draw on our 2016 Revolver and cash on hand.

Aggregate Maturities

As of December 31, 2017, aggregate maturities of our long-term debt were as follows (in thousands):

 Amount

Years Ending December 31,  
2018 $ 57,138
2019 68,495
2020 80,273
2021 75,905
2022 389,405
Thereafter 2,816,817

Total $ 3,488,033

9. Derivatives

Hedging Objectives-We are exposed to certain risks relating to ongoing business operations. The primary risks managed by using derivative
instruments are foreign currency exchange rate risk and interest rate risk. Forward contracts on various foreign currencies are entered into to manage the
foreign currency exchange rate risk on operational expenditures' exposure denominated in foreign currencies. Interest rate swaps are entered into to manage
interest rate risk associated with our floating-rate borrowings.

In accordance with authoritative guidance on accounting for derivatives and hedging, we designate foreign currency forward contracts as cash flow
hedges on operational exposure and certain interest rate swaps as cash flow hedges of floating-rate borrowings.
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Cash Flow Hedging Strategy-To protect against the reduction in value of forecasted foreign currency cash flows, we hedge portions of our revenues and
expenses denominated in foreign currencies with forward contracts. For example, when the dollar strengthens significantly against the foreign currencies, the
decline in present value of future foreign currency expense is offset by losses in the fair value of the forward contracts designated as hedges. Conversely, when
the dollar weakens, the increase in the present value of future foreign currency expense is offset by gains in the fair value of the forward contracts.

We enter into interest rate swap agreements to manage interest rate risk exposure. The interest rate swap agreements modify our exposure to interest
rate risk by converting floating-rate debt to a fixed rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interest rate changes on future interest expense and net earnings.
These agreements involve the receipt of floating rate amounts in exchange for fixed rate interest payments over the life of the agreements without an exchange
of the underlying principal amount.

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative instrument is
reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”) and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted
transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on the derivative instrument in
excess of the cumulative change in the present value of future cash flows of the hedged item, if any (ineffective portion), and hedge components excluded from
the assessment of effectiveness, are recognized in Other, net in the consolidated statements of operations during the current period. Derivatives not
designated as hedging instruments are carried at fair value with changes in fair value reflected in Other, net in the consolidated statement of operations.

Forward Contracts- In order to hedge our operational expenditures' exposure to foreign currency movements, we are a party to certain foreign
currency forward contracts that extend until December 2018. We have designated these instruments as cash flow hedges. No hedging ineffectiveness was
recorded in earnings relating to the forward contracts during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015. As of December 31, 2017, we estimate that
$6 million in gains will be reclassified from other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings over the next 12 months.

As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, we had the following unsettled purchased foreign currency forward contracts that were entered into to hedge our
operational exposure to foreign currency movements (in thousands, except for average contract rates):

December 31, 2017 Outstanding Notional Amount

Buy Currency  Sell Currency  Foreign Amount  USD Amount  Average Contract
Rate

Polish Zloty  US Dollar  225,000  61,016  0.2712

Singapore Dollar  US Dollar  70,750  52,065  0.7359

British Pound Sterling  US Dollar  25,900  34,307  1.3246

Indian Rupee  US Dollar  1,720,000  25,939  0.0151

Australian Dollar  US Dollar  20,750  15,932  0.7678

Swedish Krona  US Dollar  44,100  5,353  0.1214

Brazilian Real  US Dollar  16,800  4,976  0.2962

December 31, 2016 Outstanding Notional Amount

Buy Currency  Sell Currency  Foreign Amount  USD Amount  Average Contract
Rate

Polish Zloty  US Dollar  258,250  64,778  0.2508

Singapore Dollar  US Dollar  47,700  34,383  0.7208

British Pound Sterling  US Dollar  17,750  23,691  1.3347

Indian Rupee  US Dollar  1,174,500  16,786  0.0143

Australian Dollar  US Dollar  17,000  12,574  0.7396

Euro  US Dollar  1,800  2,031  1.1283
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Interest Rate Swap Contracts—Interest rate swaps outstanding at December 31, 2017 and matured during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016
and 2015 are as follows:

Notional Amount  Interest Rate
Received  Interest Rate Paid  Effective Date  Maturity Date

Designated as Hedging Instrument       
$750 million  1 month LIBOR(1)  1.48%  December 31, 2015  December 30, 2016

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(2)  1.15%  March 31, 2017  December 31, 2017

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(2)  1.65%  December 29, 2017  December 31, 2018

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(2)  2.08%  December 31, 2018  December 31, 2019

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(2)  1.86%  December 31, 2019  December 31, 2020

         
Not Designated as Hedging Instrument(1)       

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(3)  2.19%  December 30, 2016  December 29, 2017

$750 million  1.18%  1 month LIBOR  March 31, 2017  December 31, 2017

$750 million  1 month LIBOR(3)  2.61%  December 29, 2017  December 31, 2018

$750 million  1.67%  1 month LIBOR  December 29, 2017  December 31, 2018

(1) Subject to a 1% floor.
(2) Subject to a 0% floor.
(3) As of February 22, 2017.

As a result of the 2017 Term Facility Amendment in the first quarter of 2017, we discontinued hedge accounting for our existing swap agreements as
of February 22, 2017. Accumulated losses of $14 million in other comprehensive income as of the date hedge accounting was discontinued is amortized into
interest expense through the maturity date of the respective swap agreements, and interest rate swap payments made thereafter will be recorded in Other, net
in the consolidated statement of operations. Losses reclassified from other comprehensive income to interest expense related to the derivatives that no longer
qualified for hedge accounting were $7 million for the year ended December 31, 2017. We also entered into new interest rate swaps with offsetting terms that
are not designated as hedging instruments, which did not have a material impact to our consolidated results of operations. We had no undesignated derivatives
as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

In connection with the 2017 Term Facility Amendment, we entered into new forward starting interest rate swaps effective March 31, 2017 to hedge the
interest payments associated with $750 million of the floating-rate 2017 Term Loan B. The total notional amount outstanding is $750 million for the full years
2018 and 2019. In September 2017, we entered into new forward starting interest rate swaps to hedge the interest payments associated with $750 million of
the floating-rate Term Loan B. The total notional outstanding of $750 million becomes effective December 31, 2019 and extends through the full year 2020. We
have designated these swaps as cash flow hedges. The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the interest rate swaps is reported as a component of
other comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with the forecasted transaction and in the same period or
periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. 

The estimated fair values of our derivatives designated as hedging instruments as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 are as follows (in thousands):

  Derivative Assets (Liabilities)

    Fair Value as of December 31,
Derivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments  Consolidated Balance Sheet Location  2017  2016

Foreign exchange contracts  Prepaid expenses and other current assets  $ 6,213  $ —
Foreign exchange contracts  Other accrued liabilities  —  (7,360)
Interest rate swaps  Prepaid expenses and other current assets  856  —
Interest rate swaps  Other assets, net  3,093  —
Interest rate swaps  Other accrued liabilities  —  (8,345)
Interest rate swaps  Other noncurrent liabilities  —  (7,339)
Total    $ 10,162  $ (23,044)

  Derivative Assets (Liabilities)

    Fair Value as of December 31,
Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments  Consolidated Balance Sheet Location  2017  2016

Interest rate swaps  Other accrued liabilities  $ (7,119)  $ —

Total    $ (7,119)  $ —
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The effects of derivative instruments, net of taxes, on OCI for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

  Amount of (Loss) Gain
Recognized in OCI on Derivative, Effective Portion

  Year Ended December 31,
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships  2017  2016  2015

Foreign exchange contracts  $ 13,205  $ (6,413)  $ (5,505)

Interest rate swaps  2,583  (3,446)  (7,939)

Total  $ 15,788  $ (9,859)  $ (13,444)

    Amount of Loss (Gain) Reclassified from Accumulated
OCI into Income, Effective Portion

    Year Ended December 31,
Derivatives in Cash Flow Hedging Relationships  Income Statement Location  2017  2016  2015

Foreign exchange contracts  Cost of revenue  $ (3,001)  $ 1,991  $ 10,646
Interest rate swaps  Interest Expense, net  5,083  2,336  —
Total    $ 2,082  $ 4,327  $ 10,646

10. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. Guidance on fair value measurements and
disclosures establishes a valuation hierarchy for disclosure of inputs used in measuring fair value defined as follows:

Level 1—Inputs are unadjusted quoted prices that are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and quoted prices in non-active markets, inputs other than
quoted prices that are observable, and inputs that are not directly observable, but are corroborated by observable market data.

Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and are supported by little or no market activity and reflect the use of significant management judgment.

The classification of a financial asset or liability within the hierarchy is determined based on the least reliable level of input that is significant to the fair
value measurement. In determining fair value, we utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs to the extent possible. We also consider the counterparty and our own non-performance risk in our assessment of fair value.

Assets and Liabilities that are Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts—The fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts was estimated based upon pricing models that utilize
Level 2 inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data such as currency spot and forward rates.

Interest Rate Swaps—The fair value of our interest rate swaps are estimated using a combined income and market-based valuation methodology based
upon Level 2 inputs, including credit ratings and forward interest rate yield curves obtained from independent pricing services reflecting broker market quotes.

Pension Plan Assets—See Note 14. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans, for fair value information on our pension plan assets.
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The following tables present the fair value of our assets (liabilities) that are required to be measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

   Fair Value at Reporting Date Using

 December 31, 2017  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Derivatives:        
Foreign currency forward contracts $ 6,213  $ —  $ 6,213  $ —
Interest rate swap contracts (3,170)  —  (3,170)  —

Total $ 3,043  $ —  $ 3,043  $ —

   Fair Value at Reporting Date Using

 December 31, 2016  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

Derivatives:        
Foreign currency forward contracts (7,360)  —  (7,360)  —
Interest rate swap contracts (15,684)  —  (15,684)  —

Total $ (23,044)  $ —  $ (23,044)  $ —

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 within the fair value hierarchy for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Assets that are Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis

As described in Note 1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies, our impairment review of goodwill is performed annually, as of
October 1 of each year. In addition, goodwill, property and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment if events and circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable.

We perform our annual assessment of possible impairment of goodwill as of October 1 of each year. We begin with the qualitative assessment of
whether it is more likely than not that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value before applying the quantitative goodwill impairment model. If it
is determined through the evaluation of events or circumstances that a reporting unit’s fair value is more likely than not greater than its carrying value, the
remaining impairment steps are unnecessary. If it is determined that a reporting unit’s fair value is less than its carrying value, the fair values used in our
goodwill impairment analysis are estimated using a combined approach based upon discounted future cash flow projections and observed market multiples for
comparable businesses. The cash flow projections are based upon Level 3 inputs, including risk adjusted discount rates, future booking and transaction
volume levels, future price levels, rates of increase in operating expenses, cost of revenue and taxes. Additionally, in accordance with authoritative guidance on
fair value measurements, we make a number of assumptions, including market participants, the principal markets and highest and best use of the reporting
units.

Other Financial Instruments

The carrying value of our financial instruments including cash and cash equivalents, and accounts receivable approximates their fair values. The fair
values of our senior secured notes due 2023 and term loans under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement are determined based on quoted market
prices for a similar liability when traded as an asset in an active market, a Level 2 input. The outstanding principal balance of $80 million on our mortgage
facility was paid on March 31, 2017 and approximated its fair value as of December 31, 2016. The fair values of the mortgage facility were determined based
on estimates of current interest rates for similar debt, a Level 2 input.
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The following table presents the fair value and carrying value of all our notes and term loans under our Amended and Restated Credit Agreement as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

  Fair Value at December 31,  Carrying Value(4) at December 31,
Financial Instrument  2017  2016  2017  2016

Term Loan A  $ 559,223  $ —  $ 553,444  $ —

Term Loan B  $ 1,890,453  —  1,873,993  —

2016 Term Loan A(1)  —  583,538  —  582,595

2013 Term Loan B(2)  —  1,435,993  —  1,417,616

2013 Incremental Term Loan Facility(2)  —  283,413  —  282,354

2013 Term Loan C(2)  —  49,436  —  49,237

Revolver, $400 million(3)  —  —  —  —

5.375 % Senior Secured Notes Due 2023  546,563  542,919  530,000  530,000

5.25% Senior Secured Notes Due 2023  512,500  515,000  500,000  500,000
(1) Refinanced on August 23, 2017 by the Term Loan A.
(2) Refinanced on February 22, 2017 by the 2017 Term Loan B.
(3) Pursuant to the August 23, 2017 refinancing, the interest rate on the Revolver was reduced from L+2.50% to L+2.25% and the maturity was extended from July 2021 to July 2022.
(4) Excludes net unamortized debt issuance costs.

11. Stock and Stockholders’ Equity

Initial and Secondary Public Offerings

On April 23, 2014, we closed our initial public offering of our common stock in which we sold 39,200,000 shares, and on April 25, 2014, the underwriters
exercised in full their overallotment option which resulted in the sale of an additional 5,880,000 shares of our common stock. Our shares of common stock were
sold at an initial public offering price of $16.00 per share, which generated $672 million of net proceeds from the offering after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses.

We used the net proceeds from this offering to repay (i) $296 million aggregate principal amount of our term loans and (ii) $320 million aggregate
principal amount of our senior secured notes due in 2019 at a redemption price of 108.5% of the principal amount. We also used the net proceeds from our
offering to pay the $27 million redemption premium and $13 million in accrued but unpaid interest on the senior secured notes due in 2019. We used the
remaining portion of the net proceeds from our offering to pay a $21 million fee, in the aggregate, to TPG Global, LLC (“TPG”) and Silver Lake Management
Company (“Silver Lake”) pursuant to a management services agreement (the “MSA”), which was thereafter terminated.

During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, certain of our stockholders sold an aggregate of 20,000,000 and 103,970,000 shares,
respectively, of our common stock through secondary public offerings. In connection with one of these offerings, we repurchased 3,400,000 shares totaling $99
million from the underwriter of the offering during the year ended December 31, 2015. We did not receive any proceeds from the secondary public offerings.

We repurchased 5,779,769 shares, totaling $109 million, and 3,980,672 shares, totaling $100 million, of our common stock during the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

Common Stock Dividends

We paid a quarterly cash dividend on our common stock of $0.14 per share, totaling $155 million, $0.13 per share, totaling $144 million, and $0.09 per
share, totaling $99 million, during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Our board of directors has declared a cash dividend of $0.14 per share of our common stock, which will be paid on March 30, 2018 to stockholders of
record as of March 21, 2018.

12. Equity-Based Awards

As of December 31, 2017, our outstanding equity-based compensation plans and agreements include the Sovereign Holdings, Inc. Management Equity
Incentive Plan (“Sovereign MEIP”), the Sovereign Holdings, Inc. 2012 Management Equity Incentive Plan (“Sovereign 2012 MEIP”), the Sabre Corporation
2014 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2014 Omnibus Plan”), and the Sabre Corporation 2016 Omnibus Incentive Compensation Plan (the “2016
Omnibus Plan”). Our 2016 Omnibus Plan serves as successor to the 2014 Omnibus Plan, the Sovereign MEIP and Sovereign 2012 MEIP and provide for the
issuance of stock options, restricted shares, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), performance-based RSU awards (“PSUs”), cash incentive compensation and other
stock-based awards. Outstanding awards under the 2014 Omnibus Plan, the Sovereign MEIP and Sovereign 2012 MEIP continue to be subject to the terms
and conditions of their respective plan.
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We initially reserved 10,000,000 shares and 13,500,000 shares of our common stock for issuance under our 2016 and 2014 Omnibus Plans,
respectively.  In addition, we added 2,956,465 shares that were reserved but not issued under the Sovereign MEIP and Sovereign 2012 MEIP plans to the
2014 Omnibus Plan reserves, for a total of 16,456,465 authorized shares of common stock for issuance. Time-based options granted under the 2016 and 2014
Omnibus Plans generally vest over a four year period with 25% vesting at the end of year one and the remaining vest quarterly thereafter. RSUs generally vest
over a four year period with 25% vesting annually. PSUs generally vest over a four year period with 25% vesting annually dependent upon the achievement of
certain company-based performance measures. Each reporting period, we assess the probability of achieving the performance measure and, if there is an
adjustment, record the cumulative effect of the adjustment in the current reporting period. Options granted are exercisable for up to 10 years. Stock-based
compensation expense totaled $45 million, $49 million and $30 million for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Long-term cash incentive compensation is provided through the Long-Term Stretch Program (“LTSP”), which was initially adopted under the 2014
Omnibus Plan, for certain senior executives and key employees. The LTSP provides for cash incentive compensation if certain company-based performance
measures are achieved over the three-year period ending December 31, 2017. If these performance measures had been achieved, the cash incentive to be
received by the participants would have been determined in part by the average closing price of our common stock in January 2018. As of December 31, 2017,
the performance measures were not achieved and no amounts were payable under the LTSP.

The fair value of the stock options granted was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted-
average assumptions:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Exercise price $ 21.33  $ 27.12  $ 22.64
Average risk-free interest rate 2.10%  1.81%  1.75%
Expected life (in years) 6.11  6.11  6.11
Implied volatility 22.02%  23.44%  27.29%
Dividend yield 2.64%  1.92%  1.60%

The following table summarizes the stock option award activities under our outstanding equity based compensation plans and agreements for the year
ended December 31, 2017.

   Weighted-Average   

 

Quantity  Exercise Price  
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)  

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value

(in thousands) (1)

Outstanding at December 31, 2016 5,815,879  $ 17.18  7.3  $ 45,199
Granted 1,721,767  21.33     
Exercised (1,945,187)  12.44     
Cancelled (1,460,624)  22.64     

Outstanding at December 31, 2017 4,131,835  $ 19.50  7.6  $ 4,136

Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2017 1,995,650  $ 16.18  6.1  $ 8,616
______________________
(1) Aggregate intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying stock options awards and the closing price of our common stock of

$20.50 on December 31, 2017.

For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, the total intrinsic value of stock options exercised totaled $19 million, $97 million and $199
million, respectively.  The weighted-average fair values of options granted were $3.67, $5.45, and $5.50 during the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and
2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, $8 million in unrecognized compensation expense associated with stock options will be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2.6 years.

The following table summarizes the activities for our RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2017.  

 Quantity  
Weighted-Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested at December 31, 2016 3,846,331  $ 25.05
Granted 2,729,412  19.35
Vested (1,085,948)  23.50
Cancelled (780,010)  24.33

Unvested at December 31, 2017 4,709,785  $ 23.77
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The total fair value of RSUs vested, as of their respective vesting dates, was $23 million, $17 million, and $10 million during the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. As of December 31, 2017, approximately $82 million in unrecognized compensation expense associated
with RSUs will be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.6 years.

The following table summarizes the activities for our PSUs for the year ended December 31, 2017.  

 Quantity  
Weighted-Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Unvested at December 31, 2016 2,092,155  $ 21.94
Granted 1,230,357  21.99
Vested (646,208)  18.71
Cancelled (1,262,083)  22.39

Unvested at December 31, 2017 1,414,221  $ 23.06

The total fair value of PSUs vested, as of their respective vesting dates, was $14 million, $20 million and $11 million during the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The recognition of compensation expense associated with PSUs is contingent upon the achievement of
annual company-based performance measures. As of December 31, 2017, unrecognized compensation expense associated with PSUs totaled $10 million, $8
million and $5 million for the annual measurement periods ending December 31, 2018, 2019 and 2020, respectively.

13. Earnings Per Share

The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the computations of basic and diluted earnings per share from continuing
operations (in thousands, expect per share data):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Numerator:      
Income from continuing operations $ 249,576  $ 241,390  $ 234,555

Net income attributable to noncontrolling  interests 5,113  4,377  3,481

Net income from continuing operations available to common stockholders, basic and diluted $ 244,463  $ 237,013  $ 231,074

Denominator:      

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 276,893  277,546  273,139

Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock awards 1,427  5,206  6,928

Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 278,320  282,752  280,067

Basic earnings per share $ 0.88  $ 0.85  $ 0.85

Diluted earnings per share $ 0.88  $ 0.84  $ 0.83

Basic earnings per share are based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted earnings per share are
based on the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of all dilutive common stock equivalents during each period. The
calculation of diluted weighted-average shares excludes the impact of 5 million of anti-dilutive common stock equivalents for the year ended December 31,
2017 and 1 million for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015.

14. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans

We sponsor the Sabre Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (“401(k) Plan”), which is a tax qualified defined contribution plan that allows tax deferred savings by
eligible employees to provide funds for their retirement. We make a matching contribution equal to 100% of each pre-tax dollar contributed by the participant on
the first 6% of eligible compensation. We recognized expenses related to the 401(k) Plan of $25 million, $23 million and $20 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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We sponsor the Sabre Inc. Legacy Pension Plan (“LPP”), which is a tax qualified defined benefit pension plan for employees meeting certain eligibility
requirements. The LPP was amended to freeze pension benefit accruals as of December 31, 2005, and as a result, no additional pension benefits have been
accrued since that date. In April 2008, we amended the LPP to add a lump sum optional form of payment which participants may elect when their plan benefits
commence. The effect of the amendment was to decrease the projected benefit obligation by $34 million, which is being amortized over 23.5 years,
representing the weighted average of the lump sum benefit period and the life expectancy of all plan participants. We also sponsor postretirement benefit plans
for certain employees in Canada and Hong Kong.

The following tables provide a reconciliation of the changes in the LPP’s benefit obligations and fair value of assets during the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the unfunded status as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016

Change in benefit obligation:    
Benefit obligation at January 1 $ (444,662)  $ (420,516)

Service cost —  —
Interest cost (18,731)  (20,041)
Actuarial losses, net (26,169)  (28,350)
Benefits paid 30,123  24,245

Benefit obligation at December 31 $ (459,439)  $ (444,662)
Change in plan assets:    

Fair value of assets at January 1 $ 324,471  $ 326,586
Actual return on plan assets 46,425  22,130
Employer contributions 7,000  —
Benefits paid (30,123)  (24,245)

Fair value of assets at December 31 $ 347,773  $ 324,471

Unfunded status at December 31 $ (111,666)  $ (120,191)

The net benefit obligation of $112 million and $120 million as of December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, is included in other noncurrent liabilities in
our consolidated balance sheets.

The amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred taxes, associated with the LPP as of December 31, 2017
and 2016 are as follows (in thousands):

 December 31,

 2017  2016

Net actuarial loss $ (115,701)  $ (118,739)
Prior service credit 12,433  13,348

Accumulated other comprehensive loss $ (103,268)  $ (105,391)

The following table provides the components of net periodic benefit costs associated with the LPP and the principal assumptions used in the
measurement of the LPP benefit obligations and net benefit costs for the three years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Interest cost $ 18,731  $ 20,041  $ 19,097
Expected return on plan assets (20,934)  (20,803)  (21,117)
Amortization of prior service credit (1,432)  (1,432)  (1,432)
Amortization of actuarial loss 6,517  5,871  7,045

Net cost $ 2,882  $ 3,677  $ 3,593

Weighted-average discount rate used to measure benefit obligations 3.81%  4.36%  4.86%
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net benefit cost:      

Discount rate 4.36%  4.86%  4.36%
Expected return on plan assets 6.50%  6.50%  6.50%
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The following table provides the pre-tax amounts recognized in OCI, including the amortization of the actuarial loss and prior service credit, associated
with the LPP for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

Obligations Recognized in Year Ended December 31,

Other Comprehensive Income 2017  2016  2015

Net actuarial loss $ 679  $ 27,023  $ 6,472
Amortization of actuarial loss (6,517)  (5,871)  (7,045)
Amortization of prior service credit 1,432  1,432  1,432

Total (income) loss recognized in other comprehensive income $ (4,406)  $ 22,584  $ 859

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income $ (1,524)  $ 26,261  $ 4,452

For the LPP, we estimate that $6 million of actuarial loss, net of amortization of prior service credit, will be amortized from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into net periodic benefit cost in 2018.

Our overall investment strategy for the LPP is to provide and maintain sufficient assets to meet pension obligations both as an ongoing business, as well
as in the event of termination, at the lowest cost consistent with prudent investment management, actuarial circumstances and economic risk, while minimizing
the earnings impact. Diversification is provided by using an asset allocation primarily between equity and debt securities in proportions expected to provide
opportunities for reasonable long term returns with acceptable levels of investment risk. Fair values of the applicable assets are determined as follows:

Mutual Fund—The fair value of our mutual funds are estimated by using market quotes as of the last day of the period.

Common Collective Trusts—The fair value of our common collective trusts are estimated by using market quotes as of the last day of the period, quoted
prices for similar securities and quoted prices in non-active markets.

Real Estate—The fair value of our real estate funds are derived from the fair value of the underlying real estate assets held by the funds. These assets
are initially valued at cost and are reviewed periodically utilizing available market data to determine if the assets held should be adjusted.

The basis for the selected target asset allocation included consideration of the demographic profile of plan participants, expected future benefit
obligations and payments, projected funded status of the plan and other factors. The target allocations for LPP assets are 38% global equities, 58% long
duration fixed income and 4% real estate. It is recognized that the investment management of the LPP assets has a direct effect on the achievement of its goal.
As defined in Note 10. Fair Value Measurements, the following tables present the fair value of the LPP assets as of December 31, 2017, and 2016:

 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2017

 Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)  

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  Total

Common collective trusts:        
Fixed income securities $ —  $ 191,125  $ —  $ 191,125
Global equity securities —  134,378  —  134,378

Money market mutual fund 2,815  —  —  2,815
Real estate —  —  19,455  19,455

Total assets at fair value $ 2,815  $ 325,503  $ 19,455  $ 347,773

 Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2016

 Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Assets

(Level 1)  

Significant
Observable

Inputs
(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  Total

Common collective trusts:        
Fixed income securities $ —  $ 174,899  $ —  $ 174,899
Global equity securities —  127,321  —  127,321

Money market mutual fund 3,732  —  —  3,732
Real estate —  —  18,519  18,519

Total assets at fair value $ 3,732  $ 302,220  $ 18,519  $ 324,471
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The following table provides a rollforward of plan assets valued using significant unobservable inputs (level 3), in thousands:

 Real Estate

Ending balance at December 31, 2015 $ 17,308
Contributions 246
Net distributions (246)
Advisory fee (194)
Net investment income 813
Unrealized gain 593
Net realized loss (1)

Ending balance at December 31, 2016 18,519
Contributions 279
Net distributions (279)
Advisory fee (200)
Net investment income 820
Unrealized gain 253
Net realized gain 63

Ending balance at December 31, 2017 $ 19,455

We contributed $7 million to fund the LPP during the year ended December 31, 2017. No contributions were made during the years ended
December 31, 2016 and 2015. Annual contributions to our defined benefit pension plans in the United States, Canada and Hong Kong are based on several
factors that may vary from year to year. Our funding practice with respect to the LPP is to contribute the minimum required contribution as defined by law while
also maintaining an 80% funded status as defined by the Pension Protection Act of 2006. Thus, past contributions are not always indicative of future
contributions. Based on current assumptions, we expect to contribute $10 million to our defined benefit pension plans in 2018.

The expected long term rate of return on plan assets for each measurement date was selected after giving consideration to historical returns on plan
assets, assessments of expected long term inflation and market returns for each asset class and the target asset allocation strategy. We do not anticipate the
return of any plan assets to us in 2018.

We expect the LPP to make the following estimated future benefit payments (in thousands):

 Amount

2018 $ 33,559
2019 32,589
2020 31,963
2021 30,080
2022 31,151
2023-2027 155,024

15. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Commitments

We lease certain facilities under long term operating leases. Certain of our lease agreements contain renewal options, early termination options and/or
payment escalations based on fixed annual increases, local consumer price index changes or market rental reviews. We recognize rent expense with fixed rate
increases and/or fixed rent reductions on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. We lease approximately 1.5 million square feet of office space in 117
locations in 54 countries. For the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, we recognized rent expense of $32 million, $26 million and $28 million,
respectively. Future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows (in thousands):

 Amount

2018 $ 24,467
2019 20,872
2020 17,733
2021 14,189
2022 11,156
Thereafter 29,884

Total $ 118,301
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Legal Proceedings

While certain legal proceedings and related indemnification obligations to which we are a party specify the amounts claimed, these claims may not
represent reasonably possible losses. Given the inherent uncertainties of litigation, the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be predicted at this time, nor
can the amount of possible loss or range of loss, if any, be reasonably estimated, except in circumstances where an aggregate litigation accrual has been
recorded for probable and reasonably estimable loss contingencies. A determination of the amount of accrual required, if any, for these contingencies is made
after careful analysis of each matter. The required accrual may change in the future due to new information or developments in each matter or changes in
approach such as a change in settlement strategy in dealing with these matters.    

Antitrust Litigation and DOJ Investigation

US Airways Antitrust Litigation

In April 2011, US Airways filed suit against us in federal court in the Southern District of New York, alleging violations of the Sherman Act Section 1
(anticompetitive agreements) and Section 2 (monopolization). The complaint was filed fewer than two months after we entered into a new distribution
agreement with US Airways. In September 2011, the court dismissed all claims relating to Section 2. The claims that were not dismissed are claims brought
under Section 1 of the Sherman Act, relating to our contracts with US Airways, which US Airways claims contain anticompetitive provisions, and an alleged
conspiracy with the other GDSs, allegedly to maintain the industry structure and not to compete for content. We strongly deny all of the allegations made by US
Airways.

Sabre filed summary judgment motions in April 2014. In January 2015, the court issued an order granting Sabre's summary judgment motions in part,
eliminating a majority of US Airways' alleged damages and rejecting its request for injunctive relief by which US Airways sought to bar Sabre from enforcing
certain provisions in our contracts. In September 2015, the court also dismissed US Airways' claim for declaratory relief. In February 2017, US Airways sought
reconsideration of the court's opinion dismissing the claim for declaratory relief, which the court denied in March 2017.

The trial on the remaining claims commenced in October 2016. In December 2016, the jury issued a verdict in favor of US Airways with respect to its
claim under Section 1 of the Sherman Act regarding Sabre's contract with US Airways and awarded it$5 million in single damages. The jury rejected US
Airways' claim alleging a conspiracy with the other GDSs. We continue to believe that our business practices and contract terms are lawful. In January 2017,
we filed a motion seeking judgment as a matter of law in favor of Sabre on the one claim on which the jury found for US Airways, which the court denied in
March 2017.

Based on the jury’s verdict, in March 2017 the court entered final judgment in favor of US Airways in the amount of $15 million, which is three times the
jury’s award of $5 million as required by the Sherman Act.

In April 2017, we filed an appeal with the United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit seeking a reversal of the judgment. US Airways also filed
a counter-appeal challenging earlier court orders, including the above-referenced orders dismissing and/or issuing summary judgment as to portions of its
claims and damages. In connection with this appeal, we posted an appellate bond equal to the aggregate amount of the $15 million judgment entered plus
interest, which stayed the judgment pending the appeal.

As a result of the jury's verdict, US Airways is also entitled to receive reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs under the Sherman Act. As such, it filed a
motion seeking approximately $125 million in attorneys’ fees and costs, the amount of which we strongly dispute. In January 2018, the court denied US
Airways' motion seeking attorneys' fees and costs, based on the fact that the appeal of the underlying judgment remains pending, as discussed above. The
court's denial of the motion was without prejudice, and US Airways may refile the motion if it prevails on the appeal.

We have accrued a loss of $32 million, which represents the court's final judgment of $15 million, plus our estimate of $17 million for US Airways'
reasonable attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs. We are unable to estimate the exact amount of the loss associated with the verdict, but we estimate that there
is a range of outcomes between $32 million and $65 million, inclusive of the trebled damage award of approximately $15 million. No amount within the range is
considered a better estimate than any other amount within the range and therefore, the minimum within the range was recorded in selling, general and
administrative expense for the fourth quarter of 2016. As noted above, the amount of attorneys' fees and costs to be awarded is subject to conclusion of the
appellate process and, if US Airways ultimately prevails on the appeal, final decision by the trial court, which may itself be appealed. The ultimate resolution of
this matter may be greater or less than the amount recorded and, if greater, could adversely affect our results of operations. We have and will incur significant
fees, costs and expenses for as long as the lawsuit, including any appeal, is ongoing. In addition, litigation by its nature is highly uncertain and fraught with risk,
and it is therefore difficult to predict the outcome of any particular matter, including any appeal or changes to our business that may be required as a result of
the litigation. Depending on the outcome of the litigation, any of these consequences could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

71



Putative Class Action Lawsuit on Antitrust Claims

In July 2015, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against us and two other GDSs, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New
York. The plaintiffs, who are asserting claims on behalf of a putative class of consumers in various states, are generally alleging that the GDSs conspired to
negotiate for full content from the airlines, resulting in higher ticket prices for consumers, in violation of various federal and state laws. The plaintiffs sought an
unspecified amount of damages in connection with their state law claims, and they requested injunctive relief in connection with their federal claim. In July
2016, the court granted, in part, our motion to dismiss the lawsuit, finding that plaintiffs’ state law claims are preempted by federal law, thereby precluding their
claims for damages. The court declined to dismiss plaintiffs’ claim seeking an injunction under federal antitrust law. The plaintiffs may appeal the court’s
dismissal of their state law claims upon a final judgment. We believe that the losses associated with this case are neither probable nor estimable and therefore
have not accrued any losses as of December 31, 2017. We may incur significant fees, costs and expenses for as long as this litigation is ongoing. We intend to
vigorously defend against the remaining claims.

Putative Class Action Lawsuit on Cybersecurity Incident

In July 2017, a putative class action lawsuit was filed against us in the United States District Court for the Central District of California. The plaintiffs are
asserting various claims under state law, including tort, contract and statutory claims, on behalf of a putative class of individuals residing in the United States
and whose personally identifiable information allegedly was disclosed, in connection with the cybersecurity incident involving unauthorized access to payment
information contained in a subset of hotel reservations process through the HS Central Reservation System. The plaintiffs are seeking equitable relief and an
unspecified amount of damages in connection with their claims. In December 2017, we filed a motion to dismiss the lawsuit with prejudice. On January 25,
2018, the court granted our motion and dismissed the plaintiffs' claims in their entirety, with prejudice. The plaintiffs may appeal with court's decision, but must
file the appeal within 30 days of the ruling. We believe that the losses associated with this case are neither probable nor estimable and therefore have not
accrued any losses as of December 31, 2017. We may incur significant fees, costs and expenses for as long as this litigation is ongoing. We intend to
vigorously defend against this matter. See “—Other” below for more information.

Department of Justice Investigation

On May 19, 2011, we received a civil investigative demand (“CID”) from the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) investigating alleged anticompetitive
acts related to the airline distribution component of our business. We are fully cooperating with the DOJ investigation and are unable to make any prediction
regarding its outcome. The DOJ is also investigating other companies that own GDSs, and has sent CIDs to other companies in the travel industry. Based on
its findings in the investigation, the DOJ may (i) close the file, (ii) seek a consent decree to remedy issues it believes violate the antitrust laws, or (iii) file suit
against us for violating the antitrust laws, seeking injunctive relief. If injunctive relief were granted, depending on its scope, it could affect the manner in which
our airline distribution business is operated and potentially force changes to the existing airline distribution business model. Any of these consequences would
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have not received any communications from the DOJ
regarding this matter for several years; however, we have not been notified that this matter is closed.

Indian Income Tax Litigation

We are currently a defendant in income tax litigation brought by the Indian Director of Income Tax (“DIT”) in the Supreme Court of India. The dispute
arose in 1999 when the DIT asserted that we have a permanent establishment within the meaning of the Income Tax Treaty between the United States and the
Republic of India and accordingly issued tax assessments for assessment years ending March 1998 and March 1999, and later issued further tax assessments
for assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2006. The DIT has continued to issue further tax assessments on a similar basis for subsequent
years; however, the tax assessments for assessment years ending March 2007 and later are no longer material. We appealed the tax assessments for
assessment years ending March 1998 through March 2006 and the Indian Commissioner of Income Tax Appeals returned a mixed verdict. We filed further
appeals with the Income Tax Appellate Tribunal (“ITAT”). The ITAT ruled in our favor on June 19, 2009 and July 10, 2009, stating that no income would be
chargeable to tax for assessment years ending March 1998 and March 1999, and from March 2000 through March 2006. The DIT appealed those decisions to
the Delhi High Court, which found in our favor on July 19, 2010. The DIT has appealed the decision to the Supreme Court of India. The initial Supreme Court
hearing has now been scheduled. We have appealed the tax assessments for the assessment years ended March 2013 and March 2015 with the ITAT and no
trial date has been set for these subsequent years.
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In addition, SAPPL is currently a defendant in similar income tax litigation brought by the DIT. The dispute arose when the DIT asserted that SAPPL has
a permanent establishment within the meaning of the Income Tax Treaty between Singapore and India and accordingly issued tax assessments for
assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2005. SAPPL appealed the tax assessments, and the Indian Commissioner of Income Tax (Appeals)
returned a mixed verdict. SAPPL filed further appeals with the ITAT. The ITAT ruled in SAPPL’s favor, finding that no income would be chargeable to tax for
assessment years ending March 2000 through March 2005. The DIT appealed those decisions to the Delhi High Court. No hearing date has been set. The DIT
also assessed taxes on a similar basis for assessment years ending March 2006 through March 2014 and appeals for assessment years ending March 2006
through 2014 are pending before the ITAT.

If the DIT were to fully prevail on every claim against us, including SAPPL, we could be subject to taxes, interest and penalties of approximately $47
million as of December 31, 2017. We intend to continue to aggressively defend against each of the foregoing claims. Although we do not believe that the
outcome of the proceedings will result in a material impact on our business or financial condition, litigation is by its nature uncertain. We do not believe this
outcome is more likely than not and therefore have not made any provisions or recorded any liability for the potential resolution of any of these claims.

Indian Service Tax Litigation

SAPPL's Indian subsidiary is also subject to litigation by the India Director General (Service Tax) ("DGST"), which has assessed the subsidiary for
multiple years related to its alleged failure to pay service tax on marketing fees and reimbursements of expenses. Indian courts have returned verdicts
favorable to the Indian subsidiary. The DGST has appealed the verdict to the Indian Supreme Court. We do not believe that an adverse outcome is probable
and therefore have not made any provisions or recorded any liability for the potential resolution of any of these claims.

Litigation and Administrative Audit Proceedings Relating to Hotel Occupancy Taxes

On January 23, 2015, we sold Travelocity.com to Expedia. Pursuant to the Travelocity Purchase Agreement, we will continue to be liable for pre-closing
liabilities of Travelocity, including fees, charges, costs and settlements relating to litigation arising from hotels booked on the Travelocity platform prior to our
previous long-term strategic marketing agreement with Expedia (the “Expedia SMA”). Fees, charges, costs and settlements relating to litigation from hotels
booked on Travelocity.com subsequent to the Expedia SMA and prior to the date of the sale of Travelocity.com will be shared with Expedia in accordance with
the terms set forth in the Expedia SMA. We are jointly and severally liable for certain indemnification obligations under the Travelocity Purchase Agreement for
liabilities that may arise out of these litigation matters, which could adversely affect our cash flow.

Beginning in 2004, various state and local governments in the United States have filed more than 80 lawsuits against us and other OTAs pertaining
primarily to whether our discontinued Travelocity segment and other OTAs owe sales or occupancy taxes on the revenues they earned from facilitating hotel
reservations, where the customer paid us an amount at the time of booking that included (i) service fees, which we collected and retained, and (ii) the price of
the hotel room and amounts for occupancy or other local taxes, which we passed along to the hotel supplier. The complaints generally allege, among other
things, that the defendants failed to pay to the relevant taxing authority hotel occupancy taxes on the service fees. Several lawsuits also allege that the OTAs
owe state or local taxes on their fees for facilitating car rental reservations. Courts have dismissed many of these lawsuits, some for failure to exhaust
administrative remedies and some on the basis that we are not subject to sales or occupancy tax. The remaining lawsuits are in various stages of litigation. We
have also settled some cases individually, most for amounts not material to our results of operations, and with respect to these settlements, have generally
reserved our rights to challenge any effort by the applicable tax authority to impose occupancy taxes in the future.

Although we have prevailed in the majority of these lawsuits and proceedings, there have been several adverse judgments or decisions on the merits,
some of which are subject to appeal. As of December 31, 2017 and 2016, our reserve was not material for the potential resolution of issues identified related to
litigation involving hotel and car sales, occupancy or excise taxes. We did not record material charges associated with these cases during the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016. Because we do not have a material reserve for these matters, and we have not recorded any material charges during the years
ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, we did not consider these matters to be material as of December 31, 2017. Our estimated liability is based on our current
best estimate but the ultimate resolution of these issues may be greater or less than the amount recorded and, if greater, could adversely affect our results of
operations.

In addition to the actions by the tax authorities, two consumer class action lawsuits have been filed against us in which the plaintiffs allege that we made
misrepresentations concerning the description of the fees received in relation to facilitating hotel reservations. Generally, the consumer claims relate to whether
Travelocity provided adequate notice to consumers regarding the nature of our fees and the amount of taxes charged or collected. One of these lawsuits is
pending in Texas state court, where the court is currently considering the plaintiffs’ motion to certify a class action; and the other is pending in federal court, but
has been stayed pending the outcome of the Texas state court action. We believe the notice we provided was appropriate and therefore have not accrued any
losses related to these cases.
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Furthermore, a number of state and local governments have initiated inquiries, audits and other administrative proceedings that could result in an
assessment of sales or occupancy taxes on fees. If we do not prevail at the administrative level, those cases could lead to formal litigation proceedings.

Litigation Relating to Routine Proceedings

We are also engaged from time to time in other routine legal and tax proceedings incidental to our business. We do not believe that any of these routine
proceedings will have a material impact on the business or our financial condition.

Other

In November 2017, in connection with Air Berlin’s insolvency proceedings, we requested that Air Berlin make an election under the German Insolvency
Act on whether to perform or terminate its contract with us. In January 2018, Air Berlin notified us by letter that it was exercising its right under the German
Insolvency Act to terminate its contract with us. In addition, Air Berlin’s letter alleged various breaches by us of the contract and asserted that it had suffered a
significant amount of damages associated with its claims. Air Berlin has not commenced any formal action with respect to its claims. We believe that losses
associated with these claims are neither probable nor estimable and therefore have not accrued any losses as of December 31, 2017. We may incur significant
fees, costs and expenses for as long as this matter is ongoing. We intend to vigorously defend against these claims.

As previously disclosed, we became aware of an incident involving unauthorized access to payment information contained in a subset of hotel
reservations processed through the Sabre Hospitality Solutions SynXis Central Reservation system (the “HS Central Reservation System”). Our investigation
was supported by third party experts, including a leading cybersecurity firm. Our investigation determined that an unauthorized party: obtained access to
account credentials that permitted access to a subset of hotel reservations processed through the HS Central Reservation System; used the account
credentials to view a credit card summary page on the HS Central Reservation System and access payment card information (although we use encryption, this
credential had the right to see unencrypted card data); and first obtained access to payment card information and some other reservation information on
August 10, 2016. The last access to payment card information was on March 9, 2017. The unauthorized party was able to access information for certain hotel
reservations, including cardholder name; payment card number; card expiration date; and, for a subset of reservations, card security code. The unauthorized
party was also able, in some cases, to access certain information such as guest name(s), email, phone number, address, and other information if provided to
the HS Central Reservation System. Information such as Social Security, passport, or driver’s license number was not accessed. The investigation did not
uncover forensic evidence that the unauthorized party removed any information from the system, but it is a possibility. We took successful measures to ensure
this unauthorized access to the HS Central Reservation System was stopped and is no longer possible. There is no indication that any of our systems beyond
the HS Central Reservation System, such as Sabre’s Airline Solutions and Travel Network platforms, were affected or accessed by the unauthorized party. We
notified law enforcement and the payment card brands, who engaged a PCI forensic investigator to investigate this incident. We have notified customers and
other companies that use or interact with, directly or indirectly, the HS Central Reservation System about the incident. We are also cooperating with various
governmental authorities that are investigating this incident. See “—Putative Class Action Lawsuit on Cybersecurity Incident” above for a discussion of a
lawsuit filed in connection with this incident. Separately, in November 2017, Sabre Hospitality Solutions observed a pattern of activity that, after further
investigation, led it to believe that an unauthorized party improperly obtained access to certain hotel user credentials for purposes of accessing the HS Central
Reservation System. We deactivated the compromised accounts and notified law enforcement of this activity. We also notified the payment card brands, and at
their request, we have engaged a PCI forensic investigator to investigate this incident. We have not found any evidence of a breach of the network security of
the HS Central Reservation System, and we believe that the number of affected reservations represents only a fraction of 1% of the bookings in the HS Central
Reservation System. Although the costs related to these incidents, including any associated penalties assessed by any governmental authority or payment
card brand, as well as any other impacts or remediation related to this incident, may be material, it is not possible at this time to determine whether we will
incur, or to reasonably estimate the amount of, any liabilities in connection with them. We maintain insurance that covers certain aspects of cyber risks, and we
continue to work with our insurance carriers in these matters.

16. Segment Information

Our reportable segments are based upon our internal organizational structure; the manner in which our operations are managed; the criteria used by our
Chief Executive Officer, who is our Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), to evaluate segment performance; the availability of separate financial
information; and overall materiality considerations. Effective the first quarter of 2018, our business has three reportable segments: (i) Travel Network, (ii) Airline
Solutions and (iii) Hospitality Solutions. In conjunction with this change, we have modified the methodology we have historically used to allocate shared
corporate technology costs. Each segment now reflects a portion of our shared corporate costs that historically were not allocated to a business unit, based on
relative consumption of shared technology infrastructure costs and defined revenue metrics. These changes have no impact on our consolidated results of
operations, but result in a decrease of segment profitability only.

In April 2016, we completed the acquisition of Airpas Aviation, which is integrated and managed as part of our Airline Solutions segment. In January
2016, we completed the acquisition of the Trust Group, which is integrated and managed as part of our Hospitality Solutions segment. In July 2015, we
acquired Abacus, which is managed as the APAC region of our Travel Network segment.
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Our CODM utilizes Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income and Adjusted EBITDA as the measures of profitability to evaluate performance of
our segments and allocate resources. Corporate includes a technology organization that provides development and support activities to our segments. The
majority of costs associated with our technology organization are allocated to the segments primarily based on the segments' usage of resources. Benefit
expenses, facility costs and depreciation expense on the corporate headquarters building are allocated to the segments based on headcount. Unallocated
corporate costs include certain expenses such as accounting, human resources, legal, corporate systems, impairment and related charges, stock-based
compensation, restructuring charges, legal reserves, and other items not identifiable with one of our segments.

We account for significant intersegment transactions as if the transactions were with third parties, that is, at estimated current market prices. The
majority of the intersegment revenues and cost of revenues are fees charged by Travel Network to Airline Solutions for airline trips booked through our GDS.

Our CODM does not review total assets by segment as operating evaluations and resource allocation decisions are not made on the basis of total
assets by segment. Our CODM uses Adjusted Capital Expenditures in making product investment decisions and determining development resource
requirements.

The performance of our segments is evaluated primarily on Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income and Adjusted EBITDA which are not
recognized terms under GAAP. Our uses of Adjusted Gross Profit, Adjusted Operating Income and Adjusted EBITDA have limitations as analytical tools, and
should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.

We define Adjusted Gross Profit as operating income adjusted for selling, general and administrative expenses, impairment and related charges,
amortization of upfront incentive consideration, the cost of revenue portion of depreciation and amortization, restructuring and other costs, and stock-based
compensation included in cost of revenue.

We define Adjusted Operating Income as operating income adjusted for joint venture equity income, impairment and related charges, acquisition-related
amortization, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation (reimbursements) costs and stock-based compensation.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as income from continuing operations adjusted for depreciation and amortization of property and equipment, amortization
of capitalized implementation costs, acquisition-related amortization, amortization of upfront incentive consideration, impairment and related charges, interest
expense, net, other, net, restructuring and other costs, acquisition-related costs, litigation costs (reimbursements), net, stock-based compensation, loss on
extinguishment of debt and provision for income taxes.

We define Adjusted Capital Expenditures as additions to property and equipment and capitalized implementation costs during the periods presented.
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We define Adjusted Capital Expenditures as additions to property and equipment and capitalized implementation costs during the periods presented.
Segment information for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015 is as follows (in thousands) and has been updated to recast for the
disaggregation of our segments and the modification of our allocation of shared corporate costs described on this Form 8-K:

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Revenue      
Travel Network $ 2,550,470  $ 2,374,849  $ 2,102,792

Airline Solutions 816,008  794,637  712,908

Hospitality Solutions 258,352  224,669  159,178

Eliminations (26,346)  (20,768)  (13,982)

Total revenue $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896

Adjusted Gross Profit (a)      

Travel Network $ 1,071,249  $ 1,039,561  $ 950,344

Airline Solutions 366,255  354,922  338,201

Hospitality Solutions 88,477  72,497  52,936

Corporate (25,795)  (6,305)  (24,661)

Total $ 1,500,186  $ 1,460,675  $ 1,316,820

Adjusted Operating Income (b)      
Travel Network $ 746,625  $ 738,134  $ 693,887

Airline Solutions 137,932  136,177  134,660

Hospitality Solutions 9,670  16,807  6,236

Corporate (188,078)  (170,757)  (181,678)

Total $ 706,149 $ 720,361 $ 653,105

Adjusted EBITDA (c)      

Travel Network $ 923,615  $ 886,630  $ 818,913

Airline Solutions 296,437  286,362  275,410

Hospitality Solutions 42,784  39,964  23,452

Total segments 1,262,836  1,212,956  1,117,775

Corporate (184,265)  (166,310)  (176,188)

Total $ 1,078,571  $ 1,046,646  $ 941,587

Depreciation and amortization      

Travel Network $ 109,579  $ 92,772  $ 79,903

Airline Solutions 158,505  150,185  140,750

Hospitality Solutions 33,114  23,157  17,216

Total segments 301,198  266,114  237,869

Corporate 99,673  147,872  113,611

Total $ 400,871  $ 413,986  $ 351,480

Adjusted Capital Expenditures (d)      

Travel Network $ 90,881  $ 97,798  $ 73,469

Airline Solutions 169,053  206,009  192,483

Hospitality Solutions 52,103  46,358  33,777

Total segments 312,037  350,165  299,729

Corporate 65,165  60,887  50,350

Total $ 377,202  $ 411,052  $ 350,079
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(a) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted Gross Profit to operating income in our statement of operations (in thousands):  

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Adjusted Gross Profit $ 1,500,186  $ 1,460,675  $ 1,316,820
Less adjustments:      

Selling, general and administrative 510,075  626,153  557,077
Impairment and related charges(7) 81,112  —  —
Cost of revenue adjustments:      

Depreciation and amortization (1) 317,812  287,353  244,535

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration (2) 67,411  55,724  43,521

Restructuring and other costs (4) 12,604  12,660  —

Stock-based compensation 17,732  19,213  11,918
Operating income $ 493,440  $ 459,572  $ 459,769

(b) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted Operating Income to operating income in our statement of operations (in thousands): 

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Adjusted Operating income $ 706,149  $ 720,361  $ 653,105
Less adjustments:      

Joint venture equity income 2,580  2,780  14,842
 Impairment and related charges(7) 81,112  —  —

Acquisition-related amortization(1c) 95,860  143,425  108,121

Restructuring and other costs (4) 23,975  18,286  9,256

Acquisition-related costs(5) —  779  14,437

Litigation (reimbursements) costs(6) (35,507)  46,995  16,709

Stock-based compensation 44,689  48,524  29,971
Operating income $ 493,440  $ 459,572  $ 459,769

(c) The following table sets forth the reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to income from continuing operations in our statement of operations (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,078,571  $ 1,046,646  $ 941,587
Less adjustments:      

Impairment and related charges(7) 81,112  —  —

Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment(1a) 264,880  233,303  213,520

Amortization of capitalized implementation costs(1b) 40,131  37,258  31,441

Acquisition-related amortization(1c) 95,860  143,425  108,121

Amortization of upfront incentive consideration(2) 67,411  55,724  43,521

Interest expense, net 153,925  158,251  173,298

Loss on extinguishment of debt 1,012  3,683  38,783

Other, net(3) (36,530)  (27,617)  (91,377)

Restructuring and other costs(4) 23,975  18,286  9,256

Acquisition-related costs(5) —  779  14,437

Litigation (reimbursements) costs(6) (35,507)  46,995  16,709

Stock-based compensation 44,689  48,524  29,971

Provision for income taxes(8) 128,037  86,645  119,352
Income from continuing operations $ 249,576  $ 241,390  $ 234,555

________________________
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(1) Depreciation and amortization expenses (see Note 1. Summary of Business and Significant Accounting Policies for associated asset lives):  
a. Depreciation and amortization of property and equipment includes software developed for internal use.
b. Amortization of capitalized implementation costs represents amortization of upfront costs to implement new customer contracts under our SaaS and

hosted revenue model.
c. Acquisition-related amortization represents amortization of intangible assets from the take-private transaction in 2007 as well as intangibles associated

with acquisitions since that date. Also includes amortization of the excess basis in our underlying equity interest in SAPPL's net assets prior to our
acquisition of SAPPL on July 1, 2015. 

(2) Our Travel Network business at times makes upfront cash payments or other consideration to travel agency subscribers at the inception or modification of a service
contract, which are capitalized and amortized over an average expected life of the service contract, generally over three to five years. This consideration is made
with the objective of increasing the number of clients or to ensure or improve customer loyalty. These service contract terms are established such that the supplier
and other fees generated over the life of the contract will exceed the cost of the incentive consideration provided up front. These service contracts with travel
agency subscribers require that the customer commit to achieving certain economic objectives and generally have terms requiring repayment of the upfront
incentive consideration if those objectives are not met.  

(3) In 2017, Other, net includes a benefit of $60 million due to a reduction to our liability under the TRA primarily due to a provisional adjustment resulting from the
enactment of TCJA in December 2017 which reduced the U.S. corporate income tax rate (see Note 7. Income Taxes), offset by a loss of $15 million related to debt
modification costs associated with debt refinancing. In 2016, we recognized a gain of $15 million from the sale of our available-for-sale marketable securities, and a
$6 million gain associated with the receipt of an earn-out payment from the sale of a business in 2013. Additionally, in 2015, we recognized a gain of $78 million
associated with the remeasurement of our previously-held 35% investment in SAPPL to its fair value and a gain of $12 million related to the settlement of pre-
existing agreements between us and SAPPL.

(4) Restructuring and other costs represents charges associated with business restructuring and associated changes implemented which resulted in severance benefits
related to employee terminations, integration and facility opening or closing costs and other business reorganization costs. We recorded $25 million and $20 million
in charges associated with an announced action to reduce our workforce in 2017 and 2016, respectively. These reductions aligned our operations with business
needs and implemented an ongoing cost and organizational structure consistent with our expected growth needs and opportunities. In 2015, we recognized a
restructuring charge of $9 million associated with the integration of Abacus, and reduced that estimate by $4 million in 2016, as a result of the reevaluation of our
plan derived from a shift in timing and strategy of originally contemplated actions. As of December 31, 2017, our actions under this plan have been substantially
completed and payments under the plan have been made.

(5) Acquisition-related costs represent fees and expenses incurred associated with the acquisition of Abacus, the Trust Group and Airpas Aviation. See Note 2.
Acquisitions.

(6) Litigation (reimbursements) costs, net represent charges and legal fee reimbursements associated with antitrust litigation. In 2017, we recorded a $43 million
reimbursement, net of accrued legal and related expenses, from a settlement with our insurance carriers with respect to the American Airlines litigation. In 2016, we
recorded an accrual of $32 million representing the trebling of the jury award plus our estimate of attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs in the US Airways litigation.
See Note 15. Commitments and Contingencies.

(7) Impairment and related charges represents an $81 million impairment charge recorded in 2017 associated with net capitalized contract costs related to an Airline
Solutions' customer based on our analysis of the recoverability of such amounts. See Note 4. Impairment and Related Charges for additional information.

(8) In 2017, provision for income taxes includes a provisional impact of $47 million recognized in the fourth quarter of 2017 as a result of the enactment of the TCJA in
December 2017. See Note 7. Income Taxes.

(d) Adjusted Capital Expenditures by business segment were not adjusted for the allocation changes that were effective January 1, 2018. Adjusted Capital
Expenditures includes additions to property and equipment and capitalized implementation costs as summarized below (in thousands):  

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Additions to property and equipment $ 316,436  $ 327,647  $ 286,697
Capitalized implementation costs 60,766  83,405  63,382

Adjusted Capital Expenditures $ 377,202  $ 411,052  $ 350,079

A significant portion of our revenue is generated through transaction-based fees that we charge to our customers. For Travel Network, this fee is in the
form of a transaction fee for bookings on our GDS; for Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, this fee is a recurring usage-based fee for the use of our
SaaS and hosted systems, as well as implementation fees and professional service fees. Transaction-based revenue accounted for approximately 95%, 95%
and 92% of our Travel Network revenue for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Transaction-based revenue accounted for
approximately 74%, 70% and 68% for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, of our Airline Solutions revenue. Transaction-based
revenue accounted for approximately 83%, 79% and 73% for the years ended December 31, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively, of our Hospitality Solutions
revenue.

All joint venture equity income relates to Travel Network.  
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Our revenues and long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and intangible assets, by geographic region are summarized below. Revenue of our Travel
Network business is attributed to countries based on the location of the travel supplier. For Airline Solutions and Hospitality Solutions, revenue is attributed to
countries based on the location of the customer.

 Year Ended December 31,

 2017  2016  2015

Revenue:      
United States $ 1,340,893  $ 1,257,685  $ 1,182,056
Europe 777,406  699,168  581,762
APAC 715,740  657,465  497,518
All other 764,445  759,069  699,560

Total $ 3,598,484  $ 3,373,387  $ 2,960,896

 As of December 31,

 2017  2016

Long-lived assets    
United States $ 776,102  $ 726,021
APAC 11,468  13,330
Europe 3,939  5,922
All other 7,685  8,006

Total $ 799,194  $ 753,279

17. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

A summary of our quarterly financial results for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 is presented below (in thousands):

 Year Ended December 31, 2017

 First Quarter  Second Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter

Revenue $ 915,353  $ 900,663  $ 900,606  $ 881,862
Operating income 163,326  18,718  176,796  134,600
Income (loss) from continuing operations 77,722  (4,152)  92,825  83,181
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of tax (477)  (1,222)  (529)  296
Net income (loss) 77,245  (5,374)  92,296  83,477
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 75,939  (6,487)  90,989  82,090

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common stockholders:        
Basic 0.28  (0.02)  0.33  0.30
Diluted 0.27  (0.02)  0.33  0.30

 Year Ended December 31, 2016

 First Quarter  Second Quarter  Third Quarter  Fourth Quarter

Revenue $ 859,543  $ 845,242  $ 838,982  $ 829,620
Operating income 171,422  142,039  90,150  55,961
Income from continuing operations 134,343  106,468  49,464  31,020
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 13,350  (2,098)  (394)  (5,309)
Net income 106,269  73,097  41,862  25,711
Net income attributable to common stockholders 105,167  72,019  40,815  24,561
Net income per share attributable to common stockholders:        

Basic 0.38  0.26  0.15  0.09
Diluted 0.37  0.25  0.14  0.09

PART IV
SABRE CORPORATION

SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
DECEMBER 31, 2017, 2016 AND 2015

(In millions)
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Exhibit 99.1

 
Balance at
Beginning  

Charged to
Expense or

Other Accounts  Write-offs and
Other Adjustments  Balance at

End of Period

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts        
Year ended December 31, 2017 $ 37.1  $ 9.5  $ (3.6)  $ 43.0
Year ended December 31, 2016 $ 32.3  $ 10.6  $ (5.8)  $ 37.1
Year ended December 31, 2015 $ 27.5  $ 8.6  $ (3.8)  $ 32.3

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets        
Year ended December 31, 2017 $ 74.5  $ (8.8)  $ (6.7)  $ 59.0
Year ended December 31, 2016 $ 80.7  $ 1.1  $ (7.3)  $ 74.5
Year ended December 31, 2015 $ 160.0  $ (69.8)  $ (9.5)  $ 80.7

Reserve for Value-Added Tax Receivables        
Year ended December 31, 2017 $ 0.3  $ —  $ (0.3)  $ —
Year ended December 31, 2016 $ 1.8  $ (1.6)  $ 0.1  $ 0.3
Year ended December 31, 2015 $ 6.9  $ (3.1)  $ (2.0)  $ 1.8
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